



University of Kentucky

UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation

Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation

2019

IT'S NOT THE PROGRAMS; IT'S THE PEOPLE: BUILDING HUMAN LEVERS OF RETENTION IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES

Kyle Barron

University of Kentucky, kyleabarron@gmail.com Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/etd.2019.282

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Barron, Kyle, "IT'S NOT THE PROGRAMS; IT'S THE PEOPLE: BUILDING HUMAN LEVERS OF RETENTION IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES" (2019). *Theses and Dissertations--Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation*. 67.

https://uknowledge.uky.edu/epe_etds/67

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations–Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Kyle Barron, Student

Dr. Jane Jensen, Major Professor

Dr. Jane Jensen, Director of Graduate Studies

IT'S NOT THE PROGRAMS; IT'S THE PEOPLE: BUILDING HUMAN LEVERS OF RETENTION IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education in the College of Education at the University of Kentucky

By
Kyle A. Barron
Lexington, Kentucky
Director: Dr. Jane Jensen,
Associate Professor of Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation
Lexington, Kentucky
2019

Copyright © Kyle A. Barron 2019

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

IT'S NOT THE PROGRAMS; IT'S THE PEOPLE: BUILDING HUMAN LEVERS OF RETENTION IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES

Student attrition prior to the completion of a credential is an issue that has increasingly demanded the attention of stakeholders in higher education, particularly in the community college sector, in which less than half of all students complete a credential after six years. The costs of student attrition are high and widespread, ranging from the financial costs for institutions and federal and state governments to the personal and monetary costs paid by those students whose personal and professional goals are not achieved. With the ever-increasing focus on accountability for institutions of higher education and the growing movement toward performance-based funding, institutions are seeking to find ways to support all students on the path to completion of a credential. Building upon Braxton's theory of powerful institutional levers that serve to promote student completion, Rendon's validation theory, and Schlossberg's theory of marginality versus mattering, this two-part companion dissertation seeks to progress conversation beyond levers of retention as programmatic approaches to increasing student success. Through interviews with community college students serving as peer mentors in a student ambassador program and community college faculty identified by peers and supervisors as high performing in the area of student retention, the researchers seek to identify common characteristics, behaviors, backgrounds, conditions, and values possessed by effective human levers of retention. In doing so, the researchers hope to identify common characteristics among successful human levers of retention in the form of peer mentors and faculty members. This work is in part a collaborative piece that should be read with Kim Russell's At the Heart of Policies and Programs: Community College Faculty Member and Peer Mentors as Human Levers of Retention.

KEYWORDS: Retention, Levers of Retention, Mattering, Validation, Peer Mentoring, Community College Students, Attrition

March 29, 2019

Date

IT'S NOT THE PROGRAMS; IT'S THE PEOPLE: BUILDING HUMAN LEVERS OF RETENTION IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES

Dr. Jane Jensen

By
Kyle A. Barron

Director of Dissertation			
Dr. Jane Je	ensen		
	Director of Graduate Studies		
March 29,	2019		
D	ate		

Acknowledgements

I could not have done this work and so much more without two amazing women in my life, and now a third. First and foremost, to my wife who has supported me emotionally and even financially as she has learned to live within the means of a community college educator's salary, you are an amazing woman that inspires me to do more and be more on a daily basis. I would not have started this had you not been there from day one to support me. You are an amazing woman and both myself and our daughter are beyond blessed to have you.

For my daughter, I was hoping to have finished this whole process before you got here. However, you had a plan of your own and wanted to be one of the many "cohort babies" that got to call their mom or dad a doctoral student. I am so happy that I will get to hold you as I take a picture in my "fancy hat."

For my dissertation partner. Kimberly Russell. I would not have completed this amazing project without you. The marrying of our two ideas is one that I believe can have true impact both today and for many years to come. I look forward to what the future has in store for both of us and there is no one else I would have rather had in the trenches with me. In a strange way we both embody our research you with the faculty and me with the mentoring. And at the end of the day, much like our research, we make each other better. Thank you, friend, for being "my kind of weird!"

To my parents, your time and dedication to my success has allowed me to help so many throughout my career and many more to come. Early on you instilled in me a

dedication for school, work ethic, and helping others, thank you. I was incredibly fortunate to have such wonderful role models from day one.

Lastly, to my mentors, thank you for taking an interest in my success. There are too many of you to thank individually, but one stands out above the rest. As a community college freshman, I was able to find a great role model in Gerald Napoles. Gerald, thank you for your friendship and guidance. You have pathed a great path for me to follow.

Table of Contents

٩c	knowledgements	iii
Ch	apter 1 Introduction	1
Ch	apter 2 Attrition and Community College Students: Open Access for All, Success for Few	7
	ntroduction	7
	Factors Influencing Attrition among Commuter Students	11
(Commuter Student Persistence Models	13
•	The Community College Student Departure Puzzle: No Single Solution	16
	Mattering and Validation as a Framework for Understanding the Roles and the Value of Human Levers	18
	Faculty as Levers of Retention	20
	Peer Mentors as Human Levers of Retention	25
	Lessons from Faculty and Peer Mentors Identified as Potential Levers of Retention	28
	The Study	28
	Site and Participant Selection: Peer Mentors	30
	Data Collection and Analysis	33
	Role of Researchers	35
	Findings	39
	Professionalism	45
	Relationship Building	50
	Facilitating Connections to Resources	61
	mplications	66
	The Hiring Process	67
	In Faculty and Staff Development	70
	Further Research	73
	Chapter 3 It's Not the People, It's Their Practices: Student Practitioners Making an Impact of Indent Success	
	Literature Review	78
	Providing Access and Support for Community College Students	78
	Tinto and Braxton's Models of Commuter Student Retention	80
	Rendon's Validation Theory, Rosenberg's Mattering Theory, and Schlossberg's Transition Theory as Complements to Tinto's and Braxton's Models of Retention	
	The Role of Peers and Peer Mentoring in Community College Student Persistence	88
	Four Domains to Mentoring	90

Methodology	91
Site and Participant Selection	92
Data Collection and Analysis	97
Role of Researchers	98
Findings	101
Cultural Capital	102
Academic Capital	106
Conclusion	109
Chapter 4 Peer Mentoring in Kentucky Community and Technica Creating Successful Partnerships Between Students, Impacting Per	• .
Introduction	111
Background	111
Identifying the Target Population to be Mentored	113
Peer Mentoring Program Goals	114
Funding	117
Hiring	119
Training	122
Auxiliary Responsibilities	124
Measurement	125
Conclusion	127
Chapter 5 Conclusion	128
Reflections	129
Appendix I: Informed Consent Forms	130
RESEARCH SUBJECT INFORMED CONSENT FORM	130
Appendix II: Human Lever of Retention (Faculty) Study Participant	Identification133
Appendix III: Nomination Form for Faculty Participation	136
Appendix IV: Interview Guides	139
Interview Guide for Faculty	139
Interview #1 (Background Information)	139
Interview #2 (Community College and Working with Students))139
Interview Guide for Students	142
Interview #1 (Background Information)	142
Interview #2 (Community College and Mentoring Students)	142

References	145
Vita	167

•	• .	C			
	10f	α t	Ta	h	AC
	an.	w	ı a	U)	-

Table 3.1 Peer Mentor	Demographics.	9
-----------------------	---------------	---

Chapter 1 Introduction

As I examined my career trying to determine what singular topic has been so impactful to me that I would like to devote my life's research to the exploration and expansion of knowledge in the field, it was easy for me to settle in on the one thing that had altered my life and the lives of so many others that I had since come in contact with. For me mentoring was this significant and impacted my life and the lives of all the students that I had come into contact with over the years. I was very fortunate to have an amazing mentor befriend me my very first semester at a community college. While he was not a peer mentor, as he was an employee at the college, he was still working on furthering his education and only slightly ahead of me in his studies. I learned a great deal from my discussions with my mentor and he helped to shape my career. He helped me as I made the determination to go into working in community colleges, with the intent goal of earning a doctorate and possibly one day being a community college president.

Throughout my career I have focused on doing everything that I could to help as many students as I can on a daily basis. I recognize that for many, they are similar to me and they are the first in their immediate family to go to college. For these students there is likely no one in their immediate support network that they can call on for guidance and assistance as they seek to navigate the educational journey on their way to a brighter future for themselves and their families. While I certainly try my best to help all students at my college, it is physically impossible for me to help all of the students, there are simply too many of them and only one of me and I cannot be a good mentor if I take on too many at once. This realization drove me to look for alternative means to try and

encourage as many of the students as I can toward being successful, I would later learn that I was looking for what Braxton and Mundy (2001) termed successful "levers of retention", or the programs that institutions put into place to impact student retention and success. While their research had identified 47 levers, my heart was instinctively drawn toward that of peer mentoring. I believed at that time, through my own experiences in having a mentor for my early years of college, that mentoring was the best lever of retention that a college could implement in an effort to impact retention. However, what was unique about my own personal mentoring experience was that the mentor was close to my age and we shared similar life experiences, he was as close to a peer as one can get while still being an employee of the college. From that moment of realization on, my career has focused on implementing peer mentoring programs at colleges in some shape or fashion. The most successful of these implementations came from my time at Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College (SKYCTC) in Bowling Green, KY.

In my role as Director of Student Life and Engagement at SKYCTC, I was able to implement a peer mentoring model that was based on more than just my personal experiences, though they still played a large role, it was primarily built on research. I began to learn about Nora, Crisp, Jacoby, Collier, and more as I sought to understand the potential impact that peer mentoring could have on my college and on the many students that I was unable to personally mentor through their educational journey. It was at this time that I also began my doctoral studies and I focused my research efforts on peer mentoring from nearly the beginning. As a result, the program that was created at SKYCTC was the first in the state and also has been incredibly successful from a

quantitative perspective. Annually it brings in more money to the college than it costs and helps to serve all incoming students to the tune of approximately 1,500 each year. However, I already know the quantitative data behind the program merely from my day to day work role. Instead, what interested me to learn more about, and that I believed would be more impactful than the numbers, was the stories of the individuals who had been a mentor to someone else. What was their experiences and what could be learned from them for the field that might help future or current peer mentoring programs expand and grow to reach and help more students? I had finally found my lever of retention and realized that there was a lack of research as to who was pulling the lever, thus my study began to take shape.

In my research on levers of retention, the idea that the individual behind the lever had not adequately had their story told began to truly intrigue me. How could so much be written on the topic of peer mentoring and yet minimal be written about the individual doing the mentoring? For that matter, how could so much be written about so many of the levers of retention and there not be adequate research on the individuals 'pulling' the lever, or the 'human levers of retention'? I then began to wonder if what I learned about the peer mentor and the practices and attitudes that they take toward their role might be similar to another group of 'human levers' in faculty? Fortunately, my colleague Kim Russell was interested in researching more thoroughly the faculty perspective as a human lever of retention.

Three manuscripts comprise this dissertation. Chapter two is a collaborate piece created in partnership with my partner, Kimberly Russell, who completed a companion

study in which the subjects were community college faculty serving as levers of retention, we examine characteristics and behaviors shared by both peer mentor and faculty human levers. The goal of this manuscript is to provide practitioners with information that may assist them in the hiring process for peer mentors and/or faculty as well as information that could help to guide and structure orientations, employee development programs, and ongoing training for both peer mentors and faculty members. For example, one element that was common among both peer mentors and faculty levers was a knowledge of campus and community resources coupled with the desire to connect students with those resources that would assist them in their pursuit of a credential. With that in mind, this manuscript serves to encourage peer mentor trainers and faculty developers to structure activities and trainings that assist both groups in becoming aware of campus resources and familiar with how to connect students with such resources. This manuscript seeks to highlight the common elements shared by peer mentor and faculty levers, further supporting the suggestion that human levers of retention engage in similar activities based on common motivations and attitudes.

Chapter three is a research study exploring the shared practices and attitudes of Kentucky's first peer mentoring program at a community college. I identify seven shared practices and attitudes that fall into two basic areas. The first, that the peer mentors have an understanding of the value of higher education and the cultural capital it takes to see the big picture: good organization, professionalism, being goal driven. And, the second being that they have a lot of academic capital (knowing how to study, how to work the class/faculty/academic work environments, how to build relationships with others to help them and nurture them, how to capitalize on resources including finding the funding to

make it all work). This chapter tells the story of the peer mentors at SKYCTC and how they have approached their role as a lever of retention.

Chapter four serves as a whitepaper for Kentucky Community and Technical College System (KCTCS) to encourage the implementation of peer mentoring programs statewide at all 16 of the KCTCS colleges. In this chapter I go into the details of why peer mentoring is an impactful lever of retention, how to go about the hiring and training process taking into account the lessons learned from Chapter 3, how to measure and collect data to determine the success of the program and the financial benefits to the college for implementing such a program as we enter a new era of performance based funding in the State of Kentucky.

Chapter five serves as the conclusion of the dissertation and reflections that I have had through this process as well as anticipations for what I hope will come next. I believe that my work has the ability to allow me to truly help as many students as I can along their journey to a better life for themselves and their families through the utilization of a higher education. Peer mentoring has the ability to play a substantial role in their individual education and if the practices and attitudes of the peer mentors at SKYCTC are used as a training tool, the potential impact of future human levers of retention are significant for the state and for the individual entering KCTCS.

Lastly, this work is intended for the practitioner and as such will hopefully have useful information that can be put to practice at the community college level. It is my hope that this work, in some way, repays the countless hours of mentoring that I myself have received and does justice to the human levers of retention that participated in the

research. It is their role and impact that is so significant and worthy of being studied and documented. The impact that they have had on now over 6,000 students in the four years of the program is one that is truly remarkable and I hope I did it justice.

Chapter 2

Attrition and Community College Students: Open Access for All, Success for Few Kimberly Russell and Kyle Barron

Introduction

In 2009 President Barack Obama extolled the virtues of the American community college, known for their affordability, open admissions policies, responsive course scheduling, convenience of locations, and responsiveness to business and industry ("Building American skills through community colleges", 2009). Obama, who set two important national goals of once again leading the world in proportion of college graduates and graduating and additional five million community college graduates, contended that, in order to increase the economic strength of the nation, it is essential to educate American workers ("The American graduation initiative: stronger American skills through community colleges", 2009).

The largest segment of the nation's higher education system, enrolling around six million students annually, the community college has great potential to be a truly equitable institution that provides not only access to higher education for all but also equal opportunities for success. However, today's community college does not currently accomplish those goals (Beach, 2011). Less than half of the students who enroll at a community college will complete any kind of credential. Two-year associate degree-granting public colleges, which enroll around half of all undergraduates in the United States, suffer the most significant student attrition rate, with approximately half of all students nationally leaving college before the second year (Barefoot, 2004). The Center for Community College Student Engagement (CCCSE) (2010) stated, "The United

States, long ranked first worldwide [in proportion of college graduates] now ranks 10th in the percentage of young adults who hold a college degree" ("The heart of student success: Teaching, learning, and college completion"). Further, CCCSE indicated that only around one-fourth of the full-time community college students seeking associate's degrees complete a certificate or degree within three years, and less than half of community college students who seek a degree or certificate have earned one six years later. In 2018, the Community College Research Center (CCRC) cited data from the National Student Clearinghouse, which indicated that around 40% of those students enrolling for the first time in community college in 2012 had completed any kind of credential six years later, with completion rates being significantly lower for students attending part time, students from low socioeconomic backgrounds, and students from underrepresented minority populations. Indeed, as Baime and Baum (2016) observed, completion rates across the sector have remained stagnant for a number of years in spite of increased attention to the problem.

Baime and Baum (2016) reported that the National Student Clearinghouse found in 2011—2012 that community college students were significantly more likely to come from the lowest family-income bracket and were also more likely to be a first-generation college students. Both of these factors are correlated with an increased likelihood of attrition. In addition, a much higher percentage of community college students worked either full or part time when compared with students attending four-year institutions. Again, this characteristic makes community college students less likely to successfully complete coursework and earn a credential.

The impact of students leaving college before completing a credential is often negative for institutions and students alike. Institutions of higher education lose thousands of dollars in unrealized revenue for each student who leaves without completing a credential (DeBerard, Spielmans, and Julka, 2004). Loss of student tuition dollars, particularly for privately funded institutions can have a catastrophic effect on budgets, and state-funded institutions may also lose state funding if state legislatures tie funding to graduation rates (Barefoot, 2004). Departure rates affect enrollment stability, institutional budgets, and public perception of the quality of institutions (Braxton et al, 2004). Additionally, in today's age of performance-based funding, colleges must be prepared for the consequences of the trend toward performance-based funding, which "continues to hold great appeal to state policymakers who struggle with the tension between growing dissatisfaction with student completions rates on the one hand and limited state tax revenues on the other" (Palmer, 2014, p. 127). Finally, as community college students are more likely to default on their student loans (19.1% default rate for the community college sector compared to 7.6% for public four-year institutions) institutions could potentially face high penalties or even risk losing the ability to distribute federal financial aid (Baime and Baum, 2016).

Regarding students, Kuh et al. (2005) reported, "virtually all forecasters agree that to be economically self-sufficient in the information-driven world economy, some form of postsecondary education is essential, with a baccalaureate degree being much preferable" (p. xiii). For many individuals, particularly those from traditionally underserved populations, community college represents their best if not their only hope for achieving that essential economic self-sufficiency.

Student persistence should also be a public concern because college educated citizens are more likely to contribute to societal good and less likely to engage in "harmful behaviors" (Barnett, 2011, p. 193). Further, CCCSE (2010) argued that college completion has both financial and democratic benefits, stating, "The higher a person's educational attainment, the more likely he or she is to be gainfully employed, pay taxes, and be capable of taking care of the health and educational needs of his or her children. Conversely, higher levels of education make it less likely for individuals to be publicly dependent" ("The heart of student success: Teaching, learning, and college completion").

Further, as success rates vary greatly across demographic groups, today's students who complete a credential, particularly a baccalaureate degree, are more likely to have their children successfully complete a credential in future (Baime and Baum, 2016).

Braxton et al. (2004) encouraged readers to think beyond the financial consequences of student attrition and consider the moral obligation that institutions have to their students. Often those who drop out of college decide never to return, forever constraining their opportunities in life. Considering student retention an issue of developing human potential, Braxton et al. (2004) lamented, "Individuals who do not continue may lead vastly different lives from those they would lead if they had completed their course of study" (p. xi).

Postsecondary administrators must be "cognizant of the reasons why students depart from institutions of higher learning prematurely and what can be done to help students overcome these barriers so they can achieve their academic and career goals"

(Roberts and Styron, 2010, p. 2). Upcraft, Gardner, and Barefoot (2005) suggested, "When a proper balance is maintained between challenge and support, students are positioned to succeed in college" (p. 11). In order to find the balance, the authors urged that institutions of higher education are responsible for creating learning environments that will support these two goals. Baime and Baum (2016) encourage policy makers to develop policies that will "incorporate an understanding of who the students enrolling in community colleges are and under what circumstances they are most likely to succeed, in addition to the investment of the resources required to diminish the financial and nonfinancial barriers facing many students in this sector" (p. 21).

Persistence of community college students toward the completion of a credential is a subject that has received a great deal of attention from researchers in the past several decades due to the economic, social, political, and personal impacts of college student attrition. The ever-growing emphasis on institutional accountability and the trend toward linking student outcomes to institutional funding has led to an even greater interest in working out what Braxton (2000) called "the student departure puzzle." According to Fike and Fike (2016), "Understanding why student choose to leave or choose to stay is essential to those wanting to make a difference in students' lives" (p. 68).

Factors Influencing Attrition among Commuter Students

The community college, for many traditionally underrepresented populations, represents one of the only opportunities for people to have a chance at a better life for themselves and their families. The ease of access combined with low tuition rates have contributed to the fact that "the typical community college student possesses different

characteristics than the traditional university student" (Fike and Fike, 2016, p. 69).

Community college students often bring with them unique challenges that can potentially impact their ability to persist toward degree completion. Community colleges serve significantly overrepresented populations of students at risk of attrition, such as "minority students, first-generation students, students with lower levels of academic achievement in high school, and students from low-income families" (Bailey and Alfonso, 2005, p. 5) and students who attend part-time, work long hours at off-campus jobs, and have dependent children. Goldrick-Rab (2007) suggested that consistently low community college persistence and completion rates could be attributed to "the complex ways in which social and educational inequalities affect specific students and the institutions of higher education designed to serve them." McClenney (2013) expressed that today's community college students are a "wildly diverse" (p. 26) group, making it difficult to create, deliver, and sustain initiatives that will serve the population well and encourage more widespread success across the sector.

The traditional characteristics that influence college completion for community college students are not necessarily the same as those students enrolled in residential colleges and universities; though the majority of research related to college student retention does not specifically address the issues faced by commuter students in open access institutions. Commuter students—often enrolled only part-time—typically have multiple life roles that often take priority over their role as a college student and face challenges that often do not exist for traditional students at residential institutions.

Commuting is negatively related to completion of a degree, and institutions must seek to understand the unique needs of these students to implement strategies that will reduce

attrition (Jacoby and Garland, 2004). As Hess (2018) explained, community college students, the vast majority of whom are commuters, are much more likely than their counterparts to face housing and food insecurity, further complicating students' ability to successfully complete academic tasks. In addition, community college students are much more likely to work (both part-time and full-time) or enroll in coursework on a part-time basis, with both serve as risk factors for attrition (Baime and Baum, 2016).

Yet often institutions and researchers continue to "believe the myth of what works for traditional on-campus residential students works equally well for commuter students if they would just be a little more serious about their education" (Jacoby and Garland, 2004, p. 63). The authors categorized the core needs and challenges of commuter students: transportation, a variety of life roles, limited support networks off campus, and a sense of belonging on campus. Referring to adult commuter students (those over 25 years of age), Schlossberg et al. (1991) noted that these students make a great deal of both emotional and financial sacrifices to attend college and "struggle with situational, personal, and institutional barriers at considerable self-sacrifice" (p. 220).

Commuter Student Persistence Models

In Braxton et al.'s (2014) revision of Tinto's model, particularly as it relates to commuter students, the authors noted that empirical evidence from a study of commuter students does not necessarily support all parts of Tinto's model. According to Braxton (2014), Tinto's theory of student persistence "puts emphasis on the student's interpretation of their interactions with the academic and social communities of a given college or university" (p. 73). Tinto suggested that "students enter a college or university"

with varying patterns of personal, family, and academic characteristics and skills, including personal dispositions and intentions with respect to college attendance and personal goals" (Pascarella and Terenzini, 1991, p. 51). Then, according to Pascarella and Terenzini, interactions between the individual and the institution help to shape the students' intentions and commitments toward the institution longitudinally.

The authors explain that Tinto's theory suggests "Satisfying and rewarding encounters with the formal and informal academic and social systems of the institution are presumed to lead to greater integration in those systems and thus to student retention" (p. 51). Braxton et al. (2014) explained that Tinto "postulates that academic and social integration influence a student's subsequent commitments to the institution and to the goal of graduation" (p. 74). Braxton and his colleagues, however, question the validity of the Tinto framework to explain the student departure process, particularly as it relates to commuter students. According to Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon (2004), Tinto's interactionalist theory does not adequately address the unique characteristics of commuter institutions, which the authors state "lack well-defined and –structured social communities for students to establish membership" (p. 35) and are attended by students who "typically experience conflicts among their obligations to family, work, and college" (p. 35).

Tinto (1997) later acknowledged that students who commute to college, particularly those who have numerous external obligations, do not have the opportunities for social integration that students in residential colleges are given. In their discussion of the campus environment, Braxton et al. (2014) observed that commuter students typically spend their time on campus hurrying to attend classes and engage in activities necessary

to meeting degree requirements, and the authors observed that students typically then leave campus in a hurry to meet personal or work obligations off campus, limiting the kinds of social involvement for students at these institutions. According to Braxton et al. (2014), "These forms of comings and goings create a 'buzzing confusion'" (p. 113) that students must learn to adjust to if they are to make progress toward completion. The buzzing confusion contributes to commuter students' need "to believe that attending college will result in academic success and graduation" (p. 114). Further, the authors asserted that "the lack of well-defined and ill-structure student social communities poses difficulties to students with a need for social affiliation" (p. 115).

Understanding the factors that influence both attrition and persistence among community college students can help policymakers to better serve those students.

Goldrick-Rab (2007) concluded her literature review of studies related to commuter study persistence that students' "family backgrounds, prior education experiences, and educational expectations" [often fail] to "intersect with colleges' institutional structures, practices, and policies" (p. 1). Attrition can be related to factors such as poor academic progress or financial problems, but research has also suggested that attrition can also stem from "a poor academic self-concept, a lack of motivation, and minimal social integration and adjustment" (Hoffman, 2014, p. 13). Students have also shown that students are more committed to an institution that appears to be true to its goals and mission and displays concern for the students' welfare (Braxton et al, 2014; Kuh et al., 2005).

Policymakers, college administrators, faculty developers, student affairs personnel, and a variety of other stakeholders can better serve commuter students when they are informed by empirical studies that are focused upon those who work regularly

with commuter students in community colleges. By first understanding the challenges traditionally faced by the community college commuter student and the becoming informed about successful approaches to meeting the unique needs of community college students, stakeholders have a much stronger chance to have a positive impact on student persistence toward a credential.

The Community College Student Departure Puzzle: No Single Solution

"College student departure poses a puzzle to college and university administrators" (Braxton and Mundy, 2001, p. 91), a complex and ill-structured puzzle that requires numerous solutions that complement one another and meet a variety of student needs rather than a single solution that strives to meet every need of every student. Various theoretical perspectives can help scholars to understand the problem of student attrition, perspectives that consider the impact of a variety of forces at work in students' educational experiences. In Pascarella and Terenzini's (1991) synthesis of a body of research related to college outcomes, the authors concluded that a singular, institution-wide solution is considerably less effective than a combination of endeavors across many influential, diverse sub-environments in impacting student persistence.

Braxton and Mundy (2001) classified 47 different recommendations provided by several articles included in a special issue of the *Journal of College Student Retention*.

Categorizing the recommendations into three specific areas based upon Tinto's (1993) highly influential book *Leaving College: Rethinking the Causes and Cures of Student Attrition* (2nd ed.), Braxton and Mundy echoed Tinto's finding that "principles of effective retention must also guide institutional practices designed to reduce student rates

of departure" (p. 94). The authors found that 44 of the 47 recommendations embraced at least one of Tinto's three principles, and Braxton and Mundy argued that such recommendations "hold substantial promise for reducing institutional rates of student departure" (p. 103) based upon the fact that each of the recommendations has empirical support, and all but three of the recommendations can be classified as embodying one or more of Tinto's three principles.

According to Tinto (1993), the first principle of effective retention is a consistent and ongoing institutional commitment to student welfare that is demonstrated by the entire college community. In other words, students in this environment clearly understand that the institution is student-centered. The second principal of effective retention is a clear commitment on the part of the institution to the quality education of all students. Finally, social and academic integration into the campus community is the third principle of effective retention. According to this principle, institutions strive to help students to build strong bonds between themselves, their peers, the faculty, and the staff of the institution.

At the heart of these institutional levers described and categorized by Braxton and Mundy (2001), though, is the importance of the people within institutions. Without people willing to help these levers to function effectively, the policies and programs outlined by Braxton and Mundy cannot serve as powerful levers that positively influence student persistence. Two groups that have a substantial influence on retention of students are faculty and peers, making it imperative that studies be conducted that seek to understand more deeply the individuals who serve in these roles.

Mattering and Validation as a Framework for Understanding the Roles and the Value of Human Levers

Two theories that provide at theoretical framework for understanding student departure and Rendon's (1994) Validation Theory and Schlossberg's (1989) mattering theory. Both theories serve to explain the way in which both faculty-student interactions and student-student interactions help students to successfully make the transition to college and persist toward the completion of a credential. Though both theories are most often connected with faculty-student interactions, the theories can also be applied to the understanding of the role of interactions between students and their peers.

Rendon (1994) discussed both in and out of class interactions that can help to validate students and contribute to supporting academic and social integration into the institution. Validation occurs when someone actively reaches out to support students in their academic endeavors and affirms their ability to be successful, powerful learners. Rendon's (1994) theory of validation provides insight into the importance of student-faculty interactions. For example, today's diverse student body is more likely to feel alienated by traditional college culture in which competition and passive learning are the common practice. Rendon's data from interviews collected from diverse community college students found that faculty who fostered academic validation in interactions with students both in and out of class helped students to "trust their innate capacity to learn and to acquire confidence in being a college student" (p. 40).

Rendon's (1994) study indicated that students were transformed by "incidents where some individual, either in-or out-of-class, took an active interest in them—when someone took the initiative to lend a helping hand, to do something that affirmed them as

being capable of doing academic work and that supported them in their academic efforts and social adjustment" (p. 44). In Rendon's keynote address to the American River Community College (1994), she noted that students, particularly non-traditional and culturally diverse students, will be more likely to persist if faculty members help students to develop positive attitudes about their capacity to learn, actively support students in their academic endeavors, and affirm their ability to be successful, powerful learners. Further, she urged that this validation must occur in a student's critical first semester.

Validation may actually be more important than academic and social integration (Barnett, 2011). Barnett's study of community college students suggested that "higher levels of faculty validation modestly predicted increases in students' intent to persist, with three sub-constructs of validation (caring instruction, students feeling known and valued, and students being mentored by faculty members) showing significant impact on students' intent to persist.

Similar to Rendon's validation theory is the concept of mattering, originally introduced by Morris Rosenberg in 1981, which is "defined as the perception that, to some degree and in any variety of ways, we are a significant part of the world around us" (Elliott and Kao, 2004, p. 339). Schlossberg's (1989) theory of college students' mattering and marginality proposed that when adult students feel that they matter, they are more likely to be more engaged in their learning (Shelly, 2014). Schlossberg et al. (1991) argued that, for many adult learners, the feeling of mattering, "may be the single element that makes the difference in their completing their degrees and developing a feeling of satisfaction and a sense of belonging" (p. 201). Mattering has four components—attention, importance, ego-extension, and dependence; and reflexive

practitioners within institutions can encourage students' feelings of mattering by considering each of these elements (Schlossberg, 1991).

Becoming a college student marks a role change or transition for an individual, and these sorts of changes pose a risk for a person to feel marginalized (Schlossberg, 1991). Applying the concept of mattering to higher education, Schlossberg suggested that commuter students have been made to feel marginalized by the institutions, which is the opposite of mattering. Further, she contended that in a period of transition, feeling marginalized puts students at risk of attrition. As Schlossberg (1989) explained, often commuter students themselves as well as college personnel can view students' transition to higher education as a "non-event," it is important to understand the challenges that occur during transitional periods. Further, many students enroll in community college due to other transitions in their lives such as changes in employment or divorces. She explained that commuter students often do not feel control over their lives or a sense of confidence in their ability to meet standards set by professors.

Students need to feel that others have noticed them and are interested in them, that others care about what happens to them, that other people are proud of their successes and concerned about their failures, that they are needed by others, and that others notice their efforts (Shelly, 2014). According to Shelly (2014), "Knowing that we matter helps us to persist through our discomfort when we change roles or when we move from a familiar and safe environment to a new and challenging one" (p. 3).

Faculty as Levers of Retention

Without faculty who are willing to participate in and then actively use training in areas such as active learning, collaborative learning, or knowledge of campus resources; these levers cannot function to support retention of students. Institutions depend upon faculty who are committed to supporting a student-centered environment that demonstrates to students that the institution is committed to their welfare and their learning. Further, if faculty are not willing to build supportive, strong relationships with students, then meeting the needs of a diverse student population, particularly in the community college sector, is difficulty if not impossible. Pascarella and Terenzini's (1991) asserted, "There can be little doubt about the need for faculty members' acceptance of their roles and responsibilities for student learning and for their active involvement in students' lives" (p. 655).

Teachers "are at the heart of the community college mission and serve the learning needs of their communities in essential and unique ways" (Miller, 1997, p. 83). However, theories of student persistence often ignore the impact of the classroom or at least "have not seen it as the centerpiece of their efforts to promote student persistence, preferring instead to locate those efforts outside the classroom in the domain of student affairs" (Tinto, 1997, p. 599—600).

Barnett (2010) echoed Tinto's observation that little research has focused specifically on retention in the community college, particularly as it relates to the classroom experience. According to Barnett, commuters are typically present on campus only during class meetings, and "the only college representatives with whom they regularly interact are faculty members" (p. 194). McArthur (2010) noted that, for commuter students, "The faculty members represent the authority figure, the mentor, and

the role model that may not appear anywhere else in the student's life" (p. 2), and besides peers, are the most important factor in a student's development.

Kuh et al. (2005) discussed Chickering and Gamson's (1987) "Seven Principles of Good Practice in Undergraduate Education," pointing out that along with active learning and good teaching practice, other indicators include cooperation among students, "prompt feedback, time on task, high expectations, and respect for diverse talents and ways of learning" (p. 8). According to Kuh et al. (2005), these conditions correlate with student satisfaction and persistence, and, thus, "educationally effective colleges and universities—those that add value—channel students' energies toward appropriate activities and engage them at a high level in these activities" (p. 9). A longitudinal study of 19 institutions and found that "overall exposure to organized and clear classroom instruction during the first year of college has a net positive influence on the probability of reenrolling at an institution for the second year of college" (Pascarella et al, 2011, p.

According to the Braxton, Milem, and Sullivan (2000), comparing students who experience active learning to the students who do not participate in classes in which active learning is a component, those "who infrequently experience active learning in their courses may become socially isolated in order to improve their academic performance in their courses" (p. 572). Students experience disengagement and dissatisfaction when they find no meaning an relevance in their learning experiences (Roberts and Styron, 2010, p. 5).

Braxton et al. (2014) described the importance of faculty-student contact to help support student persistence. The authors suggested that all first-year students should have access to full-time, tenure- track faculty. Both in and out of classroom interactions with such faculty can significantly influence student persistence (Baker and Griffin, 2010). Therefore, faculty approachability is vital to student persistence. Komarraju, Musulkin, and Bhattacharya (2010) argued, "Student-faculty interactions can be crucial in developing students' academic self-concept and enhancing their motivation and achievement" (p. 332). The authors suggested that institutions that promote quality student-faculty interactions reap a variety of benefits from the practice because students have a fundamental human need to belong and to feel cared for. Fuentes et al. (2013) suggested that faculty should initiate early and regular contact with students, particularly those who are *not* necessarily considered "rising stars," because these students are typically less likely to seek out interactions with faculty.

According to Komarraju, Musulkin, and Bhattacharya (2010), student-faculty interactions have a "multidimensional influence on the cognitive and emotional needs of students" (p. 334), including promoting high academic self-confidence, competence in the academic field, communication skills, and general problem solving ability. The authors described various aspects of positive student-faculty interactions, including respect, guidance, approachability, concern, connectedness, accessibility, and interactions outside of class. Hoffman (2014) described the qualities of an approachable faculty member, explaining, "Professors who are perceived as approachable and caring make themselves available for conversations outside of their academic role, focus on life lessons, and are more willing to answer questions" (p. 14). Shelton (2001) reported that

the outcomes of positive faculty-student interactions include "professional socialization, self-actualization, self-fulfillment, improved self-concept, and enhanced motivation for learning" (p. 70). According to Shelton (2001), students describe a variety of faculty behaviors as supportive and helpful, including

helping them gain a sense of competency and self-worth [...], being approachable, encouraging students, demonstrating interest in students, having realistic expectations, listening, conveying confidence in and respect for students, being nonjudgmental, being honest and direct, being open to different points of view, and wanting students to succeed. (p. 71).

There is no substitute for human contact between faculty and students, and faculty members must make interactions with students a priority (Kinzie 2005). Additionally, interactions with students assist faculty members in better knowing and understanding their students so that they can more effectively connect course content with students' prior knowledge, talents, and experiences (Kinzie, 2005). Hoffman (2014) pointed out that, when faculty fail to build respectful and caring relationships with students, students sense that faculty members have given up on them, which "often results in diminished self-esteem, disengagement from classroom activity, and possible failure to complete the course" (p. 14).

In reflecting upon the body of research describing the impact faculty members have upon student persistence, it becomes apparent that research should be conducted that is focused upon studying the faculty members as potential levers of retention. If institutions seek to leverage the power of faculty members as a resources that positively

impact the retention of students, then it will be important to know more about the background traits, values, professional development experiences, classroom behaviors, educational philosophies, and strategies for working with students of faculty members who are successful at this task. This information can then inform hiring processes, orientation and training of faculty, and the evaluation criteria for community college faculty.

Peer Mentors as Human Levers of Retention

Tinto's (1993) model of student retention hinges on the importance of social integration, notably that there is a direct relation between the interaction with a peer and the likelihood of success and retention of a student. Pascarella and Terenzini (1991) discussed the power of peers to positively influence student persistence, citing that interacting with peers "enhances one's social integration and interpersonal bonds with the institution," (p. 390) when serves to intensify a student's "commitment and likelihood of persisting at the institution and completing one's degree" (p. 390). The authors explain that interactions with peers expose students to supportive social networks that influence students' educational aspirations as well as provide students with knowledge of personal and educational resources.

One of the levers that many community colleges have chosen in order to address the need to support student completion is the development and implementation of peer mentoring programs. Pairing new students with more experience peers can "help ease their transition and show them a way to persist when the path gets tough" (Pasket et al, 2018, p. 48). And as the literature on community college students indicates, the path is

often fairly tough from the very beginning of their college journey. The authors explained that first-generation college students, which Nomi (2005) reported make up nearly half of the nation's community college student bodies, are often left to try to figure things out on their own when it comes to postsecondary education, and this approach does not always end well.

First generation college students, in particular, often have little or no guidance and "cannot rely on family members' insider knowledge of higher education to guide them on the path to college" (Paskett et al. 2018, p. 47). Rivera et al. (2013) presented study results that demonstrated lower academic performance among first generation students when compared to their non-first generation peers. The authors also discussed a correlation between first generation students and limited financial literacy, which can lead to additional stress and hardship. Additionally, their review of literature led them to conclude that first generation students tend to work more hours per week than their peers and often report a lack of family support of their educational plans and goals. Finally, Rivera et al. (2013) explained that first generation students can struggle to integrate socially with peers on campus and make connections with faculty members and "may experience feelings of confusion, isolation, and shame at being a FGS and may not feel comfortable transitioning to and engaging with their new community" (p. 16), possibly contributing to a student's poor sense of belonging, feelings of loneliness, mental health problems, and inability to make the transition to college student, which can ultimately lead to attrition.

Bonin (2013) defined a peer mentor as a "guide who helps first year students navigate through academic, social, and personal difficulties" with the goal of

transitioning a mentee from high school into college by "decreasing stress through informal, caring relationships" ("Effect [...]"). Bonin reported that the studies she reviewed suggested several outcomes for mentees in peer mentoring relationships: improved socialization and learning experiences for mentees, enhanced academic skills, more effective time management, improved communication skills and problem-solving skills, and increased self-efficacy. Paskett et al. (2018) determined that peer mentoring has the potential to produce numerous benefits for new college students: improved financial literacy, better informed ability to select courses and academic programs, increased involvement in campus organizations and activities, improved study skills, and improved self-confidence.

Paskett, et al. (2018), who studied an undergraduate peer mentoring program at the University of Pennsylvania, pointed out that high schools, colleges, and universities often have limited human resources to meet the array of needs and address the variety of problems and concerns of first-year students. They observed that students, particularly first-generation college students, often must adopt a "learn as you go" approach to getting started in college because they do not have adequate family modeling. However, the authors suggest, "Trial and error is hardly a recipe for sustained success, especially when students confront challenges that they don't know how to manage. If anything, this persistent state of insecurity can lead to imposter syndrome (i.e., feeling fraudulent, inadequate, and incompetent among peers)" (p. 48).

Lessons from Faculty and Peer Mentors Identified as Potential Levers of Retention

The Study

During the 2017-2018 academic year, we conducted an explorative qualitative study with the goal of examining, from the perspective of faculty and peer mentors, ways in which community colleges might positively impact student persistence by leveraging their existing resources, namely their faculty and students themselves. By conducting companion studies at two institutions of the ways in which peer mentors and faculty members conceive of their roles within those institutions, we hoped to determine what traits, behaviors, attitudes, and skills held by these campus players could potentially positively influence retention. Our goal was to discover common themes and characteristics among those faculty members and peer mentors in order to better understand the knowledge, skills, preparation, and behavior of a human lever of retention.

Glesne (2006) explained that qualitative research seeks "to make sense of personal narratives and the ways in which they intersect" (p. 1). Qualitative methods, particularly interviewing, allows researchers "to acquire a rich understanding of other people's lives and experiences" (Rubin and Rubin, 1995, p. vii). According to Glesne (2006), "Qualitative research methods are used to understand social phenomena from the perspectives of those involved, to contextualize issues in their particular socio-cultural-political milieu, and sometimes to transform or change social conditions" (p. 4).

Qualitative methods allow researchers to explore and make sense of "the meaning individuals or groups ascribe to a social or human problem" (Creswell, 2014, p. 4). The assumption in this study, then, is that the peer mentors and faculty members who

have been identified as being the human levers of retention would provide the best insight into the phenomenon of actually being one of those individuals. They are the best sources of data to explain their backgrounds, their experiences, their philosophies, their challenges, and their approaches to their work.

Interviews were conducted during the spring 2018 semester at both sites of the study. The first set of interviews—focused on participants' backgrounds, duties, and careers—were conducted from late January through the end of February. The second set of interviews, which asked participants to share more about their personal philosophy as it relates to their work as well as their specific experiences and approaches when working with students, took place in late March and early April. The final interviews were group interviews in which all faculty participants met with both researchers in one meeting. Then all peer mentor participants met as a group with both researchers in the same meeting. These meetings took place in May after final exam week was over.

It is difficult to determine whether or not the timeline of the study had an effect on the participants and/or the data. Each part of a semester offers its own specific challenges and opportunities. For example, in the first part of the semester when the first interviews took place, faculty and peer mentors were just getting used to new students and new routines. They had recently emerged from three weeks to a month of time off from classes. The second interviews, however, took place after midterm for all faculty and peer mentors, giving them a bit more perspective in regard to that particular semester. At that time in the semester, typically, there is a sense that the honeymoon is over, meaning that both faculty and peer mentors had already encountered a number of situations in which students were struggling or leaving classes. However, at that point in

the semester, the participants had been given the time to build relationships with their students and encourage them to continue toward course completion. Finally, the group meetings had quite a celebratory yet reflective tone. Both faculty and peer mentors seemed demonstrably relieved to have completed the spring semester, and both groups expressed both a need for a break as well as a sense of excitement for upcoming semesters and endeavors. In fact, the final interview could be likened to a gathering on New Year's Eve, during which people reminisce about the year that has passed and also set goals and look forward to what the next year will bring.

The following questions guided the research:

- A. In what ways do those identified as human levers of retention intentionally seek to positively influence retention and student success?
- B. What common background characteristics, behaviors, motivations, strengths, priorities, attitudes, and approaches to working with students are shared by those identified as human levers of retention? In what ways do they feel they are distinguished from their colleagues in this area?

Site and Participant Selection: Peer Mentors

We selected Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College (SKYCTC) as the site for the peer mentor study because the college has an established peer mentoring program and has collected several semesters' worth of student retention data that indicate that the program may correlate with some of the gains in student persistence semester-to-semester. Since developing and implementing the peer

mentoring program, retention of first-semester students at SKYCTC has increased up to 15% when compared to the retention rate prior to the program.

The Student Ambassador Program SKYCTC is the first of its kind in KCTCS. Student Ambassadors at SKYCTC have completed at least 12 credit hours at SKYCTC, maintained at least a 3.0 GPA, and have obtained a letter of recommendation from a faculty member in order to be considered for employment as a peer mentor. Student Ambassadors are paid \$10 per hour for 15 hours per week to serve as peer mentors for incoming students to the college. They are provided with 30 hours of training focused upon how to be a successful peer mentor and what their role in retention and student success will consist of. All 43 current and former Student Ambassadors as of August 2017 were invited to participate in the research study. Each of the peer mentors was provided with a list of criteria describing effective mentoring behaviors and practices that we generated based upon an extensive review of literature. Potential participants then were asked to self-select for participation if they felt that these criteria accurately described them as peer mentors.

Site and Participant Selection: Faculty

The faculty population for this study consisted of general education faculty at West Kentucky Community and Technical College (WKCTC). The faculty at this institution have been recognized by the Aspen Institute four times between 2011 and 2017 for their role in promoting student success as demonstrated by graduation rates, transfer rates, and student learning outcomes data. Participation was limited to general education faculty members because students earning any associate's degree must

complete several general education courses in order to complete their academic programs, and institutional data suggests that these courses typically possess higher rates of attrition than do courses in career and technical education programs (such as welding, collision repair, and industrial maintenance) and particularly selective admission programs (such as nursing, dental assisting, or physical therapy assistant). We made the decision to focus on faculty who teach in courses typically considered "gate keeper" courses that are required by many transfer, technical, or selective admission programs.

Participants in the faculty study were recruited based recommendations from several parties representing a variety of constituencies on campus. Those constituencies were selected based upon their knowledge of and experience with the general education faculty either through supervision, collaboration, evaluation, or reputation. The following parties provided recommendations: Vice President of Academic Affairs, Vice President of Student Development, Associate Vice President of Academic Affairs, Director of TRiO (Student Support Services), Chair of the Faculty Council, Dean of Humanities/Fine Arts/Social Sciences, Director of the School of Art, Dean of Mathematics and Science, and Dean of Distance Learning. Those asked to recommend were given an instrument we developed based on an analysis and synthesis of the literature focused upon the role of faculty with regard to student retention. They were instructed that they could recommend up to ten potential participants. We determined after receiving recommendations from all ten of those invited to submit recommendations that we would invite faculty members to participate if they were recommended by seven or more of the individuals. Based upon this requirement, nine faculty members were identified and invited to participate; all accepted the invitation and completed each stage

of the study: two individual interviews and one group interview with all faculty participants and both researchers.

Data Collection and Analysis

Two individual interviews were conducted with each of the participants on each campus with the first interview focused upon background characteristics such as educational pathways, educational experiences, and professional aspirations; and the second round focused on participants' specific approaches to and strategies for working with community college students. Participants were also questioned about the ways in which they conceived of their role as faculty members or peer mentors as well as the benefits and challenges associated with working in a community college setting. Kim Russell conducted all individual interviews with faculty members, and Kyle Barron conducted all individual interviews with peer mentors. Audio from the interviews was recorded and then transcribed using an electronic transcription service. The researchers then compared the original recordings with written transcripts to ensure accuracy, and transcripts were then corrected if errors were discovered.

Following each interview, the researchers composed a short memo to record initial impressions and a brief, overall summary of each interview, and a physical file for each participant held individual transcripts for each interview. In addition, transcripts and summaries were electronically shared between the researchers. Independently, we reviewed each transcript and generated initial open codes based upon criteria such as repetition by individuals or repetition between individual interviews, relationship to retention literature reviewed by researchers, and connections to Mattering theory and

Validation theory. We worked collaboratively to "debrief' each other's experiences and first impressions of the interviews and to unpack each iteration of our analysis.

By viewing faculty and peer mentors' work with community college students through the lens of Validation and Mattering Theories, we were able to interpret the information shared by the participants in the study by considering the ways in which the participants seek to influence student success by demonstrating to students that they can indeed be successful and that they matter to at least one person in the academic environment. Validation and Mattering theories, thus, provided a common context for interpreting the behaviors, approaches, attitudes, and strategies reported by the study participants; and we are able to conclude that, in some way, each of the participants in the study strives to contribute to students' sense of Validation and Mattering, whether or not the participants intentionally and explicitly seek to communicate those feelings to the students with whom they work.

Once we open coded each transcript and then reviewed, we met to make connections between the open codes, and those open codes considered both valid and important by both researchers were aggregated, creating axial codes that were more thematic in nature. For example, codes such as "assisting students with financial aid questions," "taking students to an office that can help them," "letting students know about counseling on campus," and "helping students learn to navigate the college website" were all combined (with other related open codes) to generate the axial code "connecting students to college resources." The axial codes were then used to again code each transcript, and interviewers worked together to generate a document in which

emergent themes were described. This document then served as the basis for discussion that took place in group meetings.

All participants were invited to participate in a group meeting/interview—one for faculty participants and one for peer mentors— attended by both researchers in order to discuss and review the document describing the emergent themes, which allowed for member checking of that data and coding of that data to take place. Participants in both meetings were asked to provide any additional information or suggest revisions or clarifications to the initial findings. In both sessions, participants provided further examples related to the findings that were shared. Both group interviews lasted approximately two hours, with participants in both meetings supporting the findings that were shared with them, which helped researchers to feel more confident about their findings.

Role of Researchers

As each of us is an employee of the college we selected as the sites for our studies, it was important to the integrity of our work that we examined our roles within the institutions and our reasons for the selection of the two sites. Though we acknowledge that convenience played a role in our site selection process, we argue that the two sites we selected met our selection criteria in that both institutions offered subjects—faculty in one case and students in the other—who were part of a group that had demonstrated effectiveness. Because we wanted to learn about the people who represented a "best case" type of scenario, these two sites met our needs.

It is essential for us to have an understanding of the ways in which our positions and roles impact a number of aspects of our study. Knowing ourselves and acknowledging the factors that influence our own biases and expectations have allowed us to more clearly and objectively interpret our data and make meaning from it. For the sake of our audience, it was important that to make a genuine effort to describe our backgrounds and roles so that readers can further contextualize the information we share and hopefully develop enhanced confidence in the validity and trustworthiness of our work.

Kim Russell is a faculty member at West Kentucky Community and Technical College (WKCTC) who has taught college-level English full-time for 13 years and served as the English Program Coordinator for 10 years. A third-generation community college graduate, she began planning to teach English on the community college level during her junior year in high school. In 2014 she became the chair of Professional and Organizational Development at WKCTC, and in that capacity she became the leader of the team of faculty who are responsible for the New Faculty Orientation program at WKCTC. She also coordinates all campus professional development activities and programs for both faculty and staff. She is passionate about teaching, faculty development, and the power of community colleges to make a difference to the lives of individuals as well as to communities and the nation as a whole.

Kyle Barron, who served at the time of the study as the Director of Student Life and Engagement at SKYCTC is also a community college graduate who has a passion for the community college as an institution. Kyle worked in student affairs at a Texas Community College for several years before moving to Kentucky to accept his position at

SKYCTC. He helped to develop, organize, and supervise a peer mentoring program at the Texas community college; and he was asked to develop a similar program when he came to SKYCTC. He spent over four years handling all aspects of the Student Ambassador Program at SKYCTC, including structuring, budgeting, hiring, training, assessing, recruiting, and marketing. Kyle's passion for student development and student affairs have determined his career path, and he believes that by developing and maintaining collaborations between academic affairs and student affairs, institutions can serve their students most effectively.

As we embarked our research project, there were several ethical questions and other issues to consider, and perhaps the most important one is to be able to understand ourselves as researchers. We needed to consider how our own experiences and beliefs shape the way we perceive what we saw and heard. In addition, we needed to accept that our positions at our respective institutions could have some impact on the information that our participants chose to share with us. Also, because we conducted "backyard" research, we needed to be careful not to let any preconceived notions about these human subjects affect our data collection and ability to listen and observe carefully. Both in the interviews and in the reporting of data, it was important not to project ourselves on the participants. By both researchers independently coding all data sets and then comparing codes and findings, we feel that we were able to have a perspective on the data that was not influenced by either personal relationships with the participants or prior knowledge of the participants.

We also realized that it would be important to assure participants that the information they shared would not be specifically linked to them, and their identities

would be protected. Discussing the need for our participants to be both candid and honest, we discussed specific ways we could encourage participants to feel comfortable being "real" with us. With that in mind, we determined that our demeanor in the interviews needed to be relatively informal. We would also be very mindful of ever appearing judgmental or disdainful if participants shared information we did not necessarily agree with or enjoy. In fact, we discussed the need to share our own weaknesses and challenges with participants in order to encourage them to share freely. Though we can never truly know if our positions within these institutions impacted the way in which participants shared information with us, we can say that we intentionally developed interview strategies that would encourage participants to be themselves and to know that what they shared would not be linked to them.

We feel that the information participants shared during their interviews indicates that participants were comfortable being both candid and open with the researchers. Participants often shared details about their pasts, particularly related to past academic failures or poor decision making in their personal lives, which demonstrated their trust in the researchers. Further, we believe that by providing participants with a detailed background of the study and its purposes, we were able to communicate to participants the value of the study. Perhaps because all of the participants have demonstrated through their work that student success is important to their work, the participants understood the need for the data to be reliable and accurate.

Several procedures and practices were structured to allow us to maintain the ethical integrity of the study. First, we allowed other parties to identify the participants within the parameters of the research design. Also, the criteria used to identify the

participants was based upon a review of literature completed by both researchers and could, therefore, be used to identify participants in any community college, not just the two with which we are affiliated. Working as a team we provided support and an internal "audit" for one another's subjectivity. Finally, by involving participants in activities designed to serve as "member checking," we further ensured our data was accurately represented and communicated.

It is unrealistic to expect that researchers come to a project with a completely blank slate. It is also undesirable that a researcher is a completely blank slate, as his or her previous experiences and knowledge about the topic can serve to enrich the researcher's understanding of the data. However, what is essential is that researchers acknowledge these factors to themselves as well as to their audiences and subjects, and ethical researchers demonstrate how their ethics helped to shape the design process in order for the work to meet the standards of quality research.

Findings

After analyzing our coded data using Matter and Validation Theories as our lens for contextualizing the information we collected from our participants, we discovered four common themes that emerged from our conversations with faculty members and peer mentors:

1. Both faculty members and peer mentors shared a sense of responsibility that drove them to want to help others and a sense of satisfaction from feeling that their help made a difference in the lives of another person.

- 2. Both faculty members and peer mentors were committed to approaching their duties in professional ways, perhaps motivated to maintain their professional standards by a desire to help others most effectively.
- 3. Every participant in the study understood the importance of building positive working relationships with students, though not all participants used the same strategies for building such relationships, and the relationships built most likely varied depending upon the faculty member's or peer mentor's attitudes and personal characteristics. However, all participants expressed the importance of specific attributes in a good relationship with one's students or mentees: trust, respect, understanding, and concern.
- 4. A belief in the importance of and a commitment to being informed regarding campus (and, in some cases, community) resources that could benefit students and assist them in meeting the needs that could potentially impact their academic persistence as well as a desire and effort to connect students with such resources was a final characteristic shared by both faculty members and peer mentors in the study.

Theme One: A Sense of Responsibility to Help Others

Perhaps the most foundational characteristic we discovered among the participants was sense of personal responsibility to help others. The participants as a whole shared that they care about helping others to achieve their goals and, as a result, improve their quality of life. Each one felt he or she could play a role in providing the

support or assistance that could help rather than hinder students on their academic journey. Though there were differences among the participants in the ways in which they approached their goal of helping students, all of the participants communicated a sense of personal responsibility for helping students, a desire for being a positive force in their academic lives, and a sense of professional and sometimes personal satisfaction resulting from helping others.

In the interviews with the faculty members, each of the participants pointed out specific ways in which they dedicated their efforts to help students be successful, whether through providing support in the specific academic discipline they teach or assisting students in other aspects related to their academic performance. Faculty members who teach courses that are considered particularly challenging or high stakes for students, in particular, demonstrated their passion for helping students by providing examples of how they aid students in successfully mastering course content and completing course requirements.

For example, Tasha, who primarily teaches anatomy and physiology—an established gatekeeper course that serves as the primary prerequisite course for acceptance into competitive selective admission allied health and nursing programs—shared that she sees her role as "the person who stands between students and their goal acceptance into a program that will allow them to earn a wage that will improve quality of life." Tasha acknowledged that people consider her course a "weed out" course that is extremely challenging for most students, requiring a significant time commitment on the part of the students, many of whom juggle a number of life roles and external responsibilities. Therefore, with the goal of helping these students to learn the content

and earn the grades they need to earn in order to be admitted into selective admission programs, Tasha takes a number of steps. She has invested a great deal of her time in learning to use various software programs that she integrates in her courses that provide students with extra support in learning the material. She also dedicates several hours each week meeting with students in small, non-required study groups in which she reviews course materials and provides assistance with study skills. Tasha also dedicates time outside of class meetings and office hours to creating practice examinations for both the lecture and lab components of the classroom, explaining that she sets up the exams and invites students to participate in the practice examinations in order to be better prepared for the format and content of the exams and to reduce students' test anxiety, a problem that she has observed among many of her students.

Similar to Tasha, Jake also teaches a course which typically has a pass rate below 70% and serves as an intimidating gatekeeper course for students: college algebra. This course, which is required for many transfer students as well as students working toward admission in many selective admission technical programs, is often "feared and dreaded" by students, according to Jake. Like Tasha, Jake's passion for helping students be successful in his course is demonstrated in a variety of ways. First, Jake focuses a great deal of his effort on issues related to math curriculum, serving as chair of the Kentucky Community and Technical College System's Math Curriculum Committee. He explained, "My job is to make sure that none of our decisions hurt students." With this goal in mind, Jake has been the principal force in developing a system of "math pathways" that will more specifically prepare students for their intended discipline, rather than requiring them to struggle through courses that they might not actually need for their

majors. In spite of the time that this project entailed, Jake reported that he felt a deep sense of responsibility to current and future students, observing, "These math pathways may be the single biggest thing I'll do in my career to help students be successful. I can't think of anything else I could ever do that has a better chance to positively impact more lives."

In his own classes, Jake also strives to help students successfully learn the content and complete the course requirements. He explained that perhaps one of the most important ways in which he helps students is by understanding the typical challenges faced by community college students, challenges which may impact their attendance in this classes, and then developing his course policies and procedures based upon this understanding. Therefore, he posts all lecture notes, handouts, and practice assignments or quizzes on his class's Blackboard page so that students always have access to any material they may have missed in class. Additionally, he understands that many of his students have had negative experiences in math classes before coming to his class, and many have a fear of math class and a sense of dread about having to take the course. "From the first day of class I try to disarm them and let them know that I am there to help them to succeed. I tell them that I believe they can all do the work, and I remind them throughout the semester that I am available when they want help. They can call me, email me, or come to my office; I'll drop whatever I'm doing to work with them," Jake explained.

Though all faculty members in the study indicated ways in which they work to help students be successful in mastering the content taught in their classes, several faculty members also shared ways in which the seek to help students in other areas. Karen, a

foreign language teacher and sponsor of the college's Multi-Cultural Club, sees herself as a mentor for the college's Hispanic and international student populations. She explained that she works to help these students feel more comfortable with and integrated into both the social and academic aspects of college life. Karen shared that she provides to students (Hispanic students in particular) opportunities where they can speak their native language, share stories of home, talk about homesickness, and meet other students with whom they can form common bonds. Speaking about her approach to helping students, both in and out of her classroom, Karen noted, "My strength on this campus is about much more than my discipline. I've always felt I can offer a listening ear and maybe some perspective for them that can help them on their journey."

Like Karen, Eliza is also passionate about helping students to have a successful academic journey. As the coordinator of the college's First Year Experience (FYE) program and the lead teacher for the FYE 105 course required of all transfer students, Eliza believes that she can help students in meaningful ways that can impact their overall success as students. From helping students to build peer networks in the courses she teaches to working very closely with all of her students to provide each one with individualized academic advising, Eliza shared that she feels a deep sense of both professional and personal satisfaction when she is able to make a difference in the lives of her students. While she is passionate about helping students to determine their career pathways, she is equally passionate about sharing other knowledge and skills with her students that will help them to be successful both in her classroom and outside of it. She discussed how she requires students to engage in individual conferences with her because she wants to help them develop their ability to communicate with faculty members, and

she hopes to build their confidence in their ability to engage with faculty and other authority figures.

Professionalism

The sense of personal and professional responsibility that the faculty and peer mentors described is possibly one of the main driving forces in a set of behaviors and attitudes that we characterized as "professionalism". Each of the faculty members and peer mentors in the study described a commitment to what we defined as "professionalism," a term which served as an umbrella for numerous behaviors, practices, and attitudes described by participants. That "professionalism" took many forms, both among faculty participants and peer mentor participants, but the common thread woven throughout the profiles of each person in the study was that each one took very seriously his or her job in working with students. Each one shared a belief that he or she could play an important role in helping another person succeed at college, and therefore, approached his or her job in what would be considered a professional way.

For faculty members, professionalism manifested itself in a number of ways. For Laura, for example, professionalism is what drives her every action and decision as a faculty member. It is her sense of professional responsibility that drives her to continually "re-tool" as a teacher, attending discipline-related and teaching-focused conferences each year. She also spoke of the professional image she seeks to cultivate, never socializing with students or engaging with them on social media, for example. Believing that she best serves her students by serving as an example of professionalism, she intentionally dedicates herself to modeling her definition of a professional: a person

who continually strives for excellence in her career and takes a great deal of pride in the work that represents her. To Laura, this professionalism means everything from arriving early to class, to carefully proofreading all documents and communications, to "dressing the part," and to learning new skills and content that can keep the class both fresh and timely.

Several faculty members discussed that a key aspect of professionalism for them was the belief that their work speaks for them and, therefore, must be of excellent quality. Adam provided the example of his syllabi for his courses as a way in which the documents he provides to students serving as a reflection of his professionalism. Adding that he believes these documents can encourage his students to trust in his professionalism and dedication to his work, Adam explained that he very carefully reviews and updates his syllabi and continually evaluates the content of his syllabi to ensure that the policies and assignments continue to line up with his teaching philosophy as well as current practices in his discipline. Discussing the potential impact of errors or outdated information in his syllabus, Adam described his belief that carefully developing documents for students was as important aspect of professionalism for him:

I see syllabi from colleagues sometimes that have the wrong semester at the top of the document. Or they have the wrong dates in the schedule of assignments and due dates. Sometimes syllabi have a typo or a spelling or grammatical error. My concern when I see these things is that I don't know how we can ask students to give us their very best if we don't truly give them ours. Many of my students are business majors, and we talk often about how we cultivate a professional image. How can they respect that lesson and take it to heart if my work is sloppy? And

what message am I sending about how much I value them if they aren't even worth the time it takes to review a document? How could I deduct for such errors in their papers and projects if the written directions I gave them for the project are full of mistakes?

Like Adam, Jake's sense of professionalism is reflected in his approach to delivering high-quality materials to his students. In his case, Jake invests a significant amount of time creating what he feels are the best materials that will enable students to master his content. Jake shared that, after reviewing a number of software and textbook options for his college algebra students, he decided that none of them met his standards, and all were cost prohibitive for his students. He, therefore, decided to build his own program that would allow him to create materials for students and develop a content collection that would meet students' needs and be free of charge to his students. Explaining that upon completing all of the program, he then spent months testing the accuracy and functionality of the program because he considered the program a reflection of his professionalism, and he did not want students to encounter difficulties or observe errors because he feared that would undermine his image as a professional who takes pride in his work and wants to be his best for his students.

For each of the faculty members of the study, professionalism meant different things. For some, professionalism meant wearing a tie or pantsuit to class each day, while others felt that they were able to demonstrate professionalism wearing jeans or other casual attire to teach their classes. In other cases, professionalism meant a less casual approach to interactions with students and a clear reminder of the distinctions between a student role and a teacher role; however, others were comfortable being on a

first-name basis with students and having a snack with students in the school's café. Where all the faculty members agreed, however, is the role professionalism plays in their commitment to do their best work as a faculty member. In other words, whether they chose to attend academic conferences, read professional publications regularly, receive training in educational technologies, or take classes related to their field of study; each of these faculty members articulated that professionalism means continual improvement and growth along with a commitment to lifelong learning. Also, these faculty members expressed that an important aspect of their sense of professionalism is their dedication to student success, which is manifested in a reflective and often recursive approach to structuring curriculum, assessments, or class activities in ways that best serve students.

Similarly, the peer mentors identified professionalism as a key character trait possessed by all who were identified as a successful human lever of retention. In comparison to the faculty members, the peer mentor's take on professionalism looks somewhat different. They did not show up to work in a suit, though they did take pride in their appearance and their standardized uniform. Peer mentors described a number of behaviors they felt were important for a successful peer mentor to have: being organized, arriving early or on time to job and school related activities, taking responsibility to learn new things in order to be able to better serve clients, presenting oneself in a respectful and pleasant manner, serving as a role model, and projecting a positive image for the institution as well as the peer mentor program.

One peer mentor, Aza, focused on being professional within the classroom. For Aza, his studies were a true reflection to his mentees on how he was as a student and why other students should see him as someone who can help them in their studies.

I take on the personal responsibility of making sure that I go to class at every opportunity that I can. I don't like to miss classes, and I make sure that I complete any homework or extra credit opportunity that's presented to me. I feel like my responsibility as a student is to put forth my best effort, always, and take as much knowledge from my instructors as possible in the course work that they provide and to strive for good grades.

Aza would go even further in showing his dedication and professionalism, stating on multiple occasions that he chose to engage in further research outside of the provided materials to ensure that he fully understood the course.

Julia noted how she had grown immensely as a professional in the role as a peer mentor. She also noted how it translated into her own personal successes and those of her students as they watched her continue to grow. She shared that the way in which she carried herself and greeted a person had changed substantially. Also, the role as a peer mentor allowed her to enhance her ability multi-task and still perform at a high level, according to Julia. She learned how to take more seriously her time management skills, even though she stated she had the skills before the job, but still her job as a peer mentor encouraged her to develop them more.

Rachel noted that her professionalism and communication also improved while she was in the roll of a peer mentor. To some extent this is a direct representation of many of the peer mentors having this role as one of their first jobs. However, the attention to the intentional growth in professionalism resulted in her mentees being able to learn more and grow alongside her. Rachel's acknowledgement that she grew

substantially in this area while in the role speaks to her dedication to being a professional and focusing on continual learning and growth.

Overall, the peer mentors expressed an acknowledgement for the professionalism that was necessary for the role and developed throughout their experience in being a human lever of retention.

Relationship Building

The relationships students build and maintain in the community college environment can have a significant impact on students' academic experiences and can potentially mean the difference between course and credential completion versus attrition or academic failure. Faculty, as the main source of social and academic interaction for many community college students, can play an essential role in student success by seeking to build relationships with students that will enable students to feel both a sense of validation as well as a sense of mattering to the institution. In addition, relationships with peer mentors characterized by empathy, respect, and trust have been shown to positively impact student academic success and retention from semester to semester (Plasket et al., 2018).

Often the perception of "building relationships with students," for some faculty members, carries with it the notion that faculty members who "build relationships" do so by getting to know personal details about students, engaging in long sometimes emotional conversations with students, or developing "friendly" rather than "professional" interactions with students. However, what we discovered in this study is that the faculty participants strive to build relationships with students that will encourage

student success. And while several of the faculty members in the study do work to make connections with students by learning about who they are as people and spending time engaging in conversations both in and out of class, not all of the faculty members in the study felt either comfortable or interested in taking part in these kinds of interactions with students.

Ultimately, though, the faculty members and peer mentors in the study, regardless of how they individually went about connecting with their students and building relationships with them, found ways to create relationships that were built upon certain common foundational principles that are present in most any functional relationship. The faculty members and peer mentors sought to establish trust from the students and hoped to demonstrate that they care about the welfare of each student. They worked to establish fair, compassionate standards and endeavored to choose words and actions that communicated a sense of respect for students.

Certainly, several of the faculty participants shared their feelings about the importance of building relationships with students, with faculty members such as Adam, Eliza, and Katie expressing that this aspect of their work with students is perhaps the most important thing they do because it allows them to better serve the students with whom they work if they know and are known by their students. Adam explained that by prioritizing relationship building from the first day of class, he is able to connect with students, begin to build their trust in him, and let them know that he is invested in each of them as individual students and as people. He has several different strategies for building relationships with students, including a questionnaire activity that students do on day one that allows him to know more about who they are and what their goals are. This

document also encourages students to ask questions about the college, and he addresses each of those questions by the second class meeting. In addition, Adam learns the names of each of his students, sometimes more than 120 students per semester, by the second day of class by taking a photograph of the full classroom on the first day and then matching names to faces and studying the names and faces until he knows each one.

The strategy he considers one of his most effective for connecting with students is a series of required office visits that all of his students must do throughout the semester, with the first visit taking place in the first two weeks of the semester, and the two later visits taking place around midterm and then in the weeks leading up to final exams. Summing up his motivation for dedicating so much time to relationship building, Adam expressed, "Lots of our students are day-to-day or week-to-week, and it doesn't take much for some of them to give up. If they know that there is at least one person at school who believes in them, stands up for them, and cares about them; that might be the difference between walking out the door and crossing the stage in May."

Similar to Adam, Eliza requires office visits with her students during which she works with students to define their academic and professional goals and then plan for future semesters. As a teacher in the First Year Experience (FYE) courses, Eliza believes she has the opportunity to help her students, particularly those who are undecided in regard to a major, to make sound decisions regarding their academic and career pathways. She also believes that she can use her knowledge of campus and community resources to help students who experience common barriers that can potentially derail their academic pursuits, issues such as financial problems, domestic abuse, unreliable childcare, or mental health problems. Eliza explains, however, that without having a

personal connection with a student, she cannot hope to see a need and then work to meet that need.

Anatomy and physiology professor Katie shares Adam and Eliza's philosophy about the importance of making personal connections to students. A high school valedictorian who wanted to drop out after her first semester of college, Katie reported,

If I had made even one connection with a faculty member or felt like even one of them cared whether I lived or died, I might have been a little more eager to come back. But that's not how it was. Fortunately, my dad, who was a college graduate and a teacher, insisted I go back. Otherwise, I wouldn't be here right now.

Katie, however, believes that many community college students do not have someone at home who will make them go back after a rough semester or even a rough week. She described one of her strategies for communicating to them that she cares for each of them, explaining her approach to inspiring and motivating students, particularly after the first test in her course, a test that many of the students do not pass. One of her "motivational speeches" involves showing students a video about "Faith, the two-legged dog," demonstrating to students that it is possible to overcome challenges with a bit of courage, persistence, and positivity. "I tell them, 'Look, if a little dog can keep going even when it's really hard, then you definitely can!""

Katie also sets aside time to meet with students individually and in groups, encouraging the students to form small "study pods" that she meets with several times a semester in order to help them in small-group settings. According to Katie, one of the biggest advantages that community college faculty members have over faculty who teach

for larger institutions and often teach very large classes is that, "We can know our students and connect with them so that they know we really do care about them. We can learn who they are and what they want to do with their lives, and we can better meet their needs and communicate with them when we do that," Katie suggested.

Not all of the faculty participants, though, shared the same philosophies of or approaches to relationship building. Three of the nine participants reported that they, unlike many of their colleagues, were not the "touchy-feely" type of faculty member. In fact, two of the faculty participants expressed surprise that they were included in the study because they did not consider themselves "touchy-feely" enough with the students. The question, then, that presents itself is, what does relationship building between faculty and students look like when those relationships do not consist of the "typical" interactions that can come to minds of faculty members when considering this issue?

Laura, a psychology professor, reported that she does not feel comfortable engaging in what she considers "personal" conversations with students, particularly if those conversations are not specifically related to course content. Describing a recent interaction with a pregnant student, Laura noted that she would never feel comfortable asking the student how the pregnancy is going or what the baby's nursery was going to look like. However, she did encourage the student to please communicate with her in order to make plans for an upcoming exam that was scheduled very close to the baby's due date. Laura, who considers "professionalism" her top priority as a faculty member, believes that it is essential to have a clear boundary between students and faculty members, a line that can be crossed when faculty members engage personally with students. What, then, does Laura's relationship look like with her students?

Laura shared that she feels the best way she can serve her students is by teaching them, in the context of her content, useful and transferrable skills that will help them throughout their academic career and will help to prepare them for professional success. Intentionally teaching listening skills, organizational strategies, and lessons about professionalism, Laura hopes to show students that she cares about their futures beyond her class. Providing an example of one of the strategies she uses in her classes, Laura described the way that she teaches her students to use the Cornell notes structure to organize their information and prepare for an exam. When asked why she takes class time for this kind of instruction in study skills, Laura answered, "I just want to give them that extra edge, so that when they go on to a different class or a different institution, they know they can succeed. I try to give them lots of opportunities to do different things so that they will believe in themselves and know that they can be successful."

Jake, like Laura, would not describe himself as a "touchy-feely" faculty member. Yet he too engages in behaviors with his students that help to build a relationship that communicates to students that they matter and that they can be successful. Though he readily admits that he does not always know the names of all of his students, and he rarely engages in conversations unrelated to course content with students; Jake uses his strengths as a faculty member to attempt to build a sense of trust and respect with his students. "My hope," Jake articulated, "is that they will always know that they come first with me." To communicate this belief to his students, he described the way in which he makes sure to always be "present" when his student talk to him, always putting aside anything else that he is working on in order to give his full attention to students. He also

shared how he feels his class policies communicate to students that he cares about their welfare, understands the challenges some of them face, and will treat them with fairness.

Jake described the anxiety he observes in a large number of his math students, particularly those students in college algebra, which is a dreaded graduation requirement for many students. Though Jake does not know how many pets his students have or even necessarily what their chosen field of student is, he does understand the fear many of them have, and he feels a sense of responsibility to help students have a positive experience in a math class. In an attempt to communicate to students that he cares about their success and understands their fears related to math is through his practice exam policy, Jake creates a practice examination for every test to help reduce students' test anxiety and prepare students to be successful on the exam. Jake spelled out his practice exam approach:

It looks exactly like the real exam that they will take the next class period. It has the same kinds of questions and even the same number of questions they will have on the real test. It lets them know exactly what kinds of material will be covered. The students work through the exam, and then we take a few moments to go over their questions. They are also encouraged to come by my office and ask questions and work through the problems if they need more help. Many of them let me know that this really helps them.

What is clear in all of these examples is that the faculty participants understand that they must connect with their students if they want to be truly effective in their faculty position. Though these faculty members did not explicitly describe their approach to

relationship building as a strategy to communicate a sense of mattering and validation to their students, example after example demonstrate that their relationships with students are, in fact, intended to convey those very ideas to students. In addition, while some of the faculty members in the study do indeed fit the description of a "touchy-feely" faculty member who intentionally seeks to get to know students and work closely with each one; others in the study occupied various points on the continuum between deeply connected to individual students and quite distant from individual students, with some choosing to be professionally approachable and caring but not personally involved. No matter where in the continuum a faculty fell, however, the unifying characteristic is that all faculty members used their strengths to demonstrate a desire for student success, knowledge and understanding of students' academic challenges, and a commitment to helping students succeed.

Similarly, peer mentors seek to build relationships with all their student mentees from day one. Where the peer mentor differs from the faculty member, though, is noticeable from the very first meeting that they have with their mentees. While some faculty may be hesitant to develop a personal relationship with their students and know about their lives outside of the college, this is the first thing that the peer mentor seeks to accomplish. By learning about the new student's personal life, the peer mentors feel that they can better assist the student in developing a sense of belonging at the college. For example, if from their initial conversation they learn that their mentee is a fan of gaming and host a weekly *Dungeons and Dragons* session at their house, they then are able to help connect that student to a student club on campus that will hopefully provide them

more of a sense of belonging on campus than even the peer mentor alone can provide, more to come on how they connect their students to the campus.

If the peer mentor does not learn about the student's personal support systems, motivations, and hobbies, then it is very difficult for the peer mentor to connect to their students and the participants noted that the odds of the student continuing to participate in the optional program decrease substantially. The participants even noted taking the lead on moving the conversations beyond merely conversations and into a form of relationship building by first letting the student mentee know what their hobbies, home situation, and successes and failures at the college level have been. They reported being very intentional about this in an effort to help make the student feel more comfortable to share in return and thus enter into more of a relationship than merely a provided resource of the college. While all of the peer mentors discussed how they took this approach, four of the ambassadors shared more noteworthy examples.

Trenton, a peer mentor and vocational student who did not get a chance to meet with many of his mentees outside of the classroom because many of them were already employed and would go straight from their car to class and return to their car to drive to work, had to get creative in how he got meetings with his mentees. Many of his first meetings occurred in the classroom or during their lunch break that many of these programs take on a daily basis. For him, he was able to impress upon the students how much he cared for their success and he stressed the importance of being able to develop a relationship with his students that was based on something other than academics, otherwise he noted that they had no interest in meeting again.

When Trenton was asked what qualities make him an excellent human lever of retention he focused on the ability to build relationships with his mentees. He viewed his ability to develop relationships with his mentees as a skill set that he not only grew but helped his mentees develop and grow, stating:

I think by ultimately building the relationship if the student has a relationship with their mentor that's really strong, it's going to branch out into the school, the instructors and hopefully maybe plant the seed with them to where they can [build relationships with others]. They'll go out and they don't even have to be a student ambassador, by title. This is another student that sees another new student coming in that maybe they're struggling or something and they can step in and be like, well, let me tell you what I can to help you out.

His approach to developing relationships with students was based on the hope that not only would they develop a relationship with him but also with their peers.

Julia had a shared goal of developing relationships with her mentees as she sought to be their support system. She noted that while the role of faculty on campus is undeniable with regard to academics, the perspective of the peer mentor is not necessarily better but more "fresh". The peer mentor is able to "speak into the life of" her mentee from the perspective of one who just went through, or maybe even is currently going through, the same situation as their mentee. Further, she viewed how she went about creating relationships with her mentees, those same students who were high achieving human levers or retention were also trying to develop a relationship with, was always for the greater good of the student. She believes that the differences in perspective helped

make the whole, and provided the student with a greater sense of belonging at the college from all different angles. The work of the peer mentor and the faculty member together truly made a big impact for her and she sought to do the same with her mentees.

Ashley worked to become friends with her mentees and help with their classes as well as with other tasks and challenges. She related her personal experiences in college and reported how her transition was easier because she no longer felt like she had to go at her studies alone, as she did in high school. In college, there was not competition for different rankings within the classes, and she was able to come alongside her peers and work together for their joint educations. She sought to instill this in her students that she mentored too. When she would explain to her students why it was important for them to develop relationships, she wanted them to know that they were not alone and they could turn to her for just about anything. She relished the opportunity to "just to talk" or "being there and pushing (them) along and helping (them) through it."

Due to her ability to build relationships with her mentees, Ashley was able to provide key support to one of her mentees, a man in his sixties whose technology related skills Ashley described as "non-existent." At first, Ashley, being only 17 when she started the job as a peer mentor, was unsure that she would be able to connect with her new mentee, but once they were able to form a relationship, thanks in part to her constant "just being there for them" and "helping them through it", she was able to help that student get to a point where he was comfortable with computers and in his abilities to be a successful college student. That student came back semester after semester until Ashley graduated and they still stay in touch periodically. Her ability to focus on relationship

building allowed her to break through to a student that otherwise likely would not have succeeded without her help.

Bill is another peer mentor who stressed the importance of relationship building as it related to how he was a successful human lever of retention. Bill recounted multiples instances in which he would find himself mentoring a student while he was "off the clock," but this was not important to him. Rather, what was important was that he was able to help the student and that his mentors had developed a relationship with him in which they felt they could come to him at any time and seek his guidance and advice. Bill focused on how peer mentors can be a moral support: "We can be there to just listen to, we can be just an ear or a shoulder to cry on." He cared deeply about being part of his mentees' support system he saw how successful it was in his role as a mentor.

Further, Bill stated that the one thing he wished he was better at was building relationships with all different types of students. He expressed that he would like to be able to relate to every student, giving the example of the single mothers whom he assisted. He struggled to identify how to connect with all of his students, though his acknowledgement of this and desire to improve on this area of his job above all else speaks to how valuable he perceived the role of relationship building in creating a sense of belonging for the student at the college. He was not the only peer mentor to articulate this recognition as relationship building being both vital to the success of the student and also one of the areas for improvement for the individuals that were high achieving human levers of success, consistently striving to better themselves to help more students.

Facilitating Connections to Resources

Community college students often bring with them to college a variety of life roles and personal challenges that complicate their academic journey. Whether those challenges are financial, intellectual, emotional, or a combination thereof; faculty members and peer mentors are often in the best position to help students connect with the resources that will provide them the support that can allow them to better navigate through challenges and overcome difficult circumstances that could potentially threaten their chances at success. As faculty members and peer mentors work closely with students and typically have more access to students than any other constituency on a campus, they may be the only group on campus who has the power to make students aware of important resources that are available to them.

Connecting students to helpful resources seems a natural extension of the characteristics demonstrated by the faculty members and peer mentors in the study. As we have established, both faculty members and peer mentors are committed to helping others and engaged in building relationships with their students. Therefore, connecting students to resources that can make a positive difference in their lives both on and off campus would be a logical action for such faculty members and peer mentors.

Community colleges often offer a variety of services and resources that can meet many different sorts of students' needs. From food pantries to free tutoring and childcare financial assistance to career counseling services; many campuses have numerous programs, personnel, and funding to assist students. The problem? Often students are unaware of the existence or availability of such resources, or they have absolutely no idea how to take advantage of them. Further, when a student is the only member of his family to attend college or even step foot on a college campus, it is understandable that such a

students would be quite unfamiliar with the services that are typically available for students. And while orientation programs may expose students to these resources, often students are not able to recall such information when a need arises because they were overwhelmed with all the information presented in an orientation, a problem that Eliza often observes in her FYE courses.

"Nobody ever told me about work study. I didn't know there were grants that could help me pay for school. I once *paid* for the FAFSA (Free Application for Federal Student Aid)! I didn't know how to get tutoring or talk to a career counselor. So these kinds of things are what I wish I had known about when I was an undergraduate," Eliza pointed out. A member of the board for the local United Way, Eliza took the position so that she could learn more about agencies in the community who might be able to help her students and meet needs they have that threaten their ability to be successful in classes. "I know they get tired of hearing about this stuff, and they probably think I'm nuts when I actually escort them different places on campus, but I really believe in the importance of knowing about what resources are available and taking advantage of them," Eliza explained.

John too believes in the importance of knowing a campus and what it has to offer. A club sponsor who considers himself to be active in "student life" initiatives, John makes sure to let his math students know about different student organizations, leadership opportunities, and ways that they can serve the campus and community. Helping students connect with activities outside the classroom is one of John's passions because, according to John, "Students need a space, a place where they can come together and feel like a family. They need to be able to ask questions of each other and not feel silly. If

they can connect with others, then when sometime goes badly or they are struggling, I think they're less likely to quit." He also thinks that student activities can give all students an opportunity to distinguish themselves, build confidence, and develop leadership abilities that will serve them well in the future.

Each of the faculty participants in the study provided at least one example of helping to connect students with campus resources. From reminding students of upcoming registration dates and encouraging students to meet with their academic advisors to helping students connect with staff in the financial aid office, the faculty members demonstrated a knowledge of available resources and a desire to help students take advantage of those resources. Two faculty members remarked that they invite representatives from the Academic Support Center (free student tutoring service) and TRiO (Student Support Services) to deliver quick presentations in their classes in order to get students exposed to the services and hopefully connect with at least one person from those offices. Half of the faculty participants reported that they had written an application for a student to receive emergency funding from the college's student emergency fund for a need such as emergency housing or transportation expenses. Nearly all of the participants shared that they had written a referral for mental health counseling for a student, which is another free resource available to students of the college. When asked how they themselves were aware of such services and how to take advantage of them, the faculty members explained that they had attending training sessions and formal meetings about different campus resources. Many had also sought out information on using certain resources by exploring the college's website or simply visiting offices themselves and asking questions.

Pamela, one of the peer mentors who was returning to college later in life, was especially intent on serving in the role of "connector to the resources available" for her students. Being a mother of two young children, Pamela had a personal knowledge base of the resources that were available and necessary to allow students like herself to be successful. Unfortunately, this was not the case the first time she came to college 15 years prior. Her first attempt was not a successful one, and she went on to credit resources as a large reason she was successful this time. Her number one priority in her role as a peer mentor was, "trying to make sure that all my mentees have gotten all the resources they need." She viewed connecting her students to the resources as providing for that which she did not have her first time around.

Bill also saw his role as connecting students to resources as one that was of the utmost importance. While many of the resources would fall into the category of student services, Bill, much like John the faculty member, believed strongly in the opportunity for campus life to connect students to the college and create a sense of belonging at the institution that allowed the student to flourish and be retained semester to semester. Bill would try to conclude every meeting he had with students by letting them know of a campus club that he thought either matched what they were seeking in a degree or aligned well with their hobbies. Bill was also an officer for three clubs on campus and attended many more on a less frequent basis. Bill stated that he would try to invite his mentees to attend a Movie Club viewing or Student Government Association meeting and that he would join them because he was going there too. He noted that the personal invitation had a large amount of success as the Movie Club, for which he was president,

had the largest participation of any club on campus, and many of the members started as mentees of his or were one of the mentee's friends.

Implications

Traditionally community college students as a group face a number of challenges that are less common in their counterparts enrolled in four-year institutions. These students are often first-generation college students from low socioeconomic backgrounds who are academically underprepared for college-level work. Besides their academic commitments, they often have numerous responsibilities: a full-time job, children or other dependents, or a home. The more affordable, open access institution is frequently the only opportunity for a student to pursue post-secondary education. However, put simply, several circumstances come together to make the average community college student of today vulnerable to failure. The challenges faced by today's typical community college student are often cited as a significant reason that such a low percentage of those who enroll in community college actually emerge with a credential or even continue beyond their first semester or academic year.

To provide students the support that will help them to persist toward graduation and/or transfer, community colleges must understand the resources they have and then leverage those resources in a way that will allow institutions to better serve students.

Community college faculty members and peer mentors have the potential to be among the most influential forces in a community college student's academic life. Because their actions can help to instill a sense of both mattering and validation in the students with whom they encounter, faculty members and peer mentors should be both selected and

trained by institutions based upon the characteristics, philosophies, knowledge, and behaviors that help these groups to encourage persistence among the students they serve.

In our study of faculty members and peer mentors, we hoped to uncover characteristics and behaviors that the participants had in common in order to better understand the experience of being what we called "a human lever of retention," meaning basically a mechanism or resource that the institution can harness in order to influence student persistence. As practitioners who work in faculty and student development, our hope was that by learning from those who had been identified as "human levers," we could then apply that knowledge to our work with faculty members and peer mentors in the community college setting.

When comparing the data from the faculty participants and the peer mentor participants, several common themes/characteristics emerged: a passion for helping others, efforts dedicated to building relationships with students, a desire to connect students with resources that could help meet both academic and non-academic needs, and a commitment to values associated with professionalism. We propose that institutions should consider these themes both when making hiring decisions and when orienting or providing ongoing professional development to faculty members and peer mentors who are employed by the institution.

The Hiring Process

Because each of the four common themes can related to an individual's personal and/or professional sense of ethics and values, we suggest that institutions develop prompts and questions in both the application and interview process that will allow them

to discover if a candidate displays ethics and values that are consistent with those shared by faculty and peer mentors who serve as "human levers of retention."

Applications, for example, could include questions related to helping others and building relationships. Candidates could be given written prompts on an application that could ask them to provide examples of ways in which they have helped and supported others in their personal or professional lives. Additional documents could provide insight into a candidate's values and behaviors related to the support of student persistence. For example, individuals and search committees could review and analyze a candidate's vita or resume to look for ways in which that document might indicate that the candidate possesses the qualities of a "human lever." A candidate might, for instance, belong to an organization in the community that provides help or support for others, or the candidate might indicate that he or she does volunteer work. This information could serve to inform the reviewer that the candidate dedicates his or her time to helping others and/or understands the importance of resources and the power of certain resources to make a positive difference in the lives of people.

In addition, search committees and others involved in the hiring process could analyze letters of reference provided by candidates for ways in which the letters reflect the traits and behaviors that are common in faculty and peer mentor "human levers." For example, when reviewing a reference, one could look for key ideas related to a candidate's commitment to helping others or building relationships. Finally, individuals or search committees seeking to hire new faculty members or peer mentors could prepare specific topics for conversations with a candidate's references, and such topics could help

to provide a picture of a candidate's sense of professionalism or ability to build relationships with students.

Prior to interviews with prospective employees, interviewers can develop a bank of questions that will allow them to get a better sense of the way that a candidate does or does not match up with the criteria that have been linked with being a potential "human lever." Candidates, for instance, might be asked to describe an instance in which they helped another individual to be successful. Or, to better understand a candidate's interest in and ability to build relationships with students, the interview(s) could ask a candidate to talk about strategies he or she intentionally uses or has used in the past in an effort to connect with students. Also, to learn more about a candidate's philosophy of and approach to professionalism, the committee could ask the candidate to describe a role model, mentor, or other individual who best illustrates the candidate's definition of professionalism; the committee could also ask the candidate to do the opposite and describe an unprofessional example or create a scenario that describes what would be unprofessional in their eyes.

Finally, remembering that at the heart of each of these themes is the importance of instilling a sense of mattering and validation in students, those responsible for hiring faculty members or peer mentors in community colleges should communicate this value to potential employees and then try to get a sense of how a candidate views these two concepts. In an interview, candidates might be asked to share a personal experience in which they felt marginalized or invalidated or vice versa. The candidate also could be asked to share ideas about he or she would validate students and communicate to students that they matter.

Reviewing materials and asking questions that help to illuminate whether or not a candidate's attitudes and approaches are consistent with the expectation that the candidate be a "human lever" that supports community college student persistence will allow those responsible for hiring faculty members and peer mentors to determine if an individual can meet that expectation. By prioritizing these types of attitudes and behaviors in the hiring process, institutions have the opportunity to acquire and nurture the faculty and peer mentors who will be a vital resource in the battle to help all students persist and complete.

In Faculty and Staff Development

Of course, the hiring process is only the first step in creating a faculty or staff of peer mentors that can best serve students and support a college's student retention efforts. With regard to staffing, many community colleges, especially those in rural areas are also challenged by a small labor pool from which to recruit faculty and staff. Institutions have an opportunity to provide ongoing, meaningful professional development that can help to support the goal of increasing student retention and completion rates. We suggest that institutions consider the themes that emerged from this study when considering the topics and tracks for professional development programming for both faculty and for peer mentor staff members.

The first interaction the majority of new faculty or new peer mentors will engage in is an orientation program designed to prepare them to start their new jobs and acculturate with the institution in general. Most orientation programs, academic or otherwise, seek to teach new employees the basic skills that will allow them to navigate

the new workplace: using technology, learning about the employer (mission, vision, values, history, etc.), studying expectations for employees, getting to know colleagues and supervisors, and reviewing policies and procedures related to the job. We suggest that institutions should consider adding content to orientations that is related to the characteristics of human levers of retention. For example, orientations could discuss the importance of mattering and validation and how building relationships with students and connecting students to resources can help to support students' feelings of mattering and validation.

Another common professional development program on many campuses is a learning community. Milton D. Cox (2004), Director of the Center for the Enhancement of Learning and Teaching at Miami University, provided the following definition of a faculty learning community (FLC): "a cross-disciplinary faculty and staff group of six to fifteen members (eight to twelve members is the recommended size) who engage in an active, collaborative, yearlong program with a curriculum about enhancing teaching and learning and with frequent seminars and activities that provide learning, development, the scholarship of teaching, and community building" (p. 8). Cox suggested that participation in a faculty learning community offers many benefits for both faculty members and for the students they serve. As many FLCs choose a theme around which to build the curriculum for the academic year and plan readings and other activities based on that theme, we suggest that designing faculty learning community curriculum based upon the characteristics of the human levers would provide faculty members with multiple opportunities to engage in the study and practice of attitudes and behaviors that could positively impact student persistence.

However, faculty members are not necessarily the only groups on campus who could benefit from participation in a learning community. In Cox's description of an FLC, he noted that staff members are also part of this group. Therefore, peer mentors could be invited to participate in some or all functions of an institution's FLC, or they could form their own learning community. We do suggest, though, that learning communities be open to constituencies on campus, rather than exclusive to faculty members. With that in mind, institutions should consider choosing a different name for this form of professional development, as non-faculty members may feel disenfranchised by the term FLC, which implies that the group is not inclusive of other groups on campus.

Often professional development on college campuses can take the form of guest lectures, presentations, workshops or seminars led by external trainers, or activities led by faculty members or different entities on a campus. In many cases, these types of professional development activities take place during beginning of semester "convocation" programs or during designated professional development days on a campus. When planning the topics and themes for such events, faculty and staff developers could focus on providing professional development that supports student persistence by offering programs that help faculty and staff members to better understand and serve as human levers of retention.

One important factor to consider, though, is that it is important not to alienate faculty members or peer mentors who might consider themselves more introverted or less social than their colleagues who seem to easily and comfortably connect with students.

Therefore, professional development related to relationship building must provide a

variety of strategies and a flexible definition of "relationship building," emphasizing and validating that there are many ways in which all faculty members or peer mentors can hope to connect with students.

Another important way that professional development and training for faculty and peer mentors can help to support retention is by encouraging faculty members and peer mentors to be observant about students' needs and challenges and be prepared to connect students with resources that can help them to persist. Representatives from departments or offices that provide various forms of support to students (tutoring, financial aid, counseling services, or other programs that represent resources for students) should be encouraged to develop presentations that can be given during faculty or staff meetings or during professional development programming for faculty.

By using the professional development mechanism and resources that institutions already have in place, it is possible to reach every faculty and staff member with knowledge about ways in which they can support student persistence by serving as a human lever. From orientations for newly hired faculty and staff members to learning communities related to developing traits associated with human levers, to ongoing professional development in the form of workshops and lectures; institutions have or can readily have activities in place that can better prepare employees to serve as human levers.

Further Research

While much has been learned with regard to how these human levers of retention perform at these individual institutions, this is merely their story of successes and what

they believe helped make an impact on retention. Further research, both qualitative and quantitative, should be conducted to test the effectiveness of these four practices and attitudes to impact student retention at community colleges at large.

Additionally, our research focused on institutions that were already successful and known for their successes within the state of Kentucky. More specifically we picked the two levers of retention that each college was most known for and most effective with.

Further research could be done at institutions in which they are not known for their successes with faculty engagement and peer mentoring and then compare the better performing institutions practices and attitudes to those espoused by institutions that have not been as effective with these levers of retention.

Finally, further research could explore the student perspective on experiences working with faculty or peer mentors who have been identified as potential human levers of retention. Students, for example, could be asked to compare and contrast their experiences with these faculty and staff members with experiences with other faculty and staff who have not been designated as such. While we have gained an understanding of the faculty and peer mentor perspective, we have not studied the students with whom our population works. This information could, therefore, add depth to a further study.

Chapter 3

It's Not the People, It's Their Practices: Student

Practitioners Making an Impact on Student Success

With performance-based funding solidifying itself as the new norm in higher education, universities and community colleges are scrambling to identify means by which they can increase the retention of students without significantly impacting the college's bottom dollar expenditures. This corporatization of higher education, in examining the bottom dollar impact as well as the return on investment (ROI) of multiple initiatives across campuses has resulted in many institutions relying on tried and true levers of retention. These initiatives that institutions put into place to 'move the needle' on retention have been termed levers of retention by Braxton and Mundy (2001). Successful levers of retention consist of initiatives such as mandatory orientation, learning communities, identifying a final day to enroll in classes, etc. One of the most commonly used, and more successful, levers of retention that community colleges are employing at an increasing rate is that of instituting a peer mentoring program, this is especially true in the Kentucky Community and Technical College System (KCTCS). Peer mentoring programs are not a new invention within higher education, and research on their successfulness exist in both higher education and corporate realms for that matter. The impact of peer mentoring as a lever of retention is well documented and accepted without question, thus contributing to the increase in peer mentoring programs in community colleges. Within KCTCS, Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College (SKYCTC) implemented the state's first peer mentoring program in

2015. The enaction of this lever of retention resulted in an average increase to retention of 15% amongst those that participated in the program. With a low cost per hour of labor, this program has been able to maintain a more than positive ROI netting the institution approximately 150k annually in return for the 100k annual investment in the program. This high ROI is possible through the usage of student practitioners as the primary means by which the program is run.

While much research exists to show the successes, program development and layouts of peer mentoring as a lever of retention, there is little research on the individuals who implement the lever of retention. In the case of SKYCTC it would be the student practitioners who become the lever of retention for the institution. Those students that fulfill the role of mentor, guide and coach new and incoming students to the community college. What is it about these student practitioners that allows them to be so successful as a lever of retention? What about their work styles and daily practices allow them to encourage the students they assist to persist at a higher rate than the students that do participate in the mentoring program? The purpose of this exploratory research is not to evaluate the program's effectiveness, but to learn the practices and attitudes that the peer mentors of SKYCTC apply in their work as a human lever of retention.

This study of peer mentoring is part of a larger collaborative research project exploring the experiences of both community college faculty and peer mentors as levers of retention (Russell & Barron, 2019). During the 2017-2018 academic year, we conducted an explorative qualitative study with the goal of examining, from the perspective of faculty and peer mentors, ways in which community colleges might positively impact student persistence by leveraging their existing resources, namely their

faculty and students themselves. We hoped to determine what traits, behaviors, attitudes, and skills held by these campus players could potentially positively influence retention. Our goal was to discover common themes and characteristics among those faculty members and peer mentors in order to better understand the knowledge, skills, preparation, and behavior of a human lever of retention.

This article explores in more depth the experiences of peer mentors who have been identified as effective human levers of retention, I sought to learn more about the ways in which these students conceive of their roles, their behaviors and skills, and the role of their institution in their work as levers of retention. The following questions guided this research:

- A. In what ways do those identified as human levers of retention intentionally seek to positively influence retention and student success?
- B. What common background characteristics, behaviors, motivations, attitudes, and approaches to working with students are shared by those identified as human levers of retention? In what ways do they feel they are distinguished from their colleagues in this area?
- C. In what ways do those identified as human levers of retention define themselves as peer mentors, and how do they describe their role both at the institution and in the broader society?
- D. What institutional practices and policies, in the views of the participants, support them as human levers of retention, and what institutional practices and policies hinder their ability to serve as an effective lever of retention?

For this study, the problem of practice is student attrition in the community college, and the phenomenon being explored is that of the peer mentor acting as human levers of retention. The program selected is the peer mentoring program at SKYCTC because of its unique status as the first of its kind in the State of Kentucky. Additionally, because of the maturity of the program it presents an additional added benefit in that there have been 43 current or prior peer mentors at the time the research was conducted. The goal of this study was to explore the experiences of these peer mentors and their perspectives on their role as levers of retention.

The primary method of generating data for this study was interviews with peer mentors. The research in this case provides a means to understand the shared character traits and backgrounds of the student practitioner serving in the role of peer mentor.

Understanding the driving forces of these peer mentors can have multiple implications for future research and trainings to support the creation and development of additional peer mentoring programs. Being able to identify successful peer mentors in the hiring process allows for the most optimal scenario to enact peer mentoring as a lever of retention, there by continuing to allow community colleges to be good stewards of the resources given to them.

Literature Review

Providing Access and Support for Community College Students

Braxton and Mundy (2001) propose that the solution to the college student retention problem should be "derived from the theory and research of several theoretical

approaches" (p. 91) because the ill-structured problem of retention calls for multiple approaches. For this reason, the authors recommend that institutions practice multiple "institutional levers of action" to reduce student departure. Braxton and Mundy (2001) provide 47 recommendations, all emanating from their review of the retention literature, which should serve to promote student persistence. When examined closely, what many of these "levers of retention" described in 47 recommendations have in common is the human element of the institution. In other words, institutions should seek to understand the human needs of their students and should strive to meet those needs by preparing the people who work with those students to serve as human levers of retention.

In her study of ways in which community colleges could better promote student persistence and completion, Goldrick-Rab (2007) explains that students' "family backgrounds, prior education experiences, and educational expectations" [often fail] to "intersect with colleges' institutional structures, practices, and policies" (p. 1). Hoffman (2014) also suggests that attrition can be related to factors such as poor academic progress or financial problems, but she observes attrition can also stem from "...a poor academic self-concept, a lack of motivation, and minimal social integration and adjustment" (p. 13).

Engstrom and Tinto (2008) argue "Access without support is not opportunity. That institutions do not intentionally exclude students from college does not mean they are including them as fully valued members of the institution and providing them with support that enables them to translate access into success" (p. 50). Engstrom and Tinto (2008) point out that the success of students depends upon institutional structures and activities that are carefully aligned with and directed to student success. Barefoot (2004)

argues that research related to retention typically explores the student characteristics related to retention, or researchers examine how external environments can impact student persistence. However, according to Barefoot (2004), "Little research exists that explores the role of the college or university environment—especially the classroom itself—on student persistence" (p. 9).

Tinto and Braxton's Models of Commuter Student Retention

Vincent Tinto's Interactionalist Theory of student retention, according to Braxton et al. (2014), "enjoys paradigmatic stature" (p. 3). According to Braxton (2014) Tinto's theory of student persistence "puts emphasis on the student's interpretation of their interactions with the academic and social communities of a given college or university" (p. 73). Pascarella and Terenzini (1991) describe Tinto's explanation of the college attrition process, which suggests that "students enter a college or university with varying patterns of personal, family, and academic characteristics and skills, including personal dispositions and intentions with respect to college attendance and personal goals" (p. 51). Then, according to Pascarella and Terenzini, interactions between the individual and the institution help to shape the students' intentions and commitments toward the institution longitudinally. The authors explain that Tinto's theory suggests "Satisfying and rewarding encounters with the formal and informal academic and social systems of the institution are presumed to lead to greater integration in those systems and thus to student retention" (p. 51). Braxton et al. (2014) explain that Tinto "postulates that academic and social integration influence a student's subsequent commitments to the institution and to the goal of graduation" (p. 74). Therefore, the greater the levels of academic and social integration, "the greater the level of subsequent commitment to the focal college or

university" (Braxton et. Al, 2014, p. 74). Additionally, according to Braxton (2000), "Tinto (1997) contends that if social integration is to occur, it must occur in the classroom because the classroom functions as a gateway for student involvement in the academic and social communities of a college" (p. 570). In summarizing Tinto's 1993 theory of retention, Shelton (2000) notes that students must feel that they benefit from their educational experience, so if students do not integrate socially and academically, "varying forms of dropout behavior will result, including transferring to a different institution, leaving higher education voluntarily, or failing academically" (p. 69).

Braxton and his colleagues, however, question the validity of the Tinto framework to explain the student departure process, particularly as it relates to commuter students. Braxton et al. (2014) report that 13 testable propositions are apparent from Tinto's 1975 model, which Braxton et al. (2014) suggest require strong empirical support in order to prove truly consistent and valid to understanding the student departure problem. According to Braxton et al. (2014) using the "box score" method, Braxton, Sullivan, and Johnson (1997) evaluated the level of empirical support for Tinto's propositions. Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon (2004) explained their method, noting, "The percentage of tests of a given proposition that affirm the position provides the basis for the box score for each of the thirteen propositions. Strong empirical support was allocated to a proposition of 66 percent or more of three or more tests of that proposition yielded statistically significant affirmation" (p. 11-12). The authors then explain the way in which they determined if support was moderate or weak. Braxton et al. (2014) reported that, regarding research conducted at two-year colleges, only one of the thirteen propositions showed strong empirical support and therefore Tinto's theory "lacks

explanatory power in commuter institutional settings" (p. 78). According to Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon (2004), Tinto's proposition that "student entry characteristics directly affect the likelihood of students' persistence in college" (p. 17) was the only one that received a score indicating robust support.

Therefore, in the monograph *Understanding and Reducing College Student* Departure (2004), Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon propose a need to both "seriously revise Tinto's theory and to propose other theories" (p. 2) that would help to account for student departure from both residential and commuter institutions. According to Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon (2004), Tinto's "interactionalist theory fails to adequately address" (p. 35) the unique characteristics of commuter institutions, which the authors state "lack well-defined and -structured social communities for students to establish membership" (p. 35) and are attended by students who "typically experience conflicts among their obligations to family, work, and college" (p. 35). In *Understanding and* Reducing College Student Departure (2004), Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon describe how they constructed their theory of student departure, which describes sixteen propositions to help explain their student departure theory in commuter institutions, and they categorize these propositions according to four areas: economic, organizational, psychological, and sociological. Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon (2004) explain, "The basic elements of this theory include student entry characteristics, the external environment, the campus environment, and the academic communities of the institution" (p. 42-43).

Braxton et al. (2014) describe the four categories that make up the component parts of the theory of student departure, along with revisions made to the 2004 theory.

The authors noted that academic ability, past academic achievement, and level of initial commitment to the institution can be categorized as entry characteristics. In addition to the characteristics commonly cited by a number of theories, Braxton et al. (2014) contended, other student entry characteristics, such as students' motivation to attend college, their need for control, their sense of self-efficacy, their empathy, their need for social affiliation, their parents' educational level, and their engagement in anticipatory socialization prior to college entrance, emanate from the characteristics of the external environment and the campus environment of commuter colleges and universities (p. 111-112).

Regarding students' external environment, the authors presented information regarding the conflicts students in commuter institutions fact between their lives outside of the institution and their participation in higher education, and Braxton et al. (2014) argued that, for these students, "encouragement and support for attending college becomes crucial" (p. 112). The authors also point out that students who receive support for college attendance from significant others are more likely to persist in a commuter institution, and adequate financial support can encourage more support from significant others.

Braxton et al. (2014) also describe the impact of the campus environment on "student perceptions of their experiences the institutional environment of the commuter college or university" (p. 113). Like Braxton, Tinto (1997) acknowledges that students who commute to college, particularly those who have numerous external obligations, do not have the opportunities for social integration that students in residential colleges are given. In their discussion of the campus environment, Braxton et al. (2014) observe that

commuter students typically spend their time on campus hurrying to attend classes and engage in activities necessary to meeting degree requirements, and the authors observed that students typically then leave campus in a hurry to meet personal or work obligations off campus, limiting the kinds of social involvement for students at these institutions. According to Braxton et al. (2014), "These forms of comings and goings create a 'buzzing confusion'" (p. 113) that students must learn to adjust to if they are to make progress toward completion. Braxton et al. (2014) noted that the buzzing confusion contributes to commuter students' need "to believe that attending college will result in academic success and graduation" (p. 114). Further, the authors contend that "the lack of well-defined and ill-structure student social communities poses difficulties to students with a need for social affiliation" (p. 115).

Braxton et al. (2014) explain that "commitment of the institution to student welfare and institutional integrity encompass such organizational characteristics" (p. 116). Braxton et al. (2014) suggest that students are more committed to an institution that appears to be true to its goals and mission and displays concern for the students' welfare. Kuh et al. (2005) observe, "Students perform better and are more satisfied at colleges that are committed to their success and cultivate positive working and social relations among different groups on campus" (p. 13). According to Braxton et al. (2014), "the more a student perceives that their college or university is committed to the welfare of its students, the greater the student's degree of subsequent commitment to their college or university" (p. 117). Braxton and Mundy (2001-2002) contend that, to build upon Tinto's three principles of effective retention, "A fourth principle might emphasize institutional characteristics such as mission, culture, structure, and organization as critical

counterparts to the current retention principles that focus on the individual student, faculty, staff and/or administration" (p. 95).

By considering retention from a student development perspective and placing student development at the core of the institutional mission, institutions can create a culture that better meets the needs of students and promotes persistence toward completion. According to Braxton and Mundy (2001-2002), "Colleges and universities that assure that student learning is not left to chance best illustrate this principle in action (p. 95).

Rendon's Validation Theory, Rosenberg's Mattering Theory, and Schlossberg's Transition Theory as Complements to Tinto's and Braxton's Models of Retention

Significant connections to others can enhance a student's sense of being valued and cared for (Roberts & Stryron, 2010; Jacoby, 2000). Conceptually defined as validation, sense of belonging, and mattering, researchers have explored the ways in which positive relationships can make a difference to students' experiences.

Rendon's (1994) research on the theory of validation provides insight into the importance of positive relationships on campus. Rendon observes that today's diverse student body is more likely to feel alienated by traditional college culture in which competition and passive learning are the common practice. Rendon's data from interviews collected from diverse community college students suggested that faculty who fostered academic validation in interactions with students helped students to "trust their innate capacity to learn and to acquire confidence in being a college student" (p. 40).

Rendon adds that validating actions both in class and out of class helped to foster individual and social integration.

Rendon's (1994) study indicates that students were transformed by "incidents where some individual, either in-or out-of-class, took an active interest in them—when someone took the initiative to lend a helping hand, to do something that affirmed them as being capable of doing academic work and that supported them in their academic efforts and social adjustment" (p. 44). In Rendon's keynote address to the American River Community College (1994), she noted that students, particularly non-traditional and culturally diverse students, will be more likely to persist if faculty members help students to develop positive attitudes about their capacity to learn. Explaining the difference between involvement and validation, Rendon (1994) explained that validation occurs when someone actively reaches out to support students in their academic endeavors and affirms their ability to be successful, powerful learners; and Rendon urged that this validation must occur in a student's critical first semester.

Barnett (2011) echoes Rendon's call for validation of students in community colleges, stating that validation may actually be more important than academic and social integration. Barnett's examples of validating behaviors by faculty and college staff include "talking with students about their personal goals, showing an appreciation of their personal and cultural history, or taking extra time to help students learn class material" (p. 197). Barnett's study of community college students suggested that "higher levels of faculty validation modestly predicted increases in students' intent to persist," with three sub constructs of validation (caring instruction, students feeling known and valued, and students being mentored by faculty members) showing significant impact on students'

intent to persist. According to Barnett (2011), these findings are particularly important when considering community college students both because of today's community college student population and the fact that community college students primarily engage with the college environment in the classroom. Barnett concluded that a focus on validation of community college students could help institutions to retain students more effectively.

Similar to Rendon's validation theory is the concept of mattering, originally introduced by Morris Rosenberg in 1981, defined as "...the perception that, to some degree and in any variety of ways, we are a significant part of the world around us" (Elliott and Kao, 2004, p. 339). Schlossberg (1989) applies the concept of mattering to higher education, suggesting that commuter students have been made to feel marginalized by the institutions, which is the opposite of mattering. Further, Schlossberg contends that in a period of transition, feeling marginalized puts students at risk of attrition. Transition, as defined by Schlossberg (1989), is any event that causes a change in routines, values, assumptions, roles, or relationships. As Schlossberg (1989) explains, though often commuter students and college personnel can view students' transition to higher education as a "non-event," it is important to understand the challenges that occur during transitional periods. Further, many students enroll in community college due to other transitions in their lives such as changes in employment or family circumstances. Schlossberg (1989) describes commuter students as often feeling like "strangers in a new world" who do not feel control over their lives or a sense of confidence in their ability to meet standards set by professors. Schlossberg's (1989) research suggests that student

who felt they mattered to an institution or an individual within the institution were more engaged in learning.

Shelly (2014) outlines five aspects of mattering identified by Schlossberg, which include attention, importance, ego-extension, dependence, and appreciation. Shelly (2014) explains that students need to feel that others have noticed them and are interested in them, that others care about what happens to them, that other people are proud of their successes and concerned about their failures, that they are needed by others, and that others notice their efforts. According to Shelly (2014), "Knowing that we matter helps us to persist through our discomfort when we change roles or when we move from a familiar and safe environment to a new and challenging one" (p. 3).

The Role of Peers and Peer Mentoring in Community College Student Persistence

One of the levers that many community colleges have chosen in order to address the need
to support student completion is the usage of mentoring programs. The utilization of
mentoring programs at the community college level has greatly increased in recent years,
as well as the research centered on the impacts, variables, definitions, and assessments of
the mentoring programs. While there are multiple types of mentoring programs (facultyto-faculty, faculty-to-student, community-to-student, and peer-to-peer), peer mentoring
programs can be a programmatic lever institutions can use to address issues of retention
and persistence within the community college, meeting all three of Tinto's principles of
effective retention.

The influence of peers in a college setting has been the source of a number of studies, as researchers have observed that peers are often one of the first points contact

for new students making the transition to college. Further, according to (Crisp, 2009; DiTommaso, 2010), peer mentoring has been shown in multiple studies to have a positive impact on student retention, though further research is required for an in depth explanation of the factors that have contributed to its success. Peer mentoring seeks to increase the social integration and social capital of the students who are coming to college. Effective peer mentoring serves to increase students' social integration, academic integration, goal setting behaviors, and institutional commitment (Nora and Crisp, 2007; DiTommaso, 2010; Crisp, 2009; Khazanov, 2011). Further the student practitioners used in peer mentoring can fill the role of "some individual" reaching out during the "critical first semester" as Rendon's validation theory states is necessary to successful student retention (1994).

For example, the authors suggested that to increase student retention and success, "colleges should conduct training for faculty, staff, and administrators to promote awareness and knowledge of appropriate resources within both Academic Affairs and Student Affairs that connect and support students in their transition process" (qtd. In Nora and Crisp, 2007). Another recommended lever of retention is to, "design mentoring programs in such a way that psychological growth occurs along the following dimensions: approach/avoidance coping strategies, locus of control, academic and social self-efficacy" (p. 114). However, to implement a peer mentoring program that can serve as an effective lever of retention, it is important to define mentoring and understand what empirical research states regarding the characteristics of effective mentors and mentoring relationships.

Four Domains to Mentoring

Amuary Nora and Gloria Crisp (2007) identified four key domains that should be present in every mentoring program. The first of the four domains is psychological and emotional support. This can come in many forms from being a source of encouragement and motivation to simply an ear to listen. This is especially critical for onboarding first-time-in-college students that may be the first in their families to attend college and have a limited social capital for handling the rigor and uniqueness that college presents to incoming freshmen. In this situation the mentor can be expected to provide the additional moral support needed to encourage the incoming student to persist and work towards completing the educational goals that they have set before themselves.

The second key domain to a mentor relationship is that of helping the protégé with goal setting and finding a career pathway. Within this domain, Nora and Crisp (2007) have identified six different attributes of focus: 1) a review of the protégé's strengths and weaknesses, major and career interest, and beliefs; 2) participation in critical thinking exercises with regard to the future of the protégé; 3) a reflection in which both the mentor and the mentee reflect on the paths being considered and selected; 4) instruction in goal setting practices; 5) analysis and evaluation of past decisions and discussion regarding decision-making processes; and 6) support and encouragement of the mentee's dreams (p. 343). According to Nora and Crisp (2007) each of these steps is highly valuable in assisting mentees to both visualize and realize their goals and aspirations.

The third key domain, according to Nora and Crisp (2007) is academic subject knowledge support. This is not necessarily referring to a specific academic field at all

times, like mathematics; instead it is important for the student-to-student mentor-to-mentee relationship that the mentee have a good understanding of the social capital required in order to be successful in higher education. This is especially important when the mentee is a first-generation college student with minimal additional outside resources that can help explain to them what to expect at the collegiate level. Also, if the mentee is coming from a low socioeconomic background it is important that the mentor be able to help bridge the gap to the middle class norms that higher education operates within.

Nora and Crisp (2007) noted that the fourth domain is that of being a role model. It is imperative that the mentor be able to use his or her life experiences both inside the classroom and out to help the mentee gain a better grasp of the expectations and a pathway in which they might navigate along their educational journey. It is within this fourth domain that the mentors have the greatest ability to share with their mentees the social capital that is needed to be a successful student and be retained into the second semester and second year of college.

Methodology

Glesne (2006) explains that qualitative research seeks "to make sense of personal narratives and the ways in which they intersect" (p. 1). Rubin and Rubin (1995) observed that qualitative research, particularly interviewing, allows researchers "to acquire a rich understanding of other people's lives and experiences" (p. vii). According to Glesne (2006), "Qualitative research methods are used to understand social phenomena from the perspectives of those involved, to contextualize issues in their particular socio-cultural-political milieu, and sometimes to transform or change social conditions" (p. 4). This study seeks to understand the experiences of peer mentoring from the perspectives of a

set of peer mentors at SKYCTC, particularly with regard to the ways they understand their roles in the support of student success at the college.

Creswell (2014) described qualitative research as an approach that allows researchers to explore and make sense of "the meaning individuals or groups ascribe to a social or human problem" (p. 4). The assumption in this study, then, is that the peer mentors and faculty members who have been identified as being the human levers of retention would provide the best insight into the phenomenon of actually being one of those individuals. They are the best sources of data to explain their backgrounds, their experiences, their philosophies, their challenges, and their approaches to their work.

The following questions guided the research:

- C. In what ways do those identified as human levers of retention intentionally seek to positively influence retention and student success?
- D. What common background characteristics, behaviors, motivations, strengths, priorities, attitudes, and approaches to working with students are shared by those identified as human levers of retention? In what ways do they feel they are distinguished from their colleagues in this area?

Site and Participant Selection

Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College (SKYCTC) was selected as the site for the peer mentor study because the college has an established peer mentoring program and has collected several semesters' worth of student retention data indicating that the program could have influenced some of the gains in student persistence semester-to-semester. SKYCTC created the program in a response to the increased emphasis on retention and graduation rates after realizing that despite an above

average three-year graduation rate (approximately 33% at the time), the only way to continue to improve was to find a way to ensure more students made it past the first semester and into the second. At the time of implementation, the first semester rate of persistence into the second semester was approximately 72%. Since developing and implementing the peer mentoring program, retention of first-semester students at SKYCTC has increased to 87-90% depending on the semester; further, their overall three-year graduation rate increased to 36%.

This commitment to student success did not come without an institutional cost. An annual allocation of 100k is set aside each year to run and operate the program. This budget is significantly dedicated to salaries of the peer mentors, with approximately 98% of the budget going to this cause. The remaining 2% is then allocated to employee uniforms, name badges, and office supplies. The program is run through the Office of Student Life and Engagement and the peer mentors serve as additional support to that office to help facilitate campus engagement opportunities when they are not meeting with their mentees. Each semester 15-20 peer mentors are hired to serve the needs of 900 incoming students in the fall and 550 in the spring, of which approximately half will participate in the peer mentoring program each semester. Hiring and leadership is provided by the Director of Student Life and Engagement.

The Student Ambassador Program SKYCTC is the first of its kind in KCTCS. Student Ambassadors at SKYCTC must complete at least 12 credit hours at SKYCTC, maintain at least a 3.0 GPA, and obtain a letter of recommendation from a faculty member in order to be considered for employment as a peer mentor. Student Ambassadors are paid \$10 per hour for 15 hours per week to serve as peer mentors for

incoming students to the college. They are provided with 30 hours of training focused upon how to be a successful peer mentor and what their role in retention and student success will consist of. The training mirrors that of which would be required of academic advisors, but differs in that the peer mentors are clearly informed to consistently remember that they are not an academic advisor and instead their role is to serve as a coach and guide along the student's educational journey. The training has evolved over the course of the program and is currently facilitated and created by the previous year's peer mentors based on what they believe is the most important key factors for the student and peer mentor's success.

Once the peer mentors have been trained, they are then paired with a population of students that match their general majors. Students going into the technical fields receive a mentor who is currently majoring in a technical field. Associate of Arts majors are paired with other associate of arts majors and so on. This was done to allow the peer mentor the opportunity to speak directly to the courses and experience their assigned mentee would be experiencing. The average case load of students ranged from 30-40, while the technical fields had a higher case load do to less intensive participation from that population of students.

After being assigned their mentee list, peer mentors reach out to the entire list of potential mentees and encourage the mentees to come in and meet with their assigned peer mentor at their earliest convenience. They are intentional to ensure that the students know it is an expectation for participation, as the college has invested significantly in the program, though they do not tell them it is required. They reach out to the mentees via phone and email. Once a meeting is established the best method for contact is determined

and used from that point on. For those students that choose not to participate, they are made aware that they will continue to receive weekly emails with important "need to know" activities for the first semester.

The meetings themselves are semi-structured. Meetings follow a step-by-step checklist created by the prior year's peer mentors, and cover topics of goal setting and welcoming to the college; planning for the second semester; and, scholarships to pay for college. Each meeting has a suggested step-by-step process that most will follow, though all make minor variations and are encouraged to take ownership of their work, with the mindset that the peer mentors will create the training for next year's mentors.

All 43 current and former Student Ambassadors as of August 2017 were invited to participate in the research study. Each of the peer mentors were invited to participate in the research based on all peer mentors being previously identified as excellent students and peer leaders who went through a competitive hiring process in which they were selected from more than 200 candidates for the job of peer mentor. Potential participants then were asked to self-select for participation if they felt that they were an exemplary peer mentor.

Of note is the demographics of the students that self-selected into participation in this research is a good representation of the composition of the peer mentors as a whole. Half of the peer mentor participants were in their second experience with college after either a not so successful first attempt, or a significant major change between the first and second attempt. Some had completely failed out of college in their first attempt and took multiple years to join the workforce before returning to earn their degree. For these

students, there was a since of trying to ensure others did not make their same mistakes along their educational journey. For many of these students there was an enhanced focus on the cost of attending college.

Also, three of the peer mentors who participated in the research immediately went to college graduating high school early. These students would most often be described as having high academic standards and their studies were of great significance to them.

These students emerged as leaders within the program, despite the large age gap between them and their peers. They possessed maturity beyond their years.

Additionally, one of the potential participants that had expressed a desire to participate had to remove herself from the pool as she had recently married a US Marine and expected to relocate multiple time within the research period and did not believe that she would be able to participate fully.

Table 3.1 Peer Mentor Demographics

Gender	Age	Major
Female	18**	Radiography
Female	23*	Associate of Arts
Male	33*	Welding
Male	24	Computer Science
Female	32*	Surgical Tech
Male	19**	Associate of Arts

Female	24*	Associate of Arts
Female	19**#	Associate of Arts /
		Culinary
Female	21#	Medical Information
		Technology
Female	40*	Computer Science

^{*}second attempt at college

Data Collection and Analysis

I conducted two individual interviews of appreciative inquiry with each of the participants. The first interview focused upon background characteristics such as educational pathways, educational experiences, and professional aspirations. The second set of interviews asked participants to share their specific approaches to and strategies for working with community college students. I also asked participants about the ways in which they conceived of their role peer mentors. All interviews were recorded and then transcribed using an electronic transcription service. I compared the original recordings with written transcripts to ensure accuracy. Originally, 7 participants emerged from the study and while multiple themes emerged, and I believed a saturation point had been reached, to be sure one more round of invitations was sent. Three additional participants chose to participate and confirmed the saturation of major themes.

As part of the larger collaborative study, Kim and I composed a short memo to record initial impressions and a brief, overall summary of each interview within a day of the interview's completion, and these interviews were stored in folders along with the individual transcripts for each interview. In addition, we shared the transcripts and

^{**}early High School graduate

[#]original peer mentor

summaries from our respective fieldwork for increased rigor. We individually and then collaboratively reviewed each interview transcript and generated initial open codes, we then returned to the data iteratively examining relationships between those codes and in the context of our framework of validation and mattering theories.

Once all transcripts were open coded and then reviewed and compared by both researchers, the researchers met to make connections between the open codes, and those open codes considered both valid and important by both researchers were aggregated, creating axial codes that were more thematic in nature. For example codes such as "assisting students with financial aid questions," "taking students to an office that can help them," "letting students know about counseling on campus," and "helping students learn to navigate the college website" were all combined (with other related open codes) to generate the axial code "connecting students to college resources." The axial codes were then used to again code each transcript, and interviewers worked together to generate a document in which emergent themes were described. This document then served as the basis for discussion that took place in group meetings.

I then met with the students for a group interview lasting approximately two hours, with Kim assisting to listen and take notes as I facilitated the meeting. I did the same for her in group interviews with faculty. I shared with the mentors our preliminary analysis of the data and asked for their feedback. I then incorporated these data into the next iteration of analysis to develop my working assertions further.

Role of Researchers

As Kim and I are both employees of the colleges selected as the sites for our collaborative project, it is important to the integrity of our work that we examine our

roles within the institutions and our reasons for the selection of the two sites. Though we acknowledge that convenience played a role in our site selection process, we argue that the two sites we selected met our selection criteria in that both institutions offered subjects—faculty in one case and students in the other—who were part of a group that had demonstrated effectiveness. Because we wanted to learn about the people who represented a "best case" type of scenario, these two sites met our needs.

It is essential for us to have an understanding of the ways in which our positions and roles impact a number of aspects of our study. For the sake of our ability to analyze the data we collect and to understand the connection between our own personal/professionals perspectives and the ways in which that impacts how we interpret what we see and hear. Further, knowing ourselves and acknowledging the factors that influence our own biases and expectations have allowed us to more clearly and objectively find meaning in our data. For the sake of our audience, it is important that we make a genuine effort to describe our backgrounds and roles so that readers can further contextualize the information we share and hopefully develop enhanced confidence in the validity and trustworthiness of our work.

At the time of the study, I served as the Director of Student Life and Engagement at SKYCTC. I am also a community college graduate who has a passion for the community college as an institution. I worked in student affairs at a Texas Community College for several years before moving to Kentucky to accept my position at SKYCTC. I helped to develop, organize, and supervise a peer mentoring program at the Texas community college; and I was asked to develop a similar program when came to SKYCTC. I spent over four years handling all aspects of the Student Ambassador

Program at SKYCTC, including structuring, budgeting, hiring, training, assessing, recruiting, and marketing.

As we embarked our research project, there were several ethical questions and other issues to consider, and perhaps the most important one is to be able to understand ourselves as researchers. We needed to consider how our own experiences and beliefs shape the way we perceive what we saw and heard. Because we conducted "backyard" research, we needed to be careful not to let what we think we know about these human subjects affect our data collection and ability to listen and observe carefully. Both in the interviews and in the reporting of data, it was important not to project ourselves on the participants. Further, it was important that participants felt that they could be candid in their responses to questions and that no professional or personal harm would result from their participation in the study.

We both acknowledge that the integrity of the study depends upon the way in which the ethical issues surrounding backyard research are both honestly acknowledged and thoughtfully handled throughout the study. We understood that failure to consider the ethical concerns surrounding the study could result in loss of credibility, professional relationships, and reputation both inside and outside the institutions. In addition, unethical behaviors could possibly compromise the opportunity for future researchers to work within the institutions.

Several procedures and practices were structured to allow us to maintain the ethical integrity of the study. First, we allowed other parties to identify the participants within the parameters of the research design. Also, the criteria used to identify the

participants was based upon a review of literature completed by both researchers and could, therefore, be used to identify participants in any community college, not just the two with which we are affiliated. Working as a team we provided support and an internal "audit" for one another's subjectivity. With both researchers coding all interview data, reviewing all documents collected, and participating in on one another's group interviews, we added to the validity of the work, which helped to preserve the overall integrity of the study. Finally, by involving participants in activities designed to serve as "member checking," we further ensured our data was accurately represented and communicated.

It is unrealistic to expect that researchers come to a project with a completely blank slate. It is also undesirable that a researcher is a completely blank slate, as his or her previous experiences and knowledge about the topic can serve to enrich the researcher's understanding of the data. However, what is essential is that researchers acknowledge these factors to themselves as well as to their audiences and subjects. There are standards for good research, and good research is not necessarily "objective" at all. Rather, an ethical researcher is able to show how his or her ethics helped to shape the design process in order for the work to meet the standards of quality research.

Findings

The emergent practices and attributes I defined during the analysis of individual interviews were supported in the group interview. Two themes emerged. First, that these peer mentors had an understanding of the value of higher education and the cultural capital it takes to see the big picture: professionalism, being goal driven, and recognizing the economics of higher education. Second, that these peer mentors had a lot of academic

capital (knowing how to study, how to work the class/faculty/academic work environments, how to build relationships with others to help them and nurture them, how to capitalize on resources including finding the funding to make it all work). These two layers of cultural awareness created the framework for good peer mentoring.

Cultural Capital

Self-awareness of what Bourdieu (1979) calls cultural capital—norms, dispositions, attitudes, language traits, and behaviors—that is required to be a successful student in the social field of higher education is an attribute that all participants exhibited in some way. While it may have been articulated differently by all, the key dispositions and attitudes necessary to being a successful human lever of retention were that of professionalism, being goal driven and having an understanding of the cost of their education. Additionally, each of the peer mentors exhibited a well-defined sense of who their future self would be and they utilized this self-knowledge to ensure that who they were today would lead to their desired results of their future self. Not only did the students possess this cultural capital, they recognized that sharing these dispositions, attitudes, and skills with their mentees was an important part of being a successful peer mentor.

Successful student practitioners have a professional sense of self with a sense of maturity and an organized approach to assisting the mentees. Within the group of participants, half were non-traditional students who had not immediately successfully started their education after high school. While it may be expected that these five students would bring a sense of maturity to the job from their simple age maturity, maturity was something that was shared throughout all peer mentors regardless of age or experience,

including two that graduated high school early and immediately started at SKYCTC being a very young 18 years of age when they were hired for this role. The maturity that they possessed was more than simply one that was earned by growing another year older. Instead, their definition of maturity was synonymous with being more closely related to professionalism and organization. All ten of the student practitioners recognized that being well organized with the approach to connecting to their mentees, taking a mature position in conversations with their mentees, and practicing professionalism in the work place helped them make a difference in their role as mentors as they shared and demonstrated these characteristics with their mentees.

Similar to professionalism was a disposition toward being goal driven and seeking to improve themselves. All of the peer mentors described or demonstrated that they were driven to achieve more than they had already accomplished. This started in their personal lives and spilled over into their work. One student practitioner stated, "my strengths as a student are definitely my inner drive that I use to make sure that I can complete everything that I need to do to keep me motivated, to make sure that I always see my end goal..." This 'inner drive' was another one of the attitudes they sought to communicate with their mentees.

While all of the mentors were goal driven, this driven desire to improve was even more evident in the 5 non-traditional students. Many of these students were coming to college for the second time in life, some after failing out of college miserably the first time. As one student practitioner put it, "the first time I went to school my GPA was a soaring 0.0", she would go on to state that her rededication to her goal of becoming a

surgical technician pushed her to graduate after her second attempt with a 4.0 GPA and be at the top of her class.

The mentors described trying to share this drive throughout their meetings with their mentees to instill in their mentees a similar sense of being goal driven. Part of this was structured by the peer mentor curriculum, as the entire first meeting for the program focused on identifying and encouraging goals in their mentees. However, they described having a long game vision for the everyday tasks of being a student as something they consistently stressed in all their interactions with their mentees.

A particular observation that was shared amongst 7 out of the 10 participants, was the unique attention to the cost of education as a whole. For many, they knew first hand just how expensive their own education was. For some this was because they were solely responsible for paying for their education and had minimal assistance from scholarships or family, for others it was simply because of their level of maturity that they did not wish to waste their family's hard-earned money. Regardless to their circumstances, this awareness of the cost of education kept showing itself in the different ways they worked with their mentees. For some the cost of education was even the driving force for them applying to be a peer mentor. Sure, they had a desire to help others be successful, but the small monetary compensation for their efforts toward being a human lever of retention helped push them to want to do the job even more.

For some, they would focus substantially on making sure that their mentees knew all about student scholarships. They would go over how to apply, write applications, and ask for letters of recommendation from faculty. For others, they would focus intently on

the courses that their mentees would take each following semester, doing their best to ensure that they never took a course that was not needed, or a course load that would not lend itself to success. Both strategies were identified by the mentors because they realized the cost of their own and their mentee's education. They would share with their mentees how these strategies would impact the cost of the education and used these conversations to communicate the value of the peer mentoring program; that if they participated in the program and paid attention to the strategies introduced, they were more likely to be successful at finding additional resources and/or forego unnecessary costs of repeating classes or dropping out without a credential. One student practitioner stated, in response to being asked the most important thing to helping students finish their degree, that a critical issue for student success was finances and how she personally understood the cost of education both in money and time away from her two daughters. She stressed the importance of providing a lifeline and guidance to student scholarships so that they can be successful.

While communicating strategies to mitigate the cost of education and emphasizing an awareness of student finances was not something that every student practitioner focused on, it was was shared by the majority in their individual interviews and validated in the group interview an issue of importance. This may be something that is a direct result of working with students who attend a community college where approximately 85% of students are Pell Grant eligible. This understanding of current costs of education played into their view of their future selves and how the necessary costs of education today would eventually result in their desired end product of who they wanted to become.

This self awareness of the cultural capital of professionalism, maturity, and goal driven attitudes is significant because these are all character traits that can be sought out in the interview process and through requiring references from faculty members of the staff that can vouch for their professionalism, maturity and organizational skills. Even if a student practitioner is hired that does not yet fully posses these skill sets or awareness of their importance, they are attributes that can be learned through purposeful professional development opportunities. Similar to awareness of the importance of professionalism, maturity, and being goal driven, self-awareness of the costs of education is again an attribute of potential peer mentors that could be broached through the interview process and certainly trained for once a student is hired. Insuring that all peer mentors know how to encourage their mentees to apply strategies for mitigating the costs of education through the processes of applying for student scholarships and/or careful navigation of course selection is certainly a worthwhile effort.

Academic Capital

As a subset of broader attributes of cultural capital that the peer mentors both exhibited and sought to instill in their mentees, they also emphasized the importance of acquiring the specific norms, skills, and attitudes necessary to do well as a student and tried to pass these along to their mentees. The peer mentors used their academic capital to develop relationships with their faculty and students in ways that would allow them to academically be successful. They also were incredibly intent of being studious in the areas of their studies that aligned with their future goals, for example the welding mentor never made below an A in the welding classes, though his overall GPA was not a 4.0.

Further, the peer mentors sought to be involved in campus activities as they viewed the activities as contributing to their co-curricular education and experienced growth in their academic capital through participation. And lastly, they sought to connect students to the resources that were ideal to further one's academic journey, such as financial resources of student scholarships and academic resources such as tutoring.

The ability to be very studious in one's own studies arose from the interviews with all student practitioners. Whether they were discussing their incredibly impressive GPA, many of them maintaining a 4.0 after two years of study, or simply stating their dedication to ensuring their full participation in every class they could attend. For these student practitioners, their studies are incredibly important. One stated, "As a student in my spare time, that's all I do is study and read. And if I don't know something I'll look it up until I do know it. I'm very dedicated to being a student."

Another student practitioner stated, "I am always paying close attention to what my instructor is teaching, making sure that I take notes. If there are moments where it's like, hey, have a good time with your classmates during this presentation, then I go for it. But other than that I'm always making sure that I'm staying focused on what they're teaching so that way I can grasp as much as I can." This shared dedication to being studious was present in all student practitioners and some even made sure to intentionally teach it to their mentees. All focused on ensuring their grades maintained at an incredibly high level, and some even did so for more than just the grade but more for the shear reason of learning. to facilitate their continued success as a student.

In addition to be studios, the mentors stressed the importance of being involved with campus clubs and organizations. 7 out of the 10 participants took part in campus life through clubs and organizations and stressed that for them it was important to get their mentees involved in campus life as well. One student practitioner stated, "I'll try to get them plugged in on campus. That's one of my, kind of when I meet with students is one of my biggest focuses is trying to see if there's any clubs that they might be interested in because I know I've had a great experience of being in student clubs. And so, uh, you know, if there's any opportunity, if there's anything that they are interested in, I try to see what clubs match up best and get them involved."

This focus on involvement in campus clubs was intentional for the 7 that paid attention to it. For them it was a part of their own personal sense of belonging to the institution and they tried to share that with their mentees. That being said, there were three highly successful student practitioners that did not make this a focus as they were not personally involved in campus clubs; however, they still recognized the importance of campus life for students to feel that they belong.

Finally, the mentors' identification of the importance of having the maturity and professionalism to see their college education as part of a larger life plan (and planning carefully to make that education affordable) was also tied to their recognition of their role in helping their mentees acquire a sense of belonging and mattering in ways similar to that described in the literature (Rendon and Schlossberg-fix citation). The students emphasized being relationship oriented. One student practitioner responded to the question, "What is the single most effective practice that you did to help out retention, what would that have been?" with the answer, "I guess just being there for them, you

know, just being that person to lean on and confide in. Just being a mentor for them...
just giving them that extra person that they know they could come to if they need it." This
response showed the student practitioners belief that the most important thing they could
do was to be supportive of their mentees and that was accomplished through establishing
a relationship with the mentee.

One student practitioner stated, "let me be like a roadmap for you" as she highlighted how she would connect her mentees to the necessary resources for students to be successful. This concentrated attention to the value of a network helped the most successful peer mentors get to know the campus and community, helping to be the initial contact for their students to this new network. They acted as more than a gatekeeper, but instead they were a door opener. They helped their mentees to realize a sense of belonging through their introduction to key areas of student services, campus clubs and organizations, or merely just connecting new students to a friend group. This pivotal role was one that all participants tried to fulfill as they encouraged their mentees to feel a part of the institution.

Conclusion

The themes that emerged from interviewing high performing human levers of retention in Kentucky's first community college peer mentoring program echo those that are common in the literature on retention. I believe these elements of developing positive relationships for students on campus should be seen as a whole, more than just developing relationships, communicating strategies and modeling key attributes and dispositions of successful students work together in the success of a peer mentoring program. For this reason, it is my recommendation that in recruiting student practitioners,

peer mentoring programs have as a focus not only academic measures of success, but also attributes of professionalism, maturity, and self-awareness of the academic capital necessary to be successful students and to converting that success to reaching life goals. Furthermore, potential mentors need to know how to connect new student to necessary resources and be well versed on those that the institution has to offer. They need to be involved in campus life so that they can encourage their mentees to do the same. Lastly, they need to their mentee navigate the costs, both monetarily and from family time and commitment, to achieving their educational dreams.

Future research should be conducted on exactly how self awareness and the purposeful communication of strategies for success can play a major factor in the success of the student practitioner actively implementing the lever of retention known as peer mentoring. Students' self-awareness is not easily taught or developed in training programs; therefore, ways to develop this reflexivity deserves further study. And finally, while this study focused upon peer mentors who self-described themselves as meeting the common definition of a good mentor, a study that includes the mentees perspectives would be useful to developing these programs further.

Chapter 4

Peer Mentoring in Kentucky Community and Technical College System: A Guide to
Creating Successful Partnerships Between Students, Impacting Persistence, and
Retention

Introduction

By the 2020-2021 academic year, the State of Kentucky will have moved higher education to the funding model approved by the 2017 legislature, by which 100% of state dollars will be allocated on a performance-based funding model. This model allocates 35% toward course completion, 35% to student success, 10% to academic support, 10% to institutional support, and 10% to maintenance and operations. With this new funding model, there are new opportunities to bring additional dollars to the Kentucky Community and Technical College System (KCTCS) through strategic levers of retention. One proven lever of retention within Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College (SKYCTC) is that of a peer mentoring program. This program was the first of its kind in the state and has helped increase persistence rates 15% from semester to semester for participants. The purpose of this whitepaper is to outline a successful implementation plan for peer mentor programs across KCTCS colleges.

Background

In the 2015-2016 academic year SKYCTC was facing concerns over graduation and default rates as it related to federal financial aid. Too many students were failing to

graduate with a degree and in turn becoming delinquent on their loan repayments due to lack of a quality job and the anticipated increase in wages that they were seeking when they first came to college. This issue became the highest focus for the college that year as the institution was at risk of losing the ability to grant federal financial aid and at the time approximately 85% of students were receiving some form of federal financial aid. Had the institution lost their ability to grant that aid, the ability for the college to remain open would have been in question; and further, a viable opportunity for a higher education within the south-central Kentucky region would have likely no longer ceased to be for many of the local residents.

As a major part of the mission for the community college is to provide access to higher education, something had to be done and quite likely multiple somethings. The college sought a two-part approach to mediating this issues at hand: first, they implemented financial aid literacy training to help students understand more fully how much that they were taking out in student loans and what the process would be once repayment went into effect; second, the college sought to increase the graduation rates of students, or at minimum the persistence rates of students so that if they did leave the college before earning their degree they would hopefully at least have a few more semesters of completed course credits and thereby making them a more desirable candidate in an applicant pool. In order to impact the issue of persistence, and eventually graduation, the college funded the first peer mentoring program in the state. These combined efforts both proved successful, though the focus on financial education only lasted one year while the peer mentoring program became institutionalized at the college and has just recently completed its 4th year.

The initial investment of the college into the peer mentoring program was to hire 10 part-time peer mentors and due to the early success of the program, at the end of the first semester the decision was made to double the size of the program to 20 peer mentors. This totaled a \$100,000.00 investment into a program that was focused on increasing the semester to semester persistence and overall retention toward graduation for all incoming students. The overall return for the investment of \$100,000.00 was a 15% increase in the persistence of students that participated in the optional peer mentoring program. Further, the feeling of connectedness among students and the college also grew because of the prominent role that these peer mentors had on campus.

Identifying the Target Population to be Mentored

For SKYCTC the goal of making an impact on graduation rates was the original reason for the peer mentoring program. With that as the goal, it is logical that a college might have sought to provide additional pre-graduation counseling for students approaching their last semester or last year at the college. However, for SKYCTC the graduation rate of the institution was already over 30% and higher than the national average of community college graduates. If there were to be any further increases in graduation rates, it would require a higher number of potential eligible students to walk the stage at the end of their two years with SKYCTC. For this reason, the college selected to work with the front end of the pipeline to graduation. Attempting to reach as many of the incoming students as possible and letting them know that graduation was a legitimate option for them.

At SKYCTC the incoming students for each year was approximately 1,350 students with approximately 900 attending in the fall and 450 joining the college in the spring semesters. This targeted group of students included anyone that was required to attend a mandatory orientation process. This orientation was required for all new students and any students who had been away from the college for longer than one year. This predominately first time in college population was the selected population for the college peer mentoring program.

Identifying this group of students aligned with much of the research on peer mentoring as well. While there are successful peer mentor programs across all years of schooling, even including graduate studies, the most common population to target is that of the first semester student. In doing so the peer mentoring program is able to help the new student start their college career on the right path by helping them understand the expectations of the college and their faculty with regard to studying, participation and overall output of quality work necessary to be a successful college student. Further, the peer mentors can also help to address issues centered around creating a sense of belonging at the institution and validating the aspirations and goal of the new student as well as their ability to accomplish those goals.

Peer Mentoring Program Goals

At SKYCTC, the approach to peer mentoring was to ultimately impact the number of graduates who walked the stage at the end of two years. In order to accomplish this overall goal, the peer mentoring program focused on three primary goals and these

corelated to the encouraged three meetings that peer mentors would have with their peer mentees each semester. The goals of helping a student get to know the campus and set educational goals; helping the mentee find additional funding for their education through scholarships; and helping the mentee go into their advising meeting with a plan for how they would accomplish their second semester at the college.

The first goal of helping a student get to know the campus and set educational goals was the most important of all the goals from the perspective of the peer mentors. They viewed this goal as having the most potential impact on the student's time at SKYCTC and whether or not they would persist to a second semester. By meeting the student early in the semester, ideally before the semester started but no later than the 6th week in the semester, the peer mentors were able to help create a sense of belonging at the college. They would take this role very seriously and seek to connect the student to potential friend groups, student clubs, and student services such as financial aid that might have a significant impact on the students first semester. Further they would assist the students in identifying goals for why they were at college if they did not already have an outlined goal. The peer mentor would walk the student through a career analysis tool and help them interpret the results with regard to potential majors at the college. Additionally, they would begin to validate the abilities of the student and find common interest to allow for the relationship to develop more organically beyond the prescribed minimum of simply being there to help the new student. The more successful peer mentors prioritized relationship building in their attempts to ensure that the new student had a successful first semester.

The second goal of helping the mentee identify potential funding sources to help address the cost of attending college should be the focus of weeks 7-10. With 85% of students at SKYCTC receiving some federal aid, this was an especially important goal to ensure that the cost of attendance did not prevent the student from persisting. Peer mentors show the mentee the process for searching for and applying to local scholarships. Further, they provide any advice or guidance they can on the writing of scholarship essays, to include brainstorming sessions and grammar/editing revision recommendations.

The third goal is to assist the students in helping them to prepare for their meeting with their academic advisor. At SKYCTCC the academic advisor is a faculty member in the major of choice for the mentee. The purpose of this advising pre-meeting is to ensure that the mentee walks into the meeting with the advisor with a plan in hand and has had the additional opportunity to bounce ideas for courses off of a student who has already had the classes they are considering. Because the peer mentor is always a student who is in a similar program to the one the new mentee is considering and they are further ahead in their degree work, the peer mentor often has had experience with the combination of courses that worked or did not work for them. The peer mentor can then share this insight and encourage the student to meet with the advisor with a plan for the classes they would like so they can spend their advising session asking questions that are centered on the career of choice and what next steps are necessary in order to be successful in their given field of choice.

In all, the three meetings help to create a further sense of belonging at the institution and answer any questions that the new student might have right when they

start their first semester of college. If it were not for this approach, the student would have no prescribed contact with any resource of the college until week 10 at the earliest, unless they went to see their advisor the very first week. The peer mentor ensures that the student knows that they matter to someone at the college and that they have a cheerleader in their corner at all times.

Funding

How do the costs of the program impact our college of 3,500 students what impact might there be be if it was scaled for each of the 15 other colleges across KCTCS? The initial cost of the peer mentoring program in 201? at SKYCTC was \$100,000.00, this was substantial and the largest commitment to any activity outside of the classroom at that time. This upfront support paid great dividends that returned more than the initial investment to the college.

While the annual allocation for budget only covers the cost of the peer mentors, additional funding or identified support should be determined prior to creating a program at a new college. It is recommended that the peer mentors have a coordinator for whom the responsibility of supervision, training, and assessment is a majority of their responsibility. For SKYCTC this fit well within the Office of Student Life & Engagement and the Director of Student Life & Engagement filled this role for the first 4 years of the program until a coordinator could be hired.

The determination on the number of peer mentors necessary for the college will be based on the ratio of peer mentors to students that is being sought. At SKYCTC the

original hope was for a 1:20 ratio and this occurred from the very beginning; however, with program participation optional, it was not long before the ratio was adjusted to approximately 1:40 as only a third of the initial contacts chose to participate. This ratio of forty to one potential mentees resulted in a peer mentor assisting approximately 15 students per semester in person while still maintaining electronic communication and phone calls with all 40 of their assigned mentees regardless of their active participation in the program.

Another factor to consider when considering funding is that some of the peer mentors may be eligible for federal work study. While it is my recommendation to never hire an employee solely because they have attached to them subsidized funding to pay their salary, I fully advocate hiring the best possible candidate and then, if they are eligible for federal aid, adjusting the chart string that will pay their salary. Based on work-study data in Kentucky, it is realistic to expect between 10-25% peer mentors at most KCTCS colleges will be eligible for federal work study and thus will result in a remainder of positive funds at the end of each year (cite). The college could then reallocate those funds to other needs of the campus, though I would caution not to rely on this should you ever have a semester with no federally funded work study students.

In seeking the funding from the institution, it is important to have a good idea of what the return on investment will be for the peer mentoring program. While the returns of SKYCTC are solely the experience of SKYCTC, they can provide a means by which a college could guestimate their return on investment. Based on SKYCTC enrollments, of the 1,350 first time in college students each year, approximately one third, or 450, will participate in the peer mentoring program. For these 450 students, they will realize a 15%

increase in persistence from semester to semester. For SKYCTC the persistence rate for first semester students to the second semester of study was 72% before the peer mentoring program existed. Those who participated in the program persisted at 87% (or higher in some cases). Additionally, students who participated in the program experience on average a .25 higher GPA than non-participants and took .5 more courses the following semester than non-participants. With the current tuition rate of \$169/credit hour, one could expect tuition from participating students in the following semester to total \$191,874, while tuition from the non-participating students would only equal \$131,414, a difference of \$60,460 per semester. After one full year, the resulting return on investment is a 21% increase in tuition dollars generated, more than covering the costs of the program and the other added benefit of more students persisting toward their degree. Again, persistence to degree, under the new performance based funding model could potentially reward the college with sustained or increased funding.

Hiring

When determining which peer mentors to hire, there are a few things that should be taken into consideration with regard to which types of characteristics that one should look for. Barron (2019) found that attitudes of professionalism, being relationship oriented, goal driven, studious, recognizing the need to actively connect students to resources, encouraging campus involvement and an acknowledgement of the cost of attending college were the most common attributes of high performing human levers of retention. With this in mind, the hiring process should seek to identify those individuals that either posses the majority of these traits or are poised to learn them.

When seeking an individual who is professional in their approach to their education and work, suggested questions for the interviewer to ask should relate to time management, multi-tasking, relationships within a team setting, and their approach to their own education. It is also recommended that the potential peer mentor provide a letter of recommendation from a faculty member speaking to this element of their abilities.

When seeking a student who is relationship oriented, scenarios can be used in the hiring process to determine how they would respond to different instances with students. For example, at SKYCTC a scenario bank (see Appendix A) includes questions around how a student persists in their education when they feel they are being pulled by family to do more around their house or in their community. Another scenario is in coping with a student who is indecisive about their major. If the potential peer mentor is able to relate their personal situations, or that of a friend, to that of the student in the scenario, then they would likely have the necessary relational attributes necessary to be a high performing lever of retention.

In determining if a student is goal driven, it is important to learn the potential peer mentor's aspirations. If they cannot articulate their own goals for their education, it could prove very difficult for them to help a new student identify their goals for college and thus create a sense of purpose and reason for going through the hardships that they may experience along their educational journey.

In seeking to determine if a potential peer mentor takes their studies seriously this can be determined through the grade point average (GPA) of the student and letters of

recommendation. SKYCTC has a practice of requiring a 3.0 GPA in order to be a peer mentor. While all potential mentors may not have always had a 3.0 GPA or higher, those who once had below a 3.0 GPA may be some of the better human levers of retention if they are able to relate to other students in their initial struggles but also explain how they overcame their initial hurdles to succeed in their studies.

To determine if a potential human lever of retention is able to connect their future mentees to campus resources, campus involvement, or recognize the value of their education it is recommended to seek to determine this through the use of scenarios and asking questions in how they would help their future mentees with issues around procuring a student ID, resolving questions about their financial aid, applying for scholarships, etc. If the student is able to either provide a solution for the student, know a personal resource to connect them with, or assure that they would resolve to complete the necessary research in order to be successful then they would most likely possess the required ability to have or learn how to help students with being involved on campus, connecting students to resources and ensuring that the student is not wasting their time or money in attending the college thus preventing withdrawal from frustrations.

Each of these areas are of great importance in order to ensure that the peer mentor has the ability to succeed in their potential role and ensure that the success of the program is at a high level and the college's investment into the program yields a positive return.

Training

One of the most vital parts of a peer mentoring program is that of the training that each peer mentor receives in order to be successful in their job. While it may be difficult, it is recommended that training and hiring phases occur no more that 2-3 times per year. This will allow for the entire peer mentoring team to be trained together and not require any one student to be learning on the job if they are hired in the middle of a semester. Additionally, it is recommended to post jobs for hiring on April 1st, November 1st and again if additional peer mentors are needed over the summer.

Within KCTCS it is recommended that training includes advisor professional development within PeopleSoft, or any other student data management software that is adaptable. While it is not important that the peer mentor be able to enroll students, they will need all other access that a normal advisor would be able to provide. Including the ability to look at grades, contact information, and assigned advisors. The ability to query and share this information with the mentee is of relevance, especially when it comes to the registration period of the year. It is important to know that this is not a violation of FERPA, due to the fact that the peer mentors are part-time employees of the college and not unpaid students volunteering to be peer mentors.

Training should also be provided on college resources. It cannot be taken for granted that since the peer mentor is already a student at the college that they will know every resource available at the college. It is recommended that representatives from the following areas of campus be invited to participate in a series of training days:

<u>Department</u> <u>Topic(s) to Cover in Training</u>

Career and Academic Planning Details on career counseling, veteran

affairs and testing, as well as how students

access them.

Registrar's Office How to drop a course and apply for

graduation.

Admissions and Recruiting Recruiting basics and how to give a tour

of the campus.

College Foundation How to search for and apply to student

scholarships.

Ready to Work (Grant) What the grant offers and what students

are eligible.

Work Ready (Grant) What the grant offers and what students

are eligible.

Library & Tutoring Resources Cover the mission and focus of the library

and tutoring areas as well as which subjects tutoring is available in.

Financial Aid & Business Division How to access student billing and

financials through student self-service.

Campus Bookstore How a new students goes about getting

the required textbooks.

Student Life & Engagement How to create student ID's, campus

events, and student clubs.

While this list is intended to be exhaustive, it also should be used as a starting point and tailored to each college and the campus resources that are available at that institution.

With each of the aforementioned areas presenting some amount of training on the services that they provide, it is easy to see how the training can take multiple days. This will also likely be an information overload for the peer mentors and it is recommended that scenarios be used to walk the new peer mentor through how they can assist students

to learn and connect them to each of the usable resources at the college. Further, through the use of scenarios, training can begin to focus in on how the new peer mentor can use these resources to begin to make the new mentee have a strong sense of belonging at the college. These scenarios might also be imbedded in online modules to allow for ongoing or just-in-time training. While it is important to inform the peer mentor of the desire to help the student belong, it is not necessary to go into the theory behind the practice, as it is more important that the practice be accomplished than the theory known.

Auxiliary Responsibilities

In addition to being a peer mentor at the college, the peer mentor program may also be asked to do more than be a coach or guide to the incoming students. The role can adjust to meet the needs of the college, but it would not be uncommon for the peer mentors to begin to be the face of students at the college. Since so many of the new students will easily connect to the peer mentors, this "face of the college" role is a logical next step. This may take place through the use of peer mentors as a welcoming committee and tour guides within orientation or when special guests come to the college. If the college is fortunate to have its own ambassador program that is great but knowing some of the financial outlooks for many of the 16 KCTCS colleges, this is likely to fall to the peer mentoring group at many campuses.

Additionally, if the peer mentors are able to, it is an ideal situation to allow their participation in student life events whenever possible. By helping to create and facilitate the events, the peer mentor begins to take ownership for more of campus life at the

institution and it allows them to encourage a greater sense of belonging and personal sense of mattering at the college. Further, it provides the peer mentor with the opportunity to invite their mentee to a campus event that the peer mentor had some part in creating or facilitating, broadening the impact of the peer mentoring program at the college.

Measurement

In order to ensure the success of the program it is important to measure the program and report regularly on the persistence and retention generated from the program. This will help to justify the cost of the program and allow the college to determine if the program requires more peer mentors to have a greater impact, or if the program was not a success at the institution.

In the process of measurement, it is important to first have a baseline for what you will be measuring against. It is recommended that the first semester persistence rate from semester to semester be known. For SKYCTC this is the baseline of 72% from which the college is able to see the impact for those that participate in the program and the increase was an additional 15%. This will likely differ from college to college and should be information that the institutional research office of the college can provide.

Another baseline number to know before beginning is what the average GPA of the first semester student is. At SKYCTC this was approximately a 2.70 at the end of the first semester. For participants in the program, their GPA was on average .25 higher than non-participants, resulting in a 2.95 GPA at the end of the first semester.

Additionally, the average number of classes taken during the second semester for those that persist is an excellent baseline to have in mind. For SKYCTC this was approximately 2.5 classes per semester or 7.5 credit hours for their second semester. A large indicator of the success of the program was found in the increase to 9 credit hours per semester for those that participated, directly translating to additional revenue from the increase number of students that persisted. This again will vary from college to college and is easily accessible through your institutional research office.

Once the baseline numbers are known, the next things that are recommended to measure is the participation rates and how peer mentors and mentees participate in the program. This can be monitored through a simple usage of Microsoft Forms or similar survey software to record data after every contact that the peer mentor has with their mentee. It is recommended that the following be tracked through this method: type of meeting/contact and whether the meeting/contact took place in person, over the phone, or via email; meeting topic and whether it focused on goal setting and welcoming the college to the camps, scholarship research and application, or general advising preparation and ensuring the student is ready for their advising meeting. By tracking these areas, a coordinator can quickly see the effectiveness of each peer mentor and provide individualized training on areas in which they are lacking.

By tracking and measuring these areas as well as the baseline numbers, at the end of each semester the coordinator can work with their institutional research office to determine if the peer mentoring did indeed move the needle on persistence and success at the college. Peer mentoring is a proven successful lever of retention, and these efforts

will make an impact on the success of the college, to the degree that these successes are realized at each institution will vary.

Conclusion

While peer mentoring has a proven track record of success within higher education, community colleges, and most locally SKYCTC, how this looks at each of the colleges in KCTCS will differ. However, it is the hope of the author that this lever of retention be implemented statewide and allow for the potential to increase persistence and success for all 80,000 plus students that are a part of KCTCS. If all first-time students were to receive a peer mentor and experience a similar modicum of success, what could the impact on the State of Kentucky be! There would be more students succeeding in the community college, earning their degrees and going on to be gainfully employed and successful within our state.

Further, if there were more peer mentoring programs across the state, another side benefit is the graduation rates of the peer mentor themselves, 100% of the peer mentors at SKYCTC have graduated. Not only is this kind of program an effective use of existing resources, but it can be an effective high impact educational practice for the participating students and an important mechanism for improving overall campus culture. Most importantly, in this era of performance based funding, it is critical to improve the performance of as many students as possible and peer mentoring can be the lever of retention that encourages improvement for all students.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

While the impact of the lever of retention in peer mentoring is one that is well researched and without question, it is the story of the individuals pulling the levers that is truly unique in this scenario. Their dedication to seeing other students be successful and accomplish their goals of a higher education is one that is both without question and often unparalleled. Through their stories I learned that no one will go to bat for a student quite like the peer mentor of that student. It is almost as if they become their adopted child from the time they are assigned to their mentee list. They do everything that they can to ensure the success of their child and even at times can boarder on the edge of being the helicopter parent that those of us in higher education so dearly love. Regardless of their delivery though, the devotion to the mentees success rang true with every peer mentor interviewed. The skills, practices, and attitudes that were implemented varied, yet the results were predominately the same, continued success for the student. As KCTCS, or other colleges, seek to prepare for the future of 100% performance based funding, they would be foolish not to consider the impact that peer mentoring can have on the education of a new student.

Further, the overwhelming overlap between the practices and attitudes of the peer mentors and those of the faculty member should not go unnoticed. If the community college can hire and train for the desired skill sets expressed in this research, the impact on student persistence and retention is one that could truly be impactful. To idealize an institution that searches for, hires, and trains for peer mentors and faculty that intentionally exhibit the attributes of these human levers of retention that our research

was conducted on is not only an institute that I would love to work for, it is also one that will surely make its way quickly to the top of the community college circles.

Reflections

As I enter my 14th year in higher education and community colleges, I am pleased with the work that I have accomplished to date. My personal continuance of my education has taught me many things and most importantly is that the work that we endeavor to accomplish in the name of student success is always worth the fight, headaches, or whatever else may come one's way. Working with peer mentors at times has been and will be the most frustrating part of mine or any professional's job as you help to guide and mold a new group of students every year. However, this research, and sitting down for hours with the wonderful student practitioners that I had the pleasure to interview assured me that the work is beyond worth it. To hear their stories of trials that they have overcome and how they have in turn used those stories and experiences for the betterment of their students that they mentor, assures me of the power of peer mentoring, beyond what shows up on paper. Hearing of how an 18 year old can mentor a 66 year old and develop a true friendship that goes beyond simply work is truly amazing. For the now over 70 peer mentors that I have worked with in my career at multiple locations, I thank you. Each of you has taught me and so many more. I am so fortunate to have been blessed to have attended a community college when I graduated high school, and I am even more fortunate that I have chosen to call community colleges my profession.

Appendix I: Informed Consent Forms RESEARCH SUBJECT INFORMED CONSENT FORM

Project Title: Sponsors:

It's Not the Programs; It's the People: Dr. Jane Jensen

Building Human Levers of Retention in

Community Colleges

Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation

University of Kentucky

Principal Investigators: Organization:

Kyle Barron University of Kentucky College of

Kimberly Russell Education

Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation

Lexington, KY 40506

Location: Lexington, KY Phone: 859 257-1929

1. PURPOSE OF THIS RESEARCH STUDY

You are being invited to take part in a research study designed to look at the experiences of grassroots leaders in higher education. If you volunteer to take part in this study, you will be one of about five people to do so. Kyle Barron or Kimberly Russell will be the Principal Investigators (PI) for this study. They are being guided in this research by Dr. Jane Jensen of the University of Kentucky, Department of Educational Policy. By doing this study, we hope to gain insight into the characteristics that create successful human levers of retention.

2. PROCEDURES

The research procedures will be conducted at Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College (SKYCTC) or West Kentucky Community and Technical College (WKCTC). The PI will contact you via email and telephone to arrange an interview time. You will be asked to answer questions regarding how you are a human lever of retention.

3. POSSIBLE RISKS

Risks to participating in this research study are unknown. To the best of our knowledge, the things you will be doing have no more risk of harm than you would experience in everyday life. However, any new information developed during the study that may affect your willingness to continue participation will be communicated to you.

4. POSSIBLE BENEFITS

There are no known benefits from taking part in this study. Your participation will allow for a greater understanding of the characteristics, motivations, and actions of human levers of retention in a higher education setting.

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

There are no costs associated with taking part in the study. There is no financial compensation for your participation in this research.

6. CONFIDENTIALITY

Your identity in this study will be treated as confidential. We will make every effort to prevent anyone who is not on the research team from knowing that you gave us information or what that information is. Your information will be combined with other people taking part in the study. The results of the study may be published to share with other researchers, but we will not give your name or include any identifiable references to you.

7. TERMINATION OR RESEARCH STUDY

You may voluntarily choose not to participate in this study or withdraw at any time. You will not be treated any differently for deciding not to participate or for deciding to withdraw.

8. AVAILABLE SOURCE OF INFORMATION

Before you decide whether to accept this invitation to take part in the study, please do not hesitate to contact the staff in the Office of Research Integrity at the University of Kentucky at 859-257-9428 or toll-free at 1-866-400-9428.

9. AUTHORIZATION

I have read and understand this consent form and I volunteer to participate in this research study. I understand that I will receive a copy of this form. I voluntarily choose to participate, but I understand that my consent does not take away any legal rights in the case of negligence or other legal fault of anyone who is involved in this study. I further understand that nothing in this consent form is intended to replace any applicable Federal, state, or local laws.

Participant Name:		
Participant Signature:	Date:	

Appendix II: Human Lever of Retention (Faculty) Study Participant Identification

In a review and synthesis of literature on the subject of the role of faculty in student success, a number of common characteristics and behaviors were identified. Please consider the following characteristics and behaviors and provide the names of general education faculty members who, based upon your observation and experience, most consistently and completely meet the criteria listed below. You may also consider your own work as a faculty member and include your own name on your list. Deans, please note that faculty members do not have to be members of your academic division. However, they should be faculty members who teach primarily general education/transfer courses.

- Promotes and communicates high academic expectations that are clear and consistent (Tinto, 2012; Kinzie, 2005; Shelton, 2003; Pascarella, 2011)
- Is open to feedback from students regarding classroom practices (Kinzie, 2005)
- Provides timely, frequent, and meaningful feedback to students regarding academic performance (Tinto, 2012; Kinzie, 2005)
- Promotes academic and social engagement in the classroom for student (Tinto, 1997; Braxton et al., 2000; Braxton and Mundy, 2011; Braxton et al., 2008)
- Appears to view teaching as a vocation or "calling" rather than as a "job" (DuBois, 1993; Corbin, 1998)
- Collaborates with colleagues to develop more effective instruction, assessments, policies, and/or interventions (Outcalt, 2000)
- Uses data to set goals, monitor progress, and improve practice (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2010)
- Maintains standards while affirming that all students can learn (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2010)
- Builds formal and informal mentoring relationships with students (Fuentes et al., 2013; Komarraju et al., 2010)
- Serves as a resource for students (Komarraju et al.m 2010; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Tinto, 2012)

- Engages in ongoing faculty development/professional development related to teaching and student engagement (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2010; Braxton and Mundy, 2001)
- Provides quality academic advising to help students define goals, navigate college policies and procedures, and (if applicable) understand the transfer process (McArthur, 2005; Roberts and Styron, 2010)
- Demonstrates respect for students (Hoffman, 2014)
- Demonstrates compassion and concern for students on and off campus (Hoffman, 2014; Darling, 2015; Braxton, 2004; Braxton et al., 2008; Braxton and Mundy, 2001)
- Engages in informal interactions with students outside of the classroom (Komorraju et al., 2010)
- Replies to student communications in a timely manner (Hoffman, 2014)
- Experiments with engaging pedagogy and shares work with colleagues (Stevenson et al., 2006)
- Helps students successfully transition into college (Goldrick-Rab, 2007; Dixon-Rayle and Chung, 2007; Komarraju et al., 2010; Schlossberg, 1989; Braxton and Mundy, 2001)
- Helps students to develop strong networks on campus with peers, faculty, and staff (Tinto, 1993; Dixon-Rayle and Chung, 2007; Braxton et al., 2000)
- Helps students to feel that they matter to the college (Scholssberg, 1989; Dixon-Rayle and Chung, 2007; Shelly, 2014)
- Promotes academic integration of students by promoting active and collaborative learning in the classroom (Tinto, 1997; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Braxton et al., 2008; Engstrom and Tinto, 2008; Lundberg, 2014;)
- Provides procedural assistance to students who require it (Lundberg, 2014)
- Helps student to find their purpose (Roberts and Styron, 2010)
- Provides and/or communicates with students opportunities for social engagement on campus (Schlossberg, 1989; Tinto, 1997; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Braxton, 2004)

- Is both approachable and available to students inside and outside of class (Kuh et al., 2005; DuBois, 1993)
- Creates both valuable and enriching learning experiences for students (Roberts and Styron, 2010; Braxton and Mundy, 2001)
- Demonstrates knowledge of campus support programs and encourages students to take advantage of support programs (Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Styron and Roberts, 2010)
- Exhibits a strong command and organization of the subject being taught (Pascarella et al., 2011; DuBois, 1993)
- Demonstrates enthusiasm about the discipline and the class (DuBois, 1993;
 Pascarella et al., 2011)
- Derives and demonstrates satisfaction from successes of students (Corbin, 1998)
- Connects content knowledge and educational experiences with the rest of students' lives (Richmond, 1986; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Kuh et al., 2005).
- Demonstrates knowledge of common characteristics and barriers that put students at risk for attrition (Kuh et al., 2005; Darling, 2015;)
- Assists students with monitoring their academic progress (Darling, 2015)
- Helps students develop a sense of belonging on campus (Jacoby, 2000; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Kuh et al., 2005)
- Clearly identifies for students what they need to know and be able to do in order to successfully complete course work (Kinzie, 2005; Pascarella et al., 2011)
- Builds on students' prior knowledge, experiences, abilities, and talents in instruction (Kinzie, 2005; Kuh et al., 2005)
- Demonstrates a genuine interest in students and their success (Shelton 2003)

Please list names of faculty members you feel best reflect these characteristics and behaviors below.

Appendix III: Nomination Form for Faculty Participation

First, please read through the entire list and then select individuals to nominate. These may be faculty members in your division who teach at least one general education course (or FYE course) or faculty members outside your division who teach at least one general education course (or FYE course). There is no maximum number nor minimum number of faculty you can nominate.

Please consider which behaviors and characteristics you have observed in each high performing potential lever of retention and/or which you are aware of due to evidence such as student evaluations of instruction, "word of mouth," or other means of communication. The criteria listed below were collected from a review of literature focusing on the impact/role of faculty in student retention. Please let me know if you have any questions. Your responses will be kept confidential and are used strictly for identifying participants, not for data collection purposes. Thank you for your participation!

- Promotes and communicates high academic expectations that are clear and consistent (Tinto, 2012; Kinzie, 2005; Shelton, 2003; Pascarella, 2011)
- Is open to feedback from students regarding classroom practices (Kinzie, 2005)
- Provides timely, frequent, and meaningful feedback to students regarding academic performance (Tinto, 2012; Kinzie, 2005)
- Promotes academic and social engagement in the classroom for student (Tinto, 1997; Braxton et al., 2000; Braxton and Mundy, 2011; Braxton et al., 2008)
- Appears to view teaching as a vocation or "calling" rather than as a "job" (DuBois, 1993; Corbin, 1998)
- Collaborates with colleagues to develop more effective instruction, assessments, policies, and/or interventions (Outcalt, 2000)
- Uses data to set goals, monitor progress, and improve practice (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2010)
- Maintains standards while affirming that all students can learn (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2010)
- Builds formal and informal mentoring relationships with students (Fuentes et al., 2013; Komarraju et al., 2010)
- Serves as a resource for students (Komarraju et al.m 2010; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Tinto, 2012)
- Engages in ongoing faculty development/professional development related to teaching and student engagement (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2010; Braxton and Mundy, 2001)

- Provides quality academic advising to help students define goals, navigate college policies and procedures, and (if applicable) understand the transfer process (McArthur, 2005; Roberts and Styron, 2010)
- Demonstrates respect for students (Hoffman, 2014)
- Demonstrates compassion and concern for students on and off campus (Hoffman, 2014; Darling, 2015; Braxton, 2004; Braxton et al., 2008; Braxton and Mundy, 2001)
- Engages in informal interactions with students outside of the classroom (Komorraju et al., 2010)
- Replies to student communications in a timely manner (Hoffman, 2014)
- Experiments with engaging pedagogy and shares work with colleagues (Stevenson et al., 2006)
- Takes a "talent development" approach in advising (Stevenson et al., 2006;
 Richmond, 1986)
- Helps students successfully transition into college (Goldrick-Rab, 2007; Dixon-Rayle and Chung, 2007; Komarraju et al., 2010; Schlossberg, 1989; Braxton and Mundy, 2001)
- Helps students to develop strong networks on campus with peers, faculty, and staff (Tinto, 1993; Dixon-Rayle and Chung, 2007; Braxton et al., 2000)
- Helps students to feel that they matter to the college (Scholssberg, 1989; Dixon-Rayle and Chung, 2007; Shelly, 2014)
- Promotes academic integration of students by promoting active and collaborative learning in the classroom (Tinto, 1997; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Braxton et al., 2008; Engstrom and Tinto, 2008; Lundberg, 2014;)
- Provides procedural assistance to students who require it (Lundberg, 2014)
- Helps student to find their purpose (Roberts and Styron, 2010)
- Provides and/or communicates with students opportunities for social engagement on campus (Schlossberg, 1989; Tinto, 1997; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Braxton, 2004)
- Is both approachable and available to students inside and outside of class (Kuh et al., 2005; DuBois, 1993)
- Creates both valuable and enriching learning experiences for students (Roberts and Styron, 2010; Braxton and Mundy, 2001)
- Demonstrates knowledge of campus support programs and encourages students to take advantage of support programs (Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Styron and Roberts, 2010)
- Exhibits a strong command and organization of the subject being taught (Pascarella et al., 2011; DuBois, 1993)

- Demonstrates enthusiasm about the discipline and the class (DuBois, 1993;
 Pascarella et al., 2011)
- Motivates students to set and reach goals (DuBois, 1993)
- Derives and demonstrates satisfaction from successes of students (Corbin, 1998)
- Connects content knowledge and educational experiences with the rest of students' lives (Richmond, 1986; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Kuh et al., 2005).
- Demonstrates knowledge of common characteristics and barriers that put students at risk for attrition (Kuh et al., 2005; Darling, 2015;)
- Assists students with monitoring their academic progress (Darling, 2015)
- Helps students develop a sense of belonging on campus (Jacoby, 2000; Braxton and Mundy, 2001; Kuh et al., 2005)
- Clearly identifies for students what they need to know and be able to do in order to successfully complete course work (Kinzie, 2005; Pascarella et al., 2011)
- Builds on students' prior knowledge, experiences, abilities, and talents in instruction (Kinzie, 2005; Kuh et al., 2005)
- Demonstrates a genuine interest in students and their success (Shelton 2003)

Appendix IV: Interview Guides

Interview Guide for Faculty

Interview #1 (Background Information)

- 1. Current professional role
 - A. What do you teach?
 - B. How long have you been teaching this subject?
 - C. How long have you been at WKCTC?
 - D. Briefly describe your responsibilities including instruction, advising, internal service, special projects, leaderships, etc.

2. Background as a student

- A. Describe your approach to your own studies throughout your own education
- B. How would your teachers and peers have described you?
- C. What were your strengths and weaknesses as a student? Best subjects? Worst?
- D. Who were your role models and mentors as a student? How did they help you?
- E. What challenges did you face as a student?
- F. Describe your college experience. What do you remember about the transition, the difficulties, the most helpful/influential forces for you?
- G. What other careers did you consider?

3. Professional pathway questions

- A. Educational background and schools attended
- B. Choice of major
- C. Path to community college
- D. Prior experience with community college
- E. What would you do professionally if you didn't do this?

Interview #2 (Community College and Working with Students)

- 1. Questions regarding the community college
 - A. What was your view of the community college when you arrived?
 - B. What do you consider the role of the community college for students? For society?
 - C. How would you describe the student body at your college?

2. Teaching in the community college

- A. What do you see as the role of the faculty member in a community college?
- B. What are the challenges you face as a community college faculty member?
- C. What are the personal and professional benefits of teaching at a community college?
- D. What qualities should an effective community college faculty member possess?
- E. What qualities should a "human lever of retention" possess?
- F. Do you intentionally consider your role in the retention process, and how does this affect your daily work?

- G. How would your students describe you?
- H. How would your advisees describe you?

3. Non-completion issues

- A. What kinds of academic challenges do your students face?
- B. What kinds of non-academic challenges do your students face?
- C. For what reasons do students fail your courses or fail to complete your courses? For what reasons do you observe students failing or failing to complete other courses?
- D. Describe how you feel when students do not successfully complete your course.

4. Retention efforts

- A. What strategies have you observed on the part of the institution and on the part of your colleagues to support retention?
- B. What do you feel are the most successful approaches to supporting retention?
- C. What do you feel is your role in supporting student retention?
- D. In your view, what is the importance of student retention?
- E. You have been identified as a "lever of retention". Why do you think this is the case? What do you think might set you apart from some of your colleagues?
- F. In the classroom, how do you specifically and intentionally support student persistence?
- G. Outside of the classroom, how do you specifically and intentionally support student persistence?
- H. If you had to choose one thing to be the single most effective practice you have in terms of retention, what would it be?
- I. In what ways do you feel that you have improved as a faculty member and as a lever since you began your career?
- J. What motivates you to go "above and beyond?"
- K. How has the institution helped to support you as a lever of retention?
- L. In what ways does the institution make it more difficult to be a lever of retention?
- M. If you could make adjustments to your job that would allow you to better serve students, what would those be? Why?
- N. How might institutions better prepare faculty members to be levers of retention?

5. Questionnaire Reflection

- A. Looking over your responses to the questionnaire, can you discuss the factors you noted as most important?
- B. Which items reflect your greatest strengths as a faculty member?
- C. What items would you add to the questionnaire?

6. PPE Reflection

A. How do you decide what types of activities to include on your PPE?

- B. What items on your PPE do you consider your most significant achievements or plans? What on your PPE makes you proud?
- C. Are there things in your PPE that perhaps set you apart from your colleagues? If so, what?
- D. What activities outlined in your PPE do you feel are most impactful on student success and completion?

Interview Guide for Students

Interview #1 (Background Information)

- 1. Current professional role
 - A. What are you majoring in?
 - B. How long have you been studying this subject?
 - C. How long have you been at SKYCTC?
 - D. Briefly describe your responsibilities as a student and peer mentor, and any other contributions you make on the campus
- 2. Background as a student
 - A. Describe your approach to your studies throughout your education
 - B. How would your teachers and peers describe you?
 - C. What are your strengths and weaknesses as a student? Best subjects? Worst? Characteristic traits?
 - D. Who are your role models and mentors as a student? How do they help you?
 - E. What challenges do you face as a student?
 - F. Describe your college experience. What do/will you remember about the transition from high school to college, the difficulties, the most helpful/influential forces for you?
 - G. What career are you considering?
- 4. Professional pathway questions
 - A. Educational background and schools attended
 - B. Choice of major
 - C. Path to community college
 - D. Prior experience with community college
 - E. What would you do professionally if you didn't do this?
 - F. Questions regarding the community college
 - G. What was your view of the community college when you arrived?
 - H. What do you consider the role of the community college for students? For society?
 - I. How would you describe the student body at your college?
 - J. What motivated you to become a peer mentor?

Interview #2 (Community College and Mentoring Students)

- 1. Mentoring in the community college
 - A. What do you see as the role of the Student Ambassador in a community college?
 - B. How does this role differ, in your view, from the faculty member as a student mentor?
 - C. What are the challenges you face as a Student Ambassador?
 - D. What are the personal and professional benefits of being a Student Ambassador at a community college?
 - E. What qualities should an effective Student Ambassador possess?

- F. What qualities should a "human lever of retention" possess? (provide the participant with a definition)
- G. Do you intentionally consider your role in the retention process, and how does this affect your daily work?
- H. Of your colleagues, whom do you consider your mentors or role models? What have you learned from them?
- I. What qualities, attitudes, and behaviors do you feel would be beneficial for your colleagues to emulate?
- J. How would your mentees describe you?
- K. How would your co-workers describe you?

2. Non-completion issues

- A. What kinds of academic challenges do your mentees face?
- B. What kinds of non-academic challenges do your mentees face?
- C. For what reasons do mentees fail courses or fail to complete courses?
- D. For what reasons do you observe students failing or failing to complete other courses?
- E. Describe how you feel when mentees do not successfully re-enroll for the next semester.

3. Retention efforts

- A. What strategies have you observed on the part of the institution and on the part of your colleagues to support retention?
- B. What do you feel are the most successful approaches to supporting retention?
- C. What do you feel is your role in supporting student retention?
- D. In your view, what is the importance of student retention?
- E. How do you specifically and intentionally support student persistence out of the classroom?
- F. How do you specifically and intentionally support student persistence in the classroom?
- G. If you had to choose one thing to be the single most effective practice you have in terms of retention, what would it be?
- H. Provide examples of particular scenarios in which you served as a "lever of retention"
- I. In what ways do you feel that you have improved as a Student Ambassador and as a lever since you began your position?
- J. You have been identified as a high impact "lever of retention". Why do you think this is the case? What do you think might set you apart from some of your colleagues?
- K. What motivates you to go "above and beyond?"
- L. How has the institution helped to support you as a lever of retention?
- M. In what ways does the institution make it more difficult to be a lever of retention?

- N. If you could make adjustments to your job that would allow you to better serve students, what would those be? Why?
- O. How can others become more effective levers of retention?
- P. How might institutions better prepare Student Ambassadors to be levers of retention?

References

- 2016 Community College Fact Sheet. (2016, February). Retrieved June 09, 2017, from http://www.aacc.nche.edu/AboutCC/Documents/
- Achieving the Dream. (n.d.). Retrieved April 16, 2017, from https://westkentucky.kctcs.edu/news/wkctc-selected-into-the-achieving-the-dream-national-reform-network.aspx
- American Association of Community Colleges (2009). The American graduation initiative: Stronger American skills through community colleges. Retrieved from http://www.aacc.nche.edu/Advocacy/aginitiative/
- The American graduation initiative: Stronger American skills through community colleges (2009, July 14). *American Association of Community Colleges*.

 Retrieved from http://www.aacc.nche.edu/Advocacy/aginitiative/
- Aspen Prize 2017. (2017). Retrieved April 16, 2017, from https://westkentucky.kctcs.edu/news_and_events/media/aspen2017.aspx /
- Ast, J. V., & Field, D. W. (2005). Reflections of community-college students regarding mentee/instructor teaching and learning effectiveness. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 29(3), 173-189.

 doi:10.1080/10668920590524076
- Austin, S.A. (2006). A Successful university-foundation partnership to assist non-traditional transfer women. Journal of College Student Retention, 8(3), 275-295.
- Baars, G. J., & Arnold, I. J. (2014). Early identification and characterization of students who drop out in the first year at university. Journal of College Student Retention:

 Research, Theory and Practice, 16(1), 95-109. doi:10.2190/cs.16.1.e

- Bader, M. (2010). The power of two: Researching the effects of peer mentoring on student retention and engagement [PowerPoint slides]. Retrieved from Lecture Notes Online Web site: http://www.senecac.on.ca/smile
- Bailey, T. R., and Alfonso, M. (2005). Paths to persistence: An analysis of research on program effectiveness at community colleges. New Agenda Series, 6(1).
- Bailey T., Calcagno J.C., Jenkins D., Leinbach D., and Kienzl G. (2005). Community college student outcomes: What institutional characteristics make a difference? Community College Research Center, Teachers College, Columbia University, New York
- Bailey, T., Jaggers, S.S., Jenkins, D. (2015). *Redesigning America's Community Colleges: A Clearer Path to Student Success*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Baime, D. & Baum, S. (2016). Community colleges: Multiple missions, diverse student bodies, and a range of policy solutions. Retrieved from Urban Institute: https://www.urban.org/research/publication/community-colleges-multiple-missions-diverse-student-bodies-and-range-policy-solutions.
- Baker, V. L., & Griffin, K. A. (2010). Beyond mentoring and advising: Toward understanding the role of faculty "developers" in student success. About Campus, 14(6), 2-8. doi:10.1002/abc.20002
- Barefoot, B.O. (2004) Higher education's revolving door: Confronting the problem of student drop out in U.S. colleges and universities. Open Learning, 19 (1), 9-18.

- Barnett, E. A. (2010). Validation experiences and persistence among community college students. The Review of Higher Education, 34(2), 193-230. doi:10.1353/rhe.2010.0019
- Beach, J. M. (2010). Gateway to Opportunity?: A history of the community college in the United States. Sterling, VA: Stylus Pub.
- Bellamy, G.T., Goodwin, L.D., & Stevens, E.A. (1998). Mentoring among faculty in schools, colleges, and departments of education. Journal of Teacher Education, 49(5), 334-343.
- Berger, J.B. & Braxton, J.M. (1998). Revising Tinto's interactionalist theory of student departure through theory elaboration: Examining the role of organizational attributes in the persistence process. Research in Higher Education, 39 (2), 103-118.
- Bonet, G. & Walters, B.R. (2016) High impact practices: Student engagement and retention. College Student Journal, 50 (2), 224-235.
- Bonin, E. (2016). Effect of peer mentors on academic performance. *Perspectives in Peer Programs*, 27 (1), 16-22.
- Borregard, A.R. (2016). Organizing for change: A case study of grassroots leadership in a Kentucky community college. (Doctoral dissertation). Theses and Dissertations--Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation. 35. http://uknowledge.uky.edu/epe_etds/35
- Braxton, J., Brier, E., & Hossier, D. (1988). The influence of student problems on student withdrawal decisions: An autopsy on "autopsy" studies. Research for Higher Education, 28(3), 241-253.

- Braxton, J. M., Doyle, W. R., Hartley, H. V., Hirschy, A. S., Jones, W. A., & McLendon, M. K. (2014). Rethinking college student retention. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Braxton, J. & Hirschy, A. (2005). Theoretical developments in the study of college student departure. In A. Seidman (ed.) College Student Retention: Formula for Student Success (pp.61-87). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Braxton, J. M., Hirschy, A. S., & McClendon, S. A. (2004). Understanding and reducing college student departure. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Braxton, J. M., Jones, W. A., Hirschy, A. S., & Iii, H. V. (2008). The role of active learning in college student persistence. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, 2008(115), 71-83. doi:10.1002/tl.326
- Braxton, J. M., Mckinney, J. S., & Reynolds, P. J. (2006). Cataloging institutional efforts to understand and reduce college student departure. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 2006(130), 25-32. doi:10.1002/ir.177
- Braxton, J. M., Milem, J. F., & Sullivan, A. S. (2000). The influence of active learning on the college student departure process: Toward a revision of Tinto's theory. The Journal of Higher Education, 71(5), 569-590. doi:10.2307/2649260
- Braxton, J.M. & Mundy, M.E. (2001). Powerful institutional levers to reduce college student departure. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory and Practice*, *3*(1), 91-118. doi:10.2190/m127-v05b-5e5j-f9lq
- Braxton, J. M.,, Sullivan, A.S. & Johnson, R. M. (1997). Appraising Tinto's theory of college student departure. In J. C. Smart (Ed.), Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research (Vol. 12, pp. 107-164). New York: Agathon Press.

- Brier, E. M., Hirschy, A. S., & Braxton, J. M. (2008). In practice: The strategic retention initiative: Theory-based practice to reduce college student departure. About Campus, 13(4), 18-20. doi:10.1002/abc.260
- Brightman, H. J. (2006). Mentoring faculty to improve teaching and student learning. Issues in Accounting Education, 21(2), 127-146. doi:10.2308/iace.2006.21.2.127
- Building American skills though community colleges. (2016, September 8). The White House. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/issues/education/
- Calcagno, J. C., Bailey, T., Jenkins, D., Kienzl, G., & Leinbach, T. (2008). Community college student success: What institutional characteristics make a difference? Economics of Education Review, 27(6), 632-645. doi:10.1016/j.econedurev.2007.07.003
- Center for Community College Student Engagement (2010). The Heart of Student

 Success: Teaching, Learning, and College Completion (2010 CCCSE

 Findings). Austin, TX: The University of Texas at Austin, Community College

 Leadership Program.
- Cejda, B. D. (2010). Hiring the next generation of faculty. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Chickering, A. W., & Gamson, Z. F. (1989). Seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education. *Biochemical Education*, *17*(3), 140-141. doi:10.1016/0307-4412(89)90094-0
- Chickering, A. W., & Gamson, Z. F. (1999). Development and adaptations of the seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education. New Directions for Teaching and Learning,1999(80), 75-81. doi:10.1002/tl.8006

- Cohen, N.H. (1995). The principles of adult mentoring scale. New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, 66, 15-32.
- College Scorecard. (n.d.). Retrieved June 09, 2017, from

 https://collegescorecard.ed.gov/search/?degree=a&state=KY&sort=advantage%3

 Adesc
- Collier, P.J. (2015). Developing Effective Student Peer Mentoring Programs: A

 Practitioners guide to program design, delivery. evaluation, and training.
- "Community college facts." (2019). Community College Research Center. Teachers

 College Columbia University. https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/Community-College-FAQs.html.
- Corbin, S. K. (1998). Role perceptions and job satisfaction of community college faculty (Unpublished doctoral dissertation).
- Cox, M. D. (2004). Introduction to faculty learning communities. *New Directions for Teaching & Learning*, 2004(97), 5–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/tl.129
- Creswell, J. (2014). Research design: qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Crisp, G. (2010). The Impact of Mentoring on the Success of Community College Students. *The Review of Higher Education*, *34*(1), 39-60. doi:10.1353/rhe.2010.0003
- Crisp, G., & Cruz, I. (2009). Mentoring college students: A critical review of the literature between 1990 and 2007. *Research in Higher Education*, 50(6), 525-545.

- Darling, R. A. (2015). Creating an institutional academic advising culture that supports commuter student success. New Directions for Student Services, 2015(150), 87-96. doi:10.1002/ss.20130
- DeBerard M.S., Spielmans G.I., Julka D.L., (2004). Predictors of academic achievement and retention among college freshmen: A longitudinal study. College Student Journal 38(1): 66–80.
- De Sousa, D. J. (2005). Promoting student success: What advisors can do (Occasional Paper No. 11). Bloomington, Indiana: Indiana University Center for Postsecondary Research.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2013). Strategies of qualitative inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- DiTommaso, K. (2010). The connection between role model relationships and selfdirection in developmental students. Research & Teaching in Developmental Education, 27(1), 4-19.
- Dixon, A., & Tucker, C. (2008). Every student matters: Enhancing strengths-based school counseling through the application of mattering. Professional School Counseling,12(2), 123-126. doi:10.5330/psc.n.2010-12.123
- Doolen, T. L., & Long, M. (2007). Identification of retention levers using a survey of engineering freshman attitudes at Oregon State University. European Journal of Engineering Education, 32(6), 721-734. doi:10.1080/03043790701520784
- Dowd, A. C., & Shieh, L. T. (2014). The implications of state fiscal policies for community colleges. New Directions for Community Colleges, 2014(168), 53-63. doi:10.1002/cc.20120

- Dubois, G. (1993). Hidden Characteristics of Effective Community College Teachers.

 *Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 17(5), 459-471.

 doi:10.1080/0361697930170506
- Eddy, P.L. (2010). New faculty issues: Fitting in and figuring it out. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 152: 15—24. 10.1002/cc432.
- Elliott, G., Kao, S., & Grant, A. (2004). Mattering: Empirical validation of a social-psychological concept. Self and Identity,3(4), 339-354.

 doi:10.1080/13576500444000119
- Engstrom, C., & Tinto, V. (2008). Access without support is not opportunity. Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 40(1), 46-50. doi:10.3200/chng.40.1.46-50
- Ethington, C. A. (2000). Influences of the normative environment of peer groups on community college students' perceptions of growth and development. Research in Higher Education,41(6), 703-722.
- Evenbeck, S. E. (2005). Faculty development and the first year. In B. Jackson (Ed.), Challenging and Supporting the First-Year Student: A Handbook for Improving the First Year of College (pp. 257-274). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Faye, H.R. & Ortquist-Ahrens, L. (2006) Entry-year teachers inside and outside of the academy. *College Teaching*, 54 (4), 320—323.
- Fike, D. S., & Fike, R. (2008). Predictors of first-year student retention in the community college. *Community College Review*, *36*(2), 68-88.

 doi:10.1177/0091552108320222

- Fuentes, M. V., Alvarado, A. R., Berdan, J., & Deangelo, L. (2013). Mentorship matters:

 Does early faculty contact lead to quality faculty interaction? *Research in Higher Education*, 55(3), 288-307. doi:10.1007/s11162-013-9307-6
- Gardella, L. G., Candales, B., & Ricardo-Rivera, J. (2005). Doors are not locked, just closed: Latino perspectives on college. Journal of College Student Retention,5(3), 39-51.
- Gazza, E. A. (2002). A short take on mentoring matters. Community College Enterprize, 14(2), 57-62.
- Glesne, C. (2016). Becoming qualitative researchers an introduction. Boston: Pearson.
- Goldrick-Rab, S. (2007). Promoting academic momentum at community colleges:

 Challenges and opportunities. New York: Columbia University, Teachers

 College, Community College Research Center.
- Goosen, R.A. & Gonzalez, G.F. (2014). Faculty advising to support student learning. Journal of Developmental Education, 38 (1), 20-24.
- Grant-Vallone, E., Reid, K., Umali, C., & Pohlert, E. (2003). An analysis of the effects of self-esteem, social support, and participation in student support services on students' adjustment and commitment to college. Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice,5(3), 255-274. doi:10.2190/c0t7-yx50-f71v-00cw
- Grubb, W. N., & Worthen, H. (1999). Honored but invisible: an inside look at teaching in community colleges. New York: Routledge.

- Habley, W. R., & Mcclanahan, R. (n.d.). What works in student retention?: Four-year public colleges. *PsycEXTRA* Dataset. doi:10.1037/e420552008-001
- Hamrick, F. A., & Stage, F. K. (2004). College predisposition at high-minority enrollment, low-income schools. The Review of Higher Education, 27(2), 151-168. doi:10.1353/rhe.2003.0058
- Hansen, M. J., Trujillo, D. J., Bouland, D. L., & MacKinnon, J. I. (2014). Overcoming obstacles and academic hope: An examination of factors promoting academic success strategies. Journal of College Student Retention, 16(1), 49-71. http://dx.doi.org/10.2190.CS316.1.c
- Haro, R. (2004). Programs and strategies to increase Latino students' educational attainment. Education and Urban Society,36(2), 205-222. doi:10.1177/0013124503261331
- Hayes-Burton, S. (2007). Mentoring in the community college. Journal of Urban Learning, 3, 57-70.
- Heflin, D.J. (2014) Gaining understanding of community college classroom engagements and cultural disparity from a faculty perspective through action research (Doctoral dissertation). Theses and Dissertations--Educational Policy Studies and Evaluation. 35.

 http://uknowledge.uky.edu/epe_etds/35
- Hermes, J. (2012). States trend toward performance funding. Community College Journal,82(4), 26-29.
- Hess, A.J. (2018, April 6). New study finds that 36% of college students don't have enough to eat. *CNBC.com*. Retrieved from https://cnbc.com/2018/04/06/.

- Hoffman, E. M. (2014). Faculty and student relationships: Context matters. College Teaching, 62(1), 13-19. doi:10.1080/87567555.2013.817379
- InCites Journal Citation Report (2016). Resource Citation Counter [Data File]. Retrieved from https://jcr-incites-thomsonreuters-com.ezproxy.uky.edu/JCRJournalHomeAction.action
- Jacobi, M. (1991). Mentoring and undergraduate academic success: A literature review. Review of Educational Research, 61(4), 505.
- Jacoby, B. (2000). Why Involve Commuter Students in Learning? *New Directions for Higher Education*, 2000(109), 3-12. doi:10.1002/he.10901
- Jacoby, B. (2015). Enhancing Commuter Student Success: What's Theory Got to Do With It? *New Directions for Student Services*, 2015(150), 3-12. doi:10.1002/ss.20122
- Jaswal, F., & Jaswal, T. M. (2008). Tiered mentoring to leverage student body expertise. New Directions for Community Colleges, 2008(144), 55-61. doi:10.1002/cc.345
- Jones, A. (2008). Preparing new faculty members for their teaching role. New Directions for Higher Education, (143), 93—101.
- Jones, W. A., & Braxton, J. M. (2009). Cataloging and Comparing Institutional Efforts to Increase Student Retention Rates. *Journal of College Student Retention:* Research, Theory & Practice, 11(1), 123-139. doi:10.2190/cs.11.1.g

- Karp, M. M., & Bork, R. H. (2014). They never told me what to expect, so I didn't know what to do: Defining and clarifying the role of a community college student. Teachers College Record, 116, 1-40.
- KCTCS Fact Book 2017. (n.d.). Retrieved April 16, 2017, from https://systemoffice.kctcs.edu/open_and_responsible/kctcs_factbook/fast_facts.as pxFast
- Khazanov, L. (2011). Mentoring at-risk students in remedial mathematics courses. Mathematics and Computer Education, 45(2), 106-118.
- Kinzie, J. (2005). *Promoting student success: What faculty members can do* (Occasional Paper No. 6) Bloomington, Indiana: Indiana University Center for Postsecondary Research.
- Kiyama, J. M., & Luca, S. G. (2014). Structured opportunities: Exploring the social and academic benefits for peer mentors in retention programs. Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 15(4), 489-514. doi:10.2190/cs.15.4.b
- Komarraju, M., Musulkin, S., & Bhattacharya, G. (2010). Role of student–faculty interactions in developing college students' academic self-concept, motivation, and achievement. *Journal of College Student Development*, *51*(3), 332-342. doi:10.1353/csd.0.0137
- Krathwohl, D. R., & Smith, N. L. (2005). How to prepare a dissertation proposal: suggestions for students in education and the social and behavioral sciences. Syracuse, NY: Syracuse University Press.

- Kuh, G. D., Gonyea, R. M., & Palmer, M. (2001). The disengaged commuter student: fact or fiction? *Commuter Perspectives*, 27 (1).
- Kuh, G. D., Kinzie, J., Schuh, J. H., & Whitt, E. J. (2005). Student success in college: Creating conditions that matter. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Lieff, S., Baker, L., Mori, B., Egan-Lee, E., Chin, K., & Reeves, S. (2012). Who am I?

 Key influences on the formation of academic identity within a faculty

 development program. Medical Teacher,34(3).

 doi:10.3109/0142159x.2012.642827
- Lester, J., Leonard, J. B., & Mathias, D. (2013). Transfer student engagement: Blurring of social and academic engagement. Community College Review,41(3), 202-222. doi:10.1177/0091552113496141
- Levin, J. S., Kater, S., & Wagoner, R. L. (2011). Community college faculty: at work in the new economy. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, a division of St. Martin's Press LLC.
- Lundberg, C. A. (2003). The influence of time-limitations, faculty, and peer relationships on adult student learning: A causal model. The Journal of Higher Education,74(6). 665-688.
- Lundberg, C. A. (2014). Peers and faculty as predictors of learning for community college students. *Community College Review*, 42(2), 79-98. doi:10.1177/0091552113517931
- Macfarlane, B. (2011). Professors as intellectual leaders: Formation, identity and role. Studies in Higher Education, 36(1), 57-73. doi:10.1080/03075070903443734

- Marofsky, M., & Johnston, A. (2001). Getting started with mentoring: A practical guide to setting up an inclusive mentoring program. Minneapolis, MN: ProGroup, Inc.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design: an interactive approach*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- McArthur, R. C. (2005). Faculty-based advising: An important factor in community college retention. *Community College Review*, 32(4), 1-18. doi:10.1177/009155210503200402
- McClenney, K. (2013). Community colleges: choosing change. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 45(4), 26-35. doi:10.1080/00091383.2013.806193
- McShannon, J., Hynes, P., Nirmalakhandan, N., Venkataramana, G., Ricketts, C., Ulery,
 A., & Steiner, R. (2006). Gaining retention and achievement for students
 program: A faculty development program. J. Prof. Issues Eng. Educ. *Pract*.
 Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice, 132(3),
 204-208. doi:10.1061/(asce)1052-3928(2006)132:3(204)
- Menges, R. J. (1999). Faculty in new jobs: a guide to settling in, becoming established, and building institutional support. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. (1983). Mentors and protégés: A critical review of the literature. Adult Education Quarterly,33(3), 161-173.
- Miller, A. A. (1997). Back to the Future: Preparing Community College Faculty for the New Millennium. *Community College Review*, 24(4), 83-92. doi:10.1177/009155219702400406

- Minor, F. (2007). Building effective peer mentor programs. Learning Communities & Educational Reform, 1-13.
- Mullin, C. M. (2012). Student Success. *Community College Review*, 40(2), 126-144. doi:10.1177/0091552112441501
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). Southcentral Kentucky Community and

 Technical College [Data file]. Retrieved from

 https://nces.ed.gov/collegenavigator/?q=southcentral+kentucky+community+and
 +technical+college&s=ky&zc=42101&zd=0&of=3&id=156338#finaid
- Nicpon, M., Huser, L., Blanks, E., Sollenberger, S., Befort, C., & Kurpius, S. R. (2006).

 The relationship of loneliness and social support with college freshmen's academic performance and persistence. Journal of College Student Retention:

 Research, Theory and Practice, 8(3), 345-358. doi:10.2190/a465-356m-7652-783r
- Nora, N.H. and Crisp, G. (2007). Mentoring students: Conceptualizing and validating the multi-dimensions of a support system. Journal of College Retention: research, Theory, and Practice, 9 (3), 337-356.
- Nomi, T. (2005). Faces of the future: A portrait of first generation community college students. Retrieved from The American Association of Community Colleges: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED493531.pdf.
- O'Keefe, P. (2013). A sense of belonging: Improving student retention. *College Student Journal*, 47 (4), 605-613.

- Outcalt, C. L. (2000). Community College Teaching-Toward Collegiality and Community. Community College Review,28(2), 57-70. doi:10.1177/009155210002800204
- Outcalt, C. L. (2002). Toward a professionalized community college professoriate. New Directions for Community Colleges, 2002(118), 109-116. doi:10.1002/cc.69
- Palmer, J. C. (2014). Concluding Thoughts. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 2014(168), 127-129. doi:10.1002/cc.20126
- Pascarella, E. T., Salisbury, M. H., & Blaich, C. (2011). Exposure to effective instruction and college student persistence: A multi-institutional replication and extension.

 Journal of College Student Development, 52(1), 4-19.

 doi:10.1353/csd.2011.0005
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1991). *How college affects students*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Payne, S. L. (2016). Art of asking questions. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Pres.
- Phelan, D. J. (2014). The clear and present funding crisis in community colleges. New Directions for Community Colleges, 2014(168), 5-16. doi:10.1002/cc.20116
- Plaskett, S., Bali, D., Nakkula, M.J., & Harris, J. (2018) Peer mentoring to support first-generation low-income college students. Phi Delta Kappan, 99 (7), 47-51. doi: 10.1177/0031721718767861
- Porchea, S. F., Allen, J., Robbins, S., & Phelps, R. P. (2010). Predictors of long-term enrollment and degree outcomes for community college students: Integrating

- academic psychosocial, socio-demographic, and situational factors. The Journal of Higher Education, 81(6), 680-708.
- Rayle, A. D. (2006). Mattering to Others: Implications for the Counseling Relationship. *Journal of Counseling & Development*,84(4), 483-487. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6678.2006.tb00432.x
- Rayle, A. D., & Chung, K. (2007). Revisiting First-Year College Students' Mattering: Social Support, Academic Stress, and the Mattering Experience. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 9(1), 21-37. doi:10.2190/x126-5606-4g36-8132
- Reason, R. D., & Kimball, E. W. (2012). A new theory-to-practice model for student affairs: Integrating scholarship, context, and reflection. Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice, 49(4), 359-376. doi:10.1515/jsarp-2012-6436
- Rendon, L. I. (1994, August). Beyond involvement: Creating validating academic and social communities in the community college. Paper presented at the American River Community College, Sacramento, CA.
- Rendon, L.I. (1994) Validating culturally diverse students: Toward a new model of learning and student development. Innovative Higher Education, 19 (1), 33—51.
- Rendon, L. I., & Romero, J., Jr. (1995, February). Validating student experience and promoting progress, performance, and persistence through assessment. Paper presented at the meeting of the National Center on Postsecondary Teaching, Learning and Assessment (NCTLA) Assessment Institute, Los Angeles, CA.

- Richmond, J. (1986). The importance of student involvement: A dialogue with Alexander Astin. Journal of Counseling & Development,65(2), 92-95. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.1986.tb01240.x
- Rivera, V; Sarte, M.; Wiggam, A. & Frauwirth, S. (2013). Student orientation: An occupation-based peer mentoring program for first-generation college students.

 OT Practice, 18 (19) 15—19.
- Roberts, A. (2000). Mentoring revisited: A phenomenological reading of the literature. Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning,8(2), 145-170. doi:10.1080/713685524
- Roberts, J. & Styron Jr., R. (2010). Student satisfaction and persistence: Factors vital to student retention. *Research in Higher Education Journal*, 6, 15-29
- Rosenberg, M., & McCullough, B. C. (1981). Mattering: Inferred significance and mental health among adolescents. Research in Community and Mental Health, 2, 163-182.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2016). *Qualitative interviewing: the art of hearing data*. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Ryan, M. P., & Glenn, P. A. (2004). What do first-year students need most: Learning strategies instruction or academic socialization? Journal of College Reading and Learning, 34(2), 4-28. doi:10.1080/10790195.2004.10850159
- Schlossberg, N. K. (1989). Marginality and mattering: Key issues in building community.

 New Directions for Student Services, 1989(48), 5-15.

 doi:10.1002/ss.37119894803

- Schlossberg, N. K., Lynch, A. Q., & Chickering, A. L. (1991). Improving higher education environments for adults: responsive programs and services from entry to departure. San Francisco, CA: : Jossey-Bass.
- Seidman, I. (1985). In the words of the faculty: perspectives on improving teaching and educational quality in community colleges. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Seidman, I. (2013). Interviewing as qualitative research: a guide for researchers in education and the social sciences. New York: Teachers College.
- Shelly, L. (2014). "You can't get anywhere without relationships": Marginality and mattering in the writing center. *Writing Lab Newsletter*, 39(3), 1. Retrieved April 03, 2017.
- Shelton, E.N. (2003). Faculty support and student retention. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 42 (2), 68—76.
- Smith, C. L., & Allen, J. M. (2014). Does contact with advisors predict judgments and attitudes consistent with student success? A multi-institutional study. NACADA Journal,34(1), 50-63. doi:10.12930/nacada-13-019
- Spalding, A. (2017, February 20). Questions and Answers on Performance Funding for Higher Education. Retrieved June 09, 2017, from http://kypolicy.org/questions-answers-performance-funding-higher-education/
- Sorcinelli, M.D. (2007). Faculty development: The challenge going forward. Peer Review, 9 (4), 4—8.

- Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College. (November 2016). Strategic Plan: 2016-2017 Strategic Plan. Retrieved from https://southcentral.kctcs.edu/media/about/pdf/strategic-plan.pdf
- Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College. (August 2015). Student

 Ambassadors. Retrieved from

 https://southcentral.kctcs.edu/student_life/student_ambassadors/
- Stevenson, J. M., Buchanan, D. A., & Sharpe, A. (2006). Commentary: The pivotal role of the faculty in propelling student persistence and progress toward degree completion. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory and Practice*, 8(2), 141-148. doi:10.2190/1xpy-hut3-1w8l-dcdu
- Summers, M. D. (2003). Attrition research at community colleges. Community College Review, 30(4), 64-84. doi:10.1177/009155210303000404
- Thirolf, K.Q. (2015). Community college faculty identities. (Doctoral dissertation)

 Retrieved from Deep Blue. (2015-05-14T16:25:12Z)
- Thompson, M. D. (2001). Informal Student-Faculty Interaction: Its Relationship to Educational Gains in Science and Mathematics Among Community College Students. *Community College Review*, 29(1), 35-57. doi:10.1177/009155210102900103
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent research. Review of Educational Research,45(1), 89-125.

 doi:10.3102/00346543045001089

- Tinto, V. (1997). Classrooms as communities: Exploring the educational character of student persistence. *The Journal of Higher Education*, *68*(6), 599. doi:10.2307/2959965
- Tinto, V. (2012). Enhancing student success: Taking the classroom success seriously. *The International Journal of the First Year in Higher Education Int J FYHE*, *3*(1). doi:10.5204/intjfyhe.v3i1.119
- Tovar, E. (2014). The role of faculty, counselors, and support programs on Latino/a community college students' success and intent to persist. Community College Review,43(1), 46-71. doi:10.1177/0091552114553788
- Turner, P. & Thompson, E. (2014). College retention initiatives meeting the needs of millennial freshman students. College Student Journal, 48 (1), 94-104.
- Undergraduate research peer mentors help build community. (2015, July 27). *States News Service*.
- Valencia, A. (2007). Fulfilling the university promise: Enriching the art of mentoring with counseling methods and empirical evidence. Journal of the Association of Mexican American Educators, 14-25.
- Van Ast, J., & Field, D. W. (2005). Reflections of community-college students regarding mentee/instructor teaching and learning effectiveness. Community College Journal of Research and Practice,29(3), 173-189.

 doi:10.1080/10668920590524076

- Wallace, D., Abel, R., & Ropers-Huilman, B. (2000). Clearing a path for success: deconstructing borders through undergraduate mentoring. The Review of Higher Education,24(1), 87-102. doi:10.1353/rhe.2000.0026
- Williamson, L. V., Goosen, R. A., & Gonzalez Jr., G. F. (2014). Faculty advising to support student learning. Journal of Developmental Education, 38(1), 20-24.
- Williamson, L. V., Upcraft, M. L., Gardner, J. N., & Barefoot, B. O. (2005). Challenging and supporting the first-year student: A handbook for improving the first year of college. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Wyner, J. S. (2014). What excellent community colleges do: preparing all students for success. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

Education

Master of Education, College of Education, University of North Texas, 2011 Concentration: Higher Education

Bachelor of Applied Arts and Science, University of North Texas, 2009

Associate of Arts, Richland College, Dallas, Texas 2007

Professional Positions

Assistant Vice President for Student Services, Volunteer State Community College, Gallatin, Tennessee, April 2019 to present.

Director of Student Life and Engagement, Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College, Bowling Green, Kentucky, August 2014 to April 2019.

Specialist IV, Coordinator of QEP- Year One Engagement, Eastfield College, Dallas, Texas, April 2013 to August 2014.

Interim Dean of Student Engagement and Retention, Eastfield College, Dallas, Texas, August 2013 to January 2014.

Professional Support Staff President, Dallas County Community College District and Richland College, Dallas, Texas, September 2007 to August 2013.

Coordinator of Community Engagement Programs, Richland College, Dallas, Texas, August 2012 to March 2013.

Administrative Assistant to the Instructional Dean, Richland College, Dallas, Texas, June 2006 to July 2012.

Academic Advisor, Richland College, Dallas, Texas, July 2009 to September 2010.

Adjunct Instructor for Year One Engage, Eastfield College, Dallas, Texas, April 2013 to August 2014.

Adjunct Instructor for Continuing Education and Workforce Development, Richland College, Dallas, Texas, May 2007 to May 2008.

Professional Development Instructor for Intercultural Competency, Richland College, Dallas Texas, September 2010 to August 2013

Scholastic and Professional Honors

Graduate of the McCall Leadership Academy for Kentucky Community and Technical College System, 2015.

Administrator of the Year for Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College, 2015.

John & Suanne Rouche Excellence Award Recipient from League for Innovation, 2015.

Publications

- Neal, P., Napoles, G.F., McCaslin, J., Justice, B., White, D., Barron, K. (2014). Reaching the TOP: Southcentral Kentucky Community and Technical College and Western Kentucky University's joint admission program. *Kentucky Transfer Monograph: Beyond the Glass*. Kentucky Community and Technical College System.
- Neal, P., Justice, B., Barron, K. (2019). How Ethical Leadership Impacts Student Success. *New Directions in Community Colleges*.